#### University of Louisville

## ThinkIR: The University of Louisville's Institutional Repository

**Electronic Theses and Dissertations** 

12-2020

## Positive parenting as a moderator for reducing depression in inner-city children exposed to contextual risk factors? A longitudinal multilevel analysis of a family-based intervention program.

Donghang Zhang University of Louisville

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.library.louisville.edu/etd

Part of the Social Work Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Zhang, Donghang, "Positive parenting as a moderator for reducing depression in inner-city children exposed to contextual risk factors? A longitudinal multilevel analysis of a family-based intervention program." (2020). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations.* Paper 3547. https://doi.org/10.18297/etd/3547

This Doctoral Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by ThinkIR: The University of Louisville's Institutional Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of ThinkIR: The University of Louisville's Institutional Repository. This title appears here courtesy of the author, who has retained all other copyrights. For more information, please contact thinkir@louisville.edu.

# POSITIVE PARENTING AS A MODERATOR FOR REDUCING DEPRESSION IN INNER-CITY CHILDREN EXPOSED TO CONTEXTUAL RISK FACTORS? A LONGITUDINAL MULTILEVEL ANALYSIS OF A FAMILY-BASED

#### INTERVENTION PROGRAM

By Donghang Zhang B.S.W., Capital Normal University, China, 2005 M.A., The Chinese University of Hong Kong, China, 2010 M.S.S.W., University of Louisville, U.S., 2020

A Dissertation Submitted to the Faculty of the Raymond A. Kent School of Social Work of the University of Louisville in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

> Doctor of Philosophy in Social Work

Kent School of Social Work University of Louisville Louisville, Kentucky

December 2020

Copyright 2020 by Donghang Zhang

All rights reserved

# POSITIVE PARENTING AS A MODERATOR FOR REDUCING DEPRESSION IN INNER-CITY CHILDREN EXPOSED TO CONTEXTUAL RISK FACTORS? A LONGITUDINAL MULTILEVEL ANALYSIS OF A FAMILY-BASED

#### INTERVENTION PROGRAM

By

Donghang Zhang B.S.W., Capital Normal University, China, 2005 M.A., The Chinese University of Hong Kong, China, 2010 M.S.S.W., University of Louisville, U.S., 2020

A Dissertation Approved on

August 26, 2020

by the following Dissertation Committee:

Bibhuti K. Sar

Emma M. Sterrett-Hong

Adrian J. Archuleta

Sunshine M. Rote

Christopher W. Flaherty

### DEDICATION

This dissertation is dedicated to Mom and Dad,

Meixia Liu and Guoping Zhang.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

It has been a long journey from July 6, 2015 to August 11, 2020 during which I have spent five years working on my Ph.D. study. In mid-2018, I started a winding road to get to this dissertation while working on my MSSW-CFT program. I felt overwhelmed, challenged, and exhausted, but I was not alone, and support and guidance I received from my family, professors, and friends made the whole journey possible. Without their support, I would never have made it.

My mom, Meixia Liu and dad, Guoping Zhang cared about my health and always offered continuous support and love during this long journey. When I needed help, my sisters always shared their resources with me. Whenever I asked for a favor, my partner always offered help without any reservation. Much appreciation to my two female friends, Qiuli Hao and Yueyun Zhang, who showed their encouragement and inspired me to continue when I hit my rock bottom.

The spread of the Covid-19 has brought uncertainties and challenges to people around the world. Due to the dwindling frequency of social participation, the senses of isolation and depression haunted me as well. Gratitude to my friends in the U.S, Tianhong Yao, Danming Wei, Betty Qin, Li Suo and my kind roommates, who provided me with spiritual and food assistance so that I could enjoy talking in Chinese and delicious Chinese food in a completely foreign country. I want to extend my appreciation to my friends in China, Dr. Zhansheng Ai, Jack Jiang, Qiuping Wu, Tingxian Wu and others whom I have not named individually. They always empower me.

iv

There are so many professionals who have helped along the way. Gratitude to my writing teacher, MS Amanda S. Forsting, who spent her valuable time guiding my academic writing. As an editor, Amanda not only made me better, but as a friend, she shared with me her bright life. My master and doctorate instructors taught me clinical skills, research knowledge, and confidence to be a clinician and researcher. I am also eternally grateful to my doctorate and master cohort classmates, especially Jennifer Ballard-Kang. Much appreciation to the Doctoral program coordinators, Norma Kyriss and Christine Payne, for administrative help throughout the long journey and to the members of my dissertation committee for sharing their expertise.

I especially want to thank my dissertation chair and mentor, Dr. Bibhuti K. Sar, for his immeasurable support. Dr. Sar offered his infinite generosity and unrelenting encouragement that enabled me to complete my Ph.D. and MSSW-CFT programs. He offered me the opportunity to grow as a researcher and taught me how to strive for excellence in research. None of this would have been possible without the mentorship of Dr. Emma M. Sterrett-Hong, who has witnessed my "ups and downs' of my research journey in the past two years. She offered tireless support for my research and CFT practice and showed me how to be a valuable mentor and trusted colleague. I am grateful for her feedback on most of my research work as it held me to conduct high-impact research with the high standards of academic excellence. I am grateful for each amazing committee member. I appreciate Dr. Sunshine M. Rote to be my teaching mentor and sharing her teaching experience and statistical knowledge. I appreciate Dr. Adrian J. Archuleta's priceless support for my early research journey, instilling in me the research knowledge and offering me an opportunity to learn to be a researcher of excellence. His generous sharing of theory building knowledge made it possible for me to build my dissertation theoretical framework. I would also like to

V

thank Dr. Christopher W. Flaherty for his availability for serving on my dissertation committee.

Lastly, my dissertation research used data from the Schools and Families Educating (SAFE) Children Study [Chicago, IL]: 1997-2008 (ICPSR 34368). I appreciate principal investigators who published this database in public so I could develop my research ideas and complete my dissertation.

#### ABSTRACT

# POSITIVE PARENTING AS A MODERATOR FOR REDUCING DEPRESSION IN INNER-CITY CHILDREN EXPOSED TO CONTEXTUAL RISK FACTORS? A LONGITUDINAL MULTILEVEL ANALYSIS OF A FAMILY-BASED INTERVENTION PROGRAM

**Donghang Zhang** 

August 26, 2020

Depression in inner-city children is a serious social problem. Given the existing evidence supporting the links among neighborhood conditions, family functioning, parenting, and child outcome, this study expands the examination of the relationship among contextual factors and child depression from a longitudinal developmental perspective. This study also aims to examine how positive parenting as a protective factor moderates the effect of contextual risk factors on child depression in a sample of low-income, inner-city families.

This present study used the secondary data from the Schools and Families Educating (SAFE) Children study (aka SAFE Children Project) with is a longitudinal panel study with randomized controlled trial of a family-based preventive intervention on children from Chicago's inner-city neighborhoods. This project started in 1997 with 424 first-grade students and their primary caregivers receiving the intervention treatment or being assigned to control group. Subsamples for this present study were selected from waves 1 to 9 datasets, including related instruments and demographic information. The selected sample at Wave 1 consisted of 47.6% Mexican American children (n=201), 42.5% African American children (41), and 9.7% other Hispanic or Anglo-White American children (n=41). Out of 49% were male children, while 51% were female children. Two studies were conducted using the SAFE Children project dataset. The first study focused on exploring the effects of major study variables on child depression using wave 1 through wave 5 datasets of the SAFE Children project. The second study focused on exploring the effects on child depression of major study variables using Wave 6 to Wave 9 datasets.

This dissertation has employed the multilevel analysis to examine predictors of children's depression using parental reports. The finding has indicated that the developmental trajectory of child depression is not linear, as evidenced by a significant negative quadratic effect from wave 1 to 5, but the trajectory decreased from wave 6 to 9. No difference was found between treatment status and child depression in Study one, but in Study two, the booster group showed lower levels of depression than the treatment and control groups. Across the nine waves, increases in parental depression were found to contribute to the development of children's depression. Higher levels of positive parenting led to lower depressive symptoms in children age 6-8 but seemed to be an emerging trend in association with decreased levels of child depression in children age 9-12. Results of this dissertation study did not confirm that positive parenting buffered the effects on child depression of contextual risk factors, including low family cohesion communication, negative school climate, and negative neighborhood conditions over the years. Lastly, implications for future practice, policy, and research are discussed.

*Keywords:* child depression, positive parenting, parental depression, family risk, inner-city neighborhoods, longitudinal multilevel analysis

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDICATIONIII
ACKNOWLEDGMENTSIV
ABSTRACTVII
LIST OF TABLESXII
LIST OF FIGURESXIII
CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION1
CHILDREN IN INNER-CITIES: LIVED EXPERIENCES1
STATEMENT OF THE PROBLEM
THEORETICAL PERSPECTIVES ON UNDERSTANDING DEPRESSION IN INNER-CITY
CHILDREN
Stress Theory
Resilience Theory
Parenting Theories9
Family Systems Theory11
Ecological Theory14
Summary15
GAPS IN KNOWLEDGE16
SCOPE OF THE STUDY19
DEFINITION OF TERMS
THE SIGNIFICANCE OF THE STUDY
RELEVANCE TO SOCIAL WORK

CHAPTER II: LITERATURE REVIEW
SEARCH METHODS23
Research on Inner-City Children24
SAFE CHILDREN PROJECT FINDINGS
DRIVERS OF DEPRESSION IN INNER-CITY CHILDREN
Neighborhood Conditions and Depression
School Climate and Depression
Family Risk Factors and Depression
Parenting as a Buffer
PURPOSE OF THIS STUDY
RESEARCH QUESTIONS AND HYPOTHESES
SUMMARY
CHAPTER III: METHODS
SAFE CHILDREN PROJECT
RESEARCH DESIGN41
PARTICIPANTS
DATA COLLECTION
VARIABLES AND MEASURES45
Time-Varying Variables
Time-Invariant Variables50
DATA ANALYSIS
CHAPTER IV: RESULTS
STUDY ONE RESULTS

Study Two Results	64
CHAPTER V: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS	70
Strengths and Limitations	
Implications for Practice	
Implications for Future Research	
Conclusion	
REFERENCES	
APPENDIX A	
QUESTIONNAIRES AND SCALES USED	
APPENDIX B	116
CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW TABLES	
APPENDIX C	
Chapter 3 Tables	
APPENDIX D	
CHAPTER 4 TABLES AND FIGURES	134
APPENDIX E	147
THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK	147
CURRICULUM VITA	148

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 2. 1 Empirical Studies of Inner-City Children 116
Table 2. 2 Intervention Studies of Inner-City Children 125
Table 2. 3 Summary of Characteristics Targetting Inner-City Children
Table 2. 4 SAFE Children Program Research Outcomes 131
Table 2. 5 Summary of characteristics Of SAFE Children Project Studies
Table 3. 1 Data Points with Key Variables Used in Data Analysis 133
Table 4.1. 1 Demographics of the Sample at Waves 1-5
Table 4.1. 2 Bivariate Correlation at Waves 1-5 135
Table 4.1. 3 Time and Treatment Effects of Multilevel Analysis at Waves 1-5136
Table 4.1. 4 Multilevel Analysis of Predictors of Depression at Wave 1-5137
Table 4.2. 1 Demographics of the Sample at Waves 6-9
Table 4.2. 2 Bivariate Correlation at Waves 6-9 142
Table 4.2. 3 Time and Treatment Effects of Multilevel Analysis at Waves 6-9 143
Table 4.2. 4 Multilevel Analysis of Predictors of Depression at Wave 6-9144

### LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Process Model of Exploring the Determinants of Depression in Children.147
Figure 4.1. 1. Child Depression and Predictors Change at Waves 1 to 5
Figure 4.1. 2. Mean Child Depression for Treatment Status at Waves 1 to 5
Figure 4.1. 3 Individual Linear Depression Growth Trajectories & Linear Average
Depression Growth Trend at Wave 1 to 5
Figure 4.2. 1. Child Depression and Predictors Change at Waves 6 to 9
Figure 4.2. 2. Mean Child Depression for Treatment Status at Waves 6 to 9

#### **CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION**

#### **Children in Inner-Cities: Lived Experiences**

Inner-city neighborhoods have been depicted as "islands of risk and despair" (Fitzpatrick & LaGory, 2000, p. 121). This particular area in every city has become the region's highest concentration of non-White Americans, since the segregation policies were implemented to "keep social harmony or balance in the whole community" (Rothstein, 2017, p. 6). The governments purposely adopted the public housing policy to "herd African-Americans into urban ghettos, which had a big influence as any in the creation of the de jure system of segregation" (Rothstein, 2017, p. 17). The red-lining policy was also implemented to facilitate racial and class-based segregation by refusing to insure mortgages to people living near African-American neighborhoods (Rothstein, 2017). Thus, the increased population density was populated to concentrate non-White American neighborhoods into slums. Racial residential segregation has become a leading cause of the racial difference in socioeconomic status and racial disparities in health (Williams & Collins, 2016).

Wilson (2012) described the inner-city neighborhood composing of impoverished families, high crime rates, a high concentration of public housing, and high proliferation of single-parent families. Inner-city neighborhoods are plagued by high rates of school dropout and crime, teenage pregnancy, individual/family poverty, low rates of homeownership and business investment, social exclusion, and disproportionate rates of multiple social problems (Brody et al., 2001; Fowler et al., 2014; Ross & Mirowsky, 2001; Wilson, 2012). Such poverty, crime, minority/social discrimination, and incarceration worsen or limit the life chances of vulnerable and

fragile individuals living in inner-city neighborhoods. People living in these neighborhoods may be limited by education and employment opportunities (Williams & Collins, 2016).

These complicated neighborhood conditions can impact child development outcomes. Studies indicate children<sup>1</sup> living in inner-city neighborhoods are more vulnerable than adults to environmental risks (Kohen et al., 2008; Osofsky, 1995; Wortley et al., 2008). They are inclined to experience enhanced levels of poverty, substance abuse, and criminal activities (Fitzpatrick et al., 2005), as well as face greater exposure to the potential risk of community violence and experience serious behavioral or mental health problems (Attar et al., 1994; Kohen et al., 2008; Milam et al., 2010; Shaw et al., 2003). These conditions and circumstances may increase the severity of stress. Witten et al. (2015) interviewed 40 inner-city children aged 9-12 years, showing that many children described distress and discomfort as they faced homelessness, drunkenness, and signs of the sex industry. These findings also have been observed in international contexts. A study of 445 youth who participated in Youth Outreach Centers in precarious neighborhoods across EI Salvador indicated that the majority of youth reported feeling unsafe where they live and 61% reported having at least one murder occurred in their precarious neighborhoods (Roth & Hartnett, 2018).

#### **Statement of the Problem**

Depression in children is a serious public mental health issue in the U.S. (Lu et al., 2017; Wagstaff & Polo, 2012). It is primarily characterized by depressed moods, diminished interest or pleasure in activities, weight changes, sleeping issues, psychomotor retardation or slowing of physical movement, fatigue or lack of energy,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The author uses the term "children" to include youth or adolescents.

feelings of worthlessness, feelings of inappropriate guilt, difficulty in concentrating, a preoccupation with death, irritability, and complaints (APA, 2013; Merrell, 2013).

The Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA) reported that nearly 3.2 million adolescents age 12-17 (about 13.3% of this age sector population) had a major depressive episode (MDE) in the past year, and nearly 2.3 million adolescents (about 9.4% of this age sector population) had a past year MDE with severe impairment (Ahrnsbrak et al., 2017). Adolescents who had a past MDE with severe impairment occupied 70.7% of adolescents who had a past year MDE (Ahrnsbrak et al., 2017).

Limited data exist about rates of depression among inner-city children specifically. In a national survey of Children's Health, 3.6% of the children aged 3-17 years living in the Metropolitan principal city were currently diagnosed with depression (Ghandour et al., 2019). Regarding issues of depression in inner-city children, Ofonedu et al. (2013) interviewed 10 African American youth aged 13-17 years living in inner-city neighborhoods, and they described depression as a part of life.

Children with depression often are diagnosed with another mental disorder. About 3 out of 4 children aged 3-17 with depression also have anxiety (73.8%) and behavioral problems (47.2%) (Ghandour et al., 2019). Based on parental reports, lifetime diagnosis of either depression or anxiety among children aged 6-17 increased from 5.4% in 2003 to 8.4% between 2011-2012 (Bitsko et al., 2018). Overall, depression in childhood is a known indicator of mental health problems in adulthood (Hari, 2017).

Risk factors associated with depression, among inner-city children, include poverty, low parental support, chaotic community environments, and macro-/micro-

aggression and discrimination (Anakwenze & Zuberi, 2013; Clark-Lempers et al., 1990; Comas-Díaz, 2016; McLoyd, 1990). Researchers have found that exposure to environmental risk factors and inadequate family support is linked with depression in inner-city children (Krenichyn et al., 2001; Vazsonyi et al., 2006; Youngstrom et al., 2003). Low parental involvement with children's life may also be a risk factor for child depression. Marion (2017) focused on examining a pattern of low parental involvement in an inner-city school by interviewing five elementary school parents, five teachers and the school principal. Findings revealed ineffective home-school communication and a lack of shared meaning regarding parental educational involvement between parents and teachers. Poverty is also a leading factor affecting mental health of children (Anakwenze & Zuberi, 2013). The prevalence of depression is unevenly distributed across different socioeconomic status (SES) (Gilman et al., 2002). People with lower SES levels are inclined to be at a higher risk for mental illness (Gilman et al., 2002; Hudson, 2005).

Despite the increasing number of depressed children residing in an inner-city neighborhood, the use of mental health services remains low. Appropriately 1 out of 4 children with mental illness receive help in the U.S. (Hari, 2017). Ahrnsbrak et al. (2017) have noted an increasing trend in the number of youths with depression; approximately 58.5% of adolescents (an estimated 2.1 million) with an MDE in the past year, and 52.5% of youths (an estimated 1.2 million) with an MDE in the past year with severe impairment did not receive treatment in 2017. Children with untreated depression may have serious sequela, such as the increased likelihood of hospitalization (Bardach et al., 2014), depression recurrence in adulthood (Naicker et al., 2013), risk-taking behaviors (e.g., crime) (Anderson et al., 2015), substance abuse (Pang et al., 2014), and other mental disorders (e.g., comorbid with anxiety)

(Anakwenze & Zuberi, 2013; Fleming & Offord, 1990). Depression is a vital risk factor for suicide in children and youth. Clinical evidence has demonstrated that depressed adolescents are more likely six times to attempt suicide than those who had no depressive symptoms (Nock et al., 2013).

#### **Theoretical Perspectives on Understanding Depression in Inner-city Children**

The concurrent and prospective risks related to depression among children living in inner-city neighborhoods are connected with family, school, and community factors. Understanding these factors involved in the development of children's psychological difficulties is essential for identifying effective intervention mechanisms. Five foundational theories for interpreting children's behaviors – stress theory, family systems theory, parenting theory, and ecological theory – are discussed here for foundational understandings of the relationship between family, school, and community factors and depression in children.

#### **Stress Theory**

Stress is deemed as "the perception of threat, with resulting anxiety discomfort, emotional tension, and difficulty in adjustment" (Selye, 2013, p. 208). Stress is a physical and psychological reaction to a change that requires an adjustment through self-healing or accessing support from external systems. It results from a given situation, stimulus, or stressors. For inner-city children, such stress situations or stimuli include exposure to violence (Aisenberg & Herrenkohl, 2008; Youngstrom et al., 2003), low socioeconomic status (Assari, 2017; Letourneau et al., 2013), high-risk behaviors in families (Talati et al., 2013), poor academic performance (Tizard et al., 2017; Tolan et al., 2004), social discrimination (Comas-Díaz, 2016; Russell et al., 2018), and adverse school climate (Shim-Pelayo & De Pedro, 2018), among others.

When several stressors co-exist, they may cause stress exposure or stress symptoms (Assari, 2017; Ofonedu et al., 2013).

Children living in inner-city neighborhoods may struggle with various issues that are particularly unique to people of color. McIntyre (2000) has described that many inner-city youths face various forms of discrimination, social isolation, and living instability. Ofonedu et al. (2013, pp. 96-106) revealed that inner-city African-American youth described being depressed as "being dead while still alive," "being in the dark," "endless body and emotional pains," which affected their whole being, thoughts, and emotions. They reported that adverse life events and experiences caused them to view their environment as painful, threatening, distressing, and unmanageable. They reported feelings of unremitting sadness, extreme weariness and boredom, loss of hope, power and self-worth, erratic emotional states, helpless, anger, and guilt. In addition, they mentioned stressful home life and experience and high levels of violent community crimes, which heightened their emotional distress and then caused their depression. Children showed the resilience to cope with being depressed and attempted to protect themselves from fragile contextual environments and emotional pains. They admitted the increased need for emotional support from family, friends, and teachers.

#### **Resilience Theory**

Traumatic experiences may not inevitably cause damage to individuals who are stuck in adverse situations, and risk factors may not necessarily lead to psychological disorders in more than half of children exposed (Rutter, 1987). Walsh (2003) presented a family resilience framework, proposing that individuals with the same adversity may have different outcomes. Individuals exposed to high-risk

conditions, such as violence and poverty that are disproportionately prevalent in inner-city communities, can lead productive lives (Walsh, 2003).

Resilience refers to the "process of, capacity for, or outcome of successful adaptation to adverse situations despite challenging or threatening circumstances" (Masten et al., 1990, p. 426). Individuals with resilience can address stress and overcome adversity (Walsh, 2012). A study examining the effects of resilience on the likelihood of having a diagnosis of post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) in an innercity sample of primary care patients (n = 767) indicated that resilience was robustly associated with a reduced likelihood of PTSD (Wrenn et al., 2011). Resilience informs the risk, vulnerability, and protective factors relative to outcomes that account for resilience in the adversity (Cowan et al., 1996). Risk factors predispose individuals to adverse outcomes (Cowan et al., 1996), and vulnerability factors increased the likelihood of adverse outcomes (Luthar & Zelazo, 2003). However, protective factors, such as family bonding and teachers' and social support, increase children's resilience (Tiet et al., 2010), and moderate the impact of risk factors buffering against poor outcomes (Rutter, 2012). Among those protective factors, parenting has been proved to promote the resilience of children and adolescents (Sandler et al., 2015). For example, acceptance-involvement is a parenting tactic, referring to those parents who are warm, firm, involved, and sensitive to their children's needs (Jaffe, 1998). Zakeri et al. (2010) found that acceptance-involvement parenting was predictive of improving resilience in children, while psychological autonomy-granting and behavioral strictness-supervision styles did not significantly predict the increase of resilience.

Children with high resilience can survive amid adversity, such as those experiencing family dysfunction or exposure to community violence within the

complicated inner-city neighborhoods, as well as move forward with optimism and confidence (Ginsburg & Jablow, 2005). Those children may develop successful coping strategies - tolerating frustration, exhibiting a positive attitude, and then seeking social support for problem-solving (Machmutow et al., 2012; Smith & Carlson, 1997). Coping may protect children against emotional anxiety and distress for controllable stressors and reduce the effect of uncontrollable stressors (Edlynn et al., 2008; Kuo, 2001).

However, resilience is not an all-or-none phenomenon (Luthar, 1993). Children experiencing high levels of stress who seemed resilient in some domains of social competence might have difficulties in other areas and might be highly vulnerable to emotional distress over time (Luthar et al., 1993). The adoption of different coping strategies may differentiate children with different emotional experiences. In a study involving 240 inner-city, African American adolescents, findings indicated the approach coping method was not linked to anxiety (Edlynn et al., 2008) and the avoidant coping served as a protective pattern. Specifically, those children who used more avoidant coping remained stable in levels of anxiety over time, and those who used less avoidant coping reported anxiety that increased over time. They might avoid sharing their inner thoughts openly with parents, teachers, or other people, and use avoidant coping methods when addressing their psychological difficulties. Whereas, as violence exposure increased, the use of avoidant or hopeless coping was related to increases in depression symptoms in children (Machmutow et al., 2012; Seiffge-Krenke & Klessinger, 2000; Young & Limbers, 2017). Contextual risk factors have placed inner-city children at risk during the transition from childhood to adults in inner-city neighborhoods, and hopeless coping may further lead to an increase of depression. Protective factors, such as parental support, may

contribute to enhancing children's resilience. In this way, it is of interest to know how positive parenting as a protective factor can moderate the effects of risk factors and vulnerability on adverse outcomes (e.g., depression) in inner-city children.

#### **Parenting Theories**

Parenting refers to parental interactions with a child using warmth, rejection, structure, chaos, autonomy support, and coercion (Skinner et al., 2005). Since the 1930s, researchers have investigated how individual differences in parenting practice affect child development (Power, 2013). Earlier studies identified two dimensions of parenting on the quality of parent-child interaction, including (A) parental acceptance, warmth, or support, and (B) parental control or discipline (Power, 2013). In the 1960s, research continued to expand the range of parenting characteristics, including cognitive stimulation, scaffolding, monitoring, and family rituals (Power, 2013). In the mid-1960s, research shifted the focus on parenting style as first identified by Baumrind (Power, 2013). In terms of two orthogonal dimensions of warmth (responsiveness) and control (demandingness), Baumrind described three styles of parenting associated with three patterns of child behavior, which corresponded to high or low values on the warmth and/or control dimensions (Maccoby et al., 1983). The authoritative parenting style - high levels of both warmth and control - is related to assertive, self-reliant child behavior (Baumrind, 1966, 1967; Baumrind et al., 2010). The authoritarian style is characterized by low warmth and high control and is associated with discontented, withdrawn child behavior. The permissive or indulgent style encompasses high warmth and low control, which is associated with low selfcontrol and low self-reliance in children. Based on these three parenting styles, Maccoby et al. (1983) added uninvolved parenting as the fourth parenting style that characterizes low levels of both warmth and control, which is similar to the or

rejecting-neglecting style that Baumrind (1971) identified. Among these styles, authoritarian parenting, including parenting intrusiveness, guilt induction, and love withdrawal, predicts the high severity of internalizing and externalizing problems (Barber et al., 2005; Lansford et al., 2014). Differently, parents with authoritative parenting style show high levels of warmth and emotional responsiveness, respect and encouragement for autonomy, and inductive discipline through reasoning to explain parents' actions, which is considered most appropriate for promoting children's development among these four parenting styles (Baumrind, 1967; Chao, 2001; Piko & Balázs, 2012; Pinquart, 2017).

Positive parenting refers to high levels of observed warmth and support and effective behavior control (Schofield et al., 2014), which is similar to authoritative parenting. Positive parenting has been studied and found to facilitate children's positive behavior, social adjustment, and academic success (De Graaf et al., 2008; Eisenberg et al., 2005; Sanders, 1999; Waller et al., 2012), as compared to coercive (or harsh or detrimental) parenting. Researchers identified positive parenting practices as offering support for children's positive behavior, being actively involved in child education, adopting proactive parenting and non-coercive discipline, setting clear expectations, and using incentives and positive reinforcement (Frick et al., 1999; Smith et al., 2015; Waller et al., 2012). With the use of positive parenting, parents adopt mutual respect and non-coercive methods of encouraging compliance (Smith et al., 2015).

Based on the childrearing goals and needs, Grusec and Davidov (2015) described five domains of parenting that promote socialization in children, including child protection, parent control, guided learning, group participation, and reciprocity of others' behaviors. Trust and supportive relationships facilitate children's perceived

obligations of disclosure to parents. Psychological control, meaning that parents attempt to control their child's emotional state, predicted more disclosure but less secrecy (Smetana et al., 2006) and children's aggressive behaviors (Murray et al., 2014).

In summary, if inner-city parents are offered support to become mindful and supportive in parenting, this change of parenting behavior may result in improvements in parent-child interactions and increasing parent-child trust (Gorman-Smith et al., 1996; Tolan & McKay, 1996; Vazsonyi et al., 2006). Furthermore, effective parenting as a protective factor may play a determinant role in enhancing active coping, thus reducing depression among inner-city children. Warm, positive, and supportive parenting may replenish the deficit incurred by contextual risk factors, even if the deficit reoccurs, as well as prevent inner-city children from reaching the threshold for depression.

#### **Family Systems Theory**

Family system theory has its origins in system theory. Systems theory, developed in the 1940s by Gregory Bateson, is commonly used to explain behaviors of groups of people. This theory focuses on analyzing social phenomena (Payne, 2014). According to Ludwig von Bertalanffy, a system is "any entity maintained by the mutual interaction of its parts" (Davidson & Harris, 1983, p. 26). For example, an individual is a system, including body, elements, and mind, and can be part of a more extensive system when interacting with other relevant systems. The wholeness within the system is greater than the sum of its parts (Nichols & Davis, 2016). Systems theory asserts that the property of a system arises from the relationships among its components and emphasizes the interconnections of individuals' intra-system with other systems (Payne, 2014), which connects social factors and psychological

functioning with their lives. The properties are lost when a system is destroyed or reduced to isolated elements (Nichols & Davis, 2016).

Family systems theory can be integrated with the theory of cybernetics, which is a model of how a system operates (Nichols & Davis, 2016). Based on cybernetics, a system can self-regulate and share with other cybernetic systems to maintain stability by using energy through the feedback loop (Nichols & Davis, 2016), which can be extrapolated to theorize how children maintain the stability of their behaviors. For example, a child with depressive symptoms may have frequent disagreements with their parents or more withdraw into their room, which could, in turn, maintain their depressive symptoms. In family systems theory, a feedback loop points to a pattern in which the family system process is monitored and adjusted toward identified goals. A negative feedback loop refers to the behavior patterns in which change is discouraged or ignored to restore equilibrium to the system (Nichols & Davis, 2016). Harsh parents may discourage children from expressing their emotions that may disrupt the homeostasis of the system.

Positive feedback loops are cycles of behavior patterns that promote change and reinforce the direction that a family system is taking, regardless of whether the change is good or bad (Nichols & Davis, 2016; Whitchurch & Constantine, 2009). As an example of a positive feedback loop, increases in positive parenting and parental academic involvement may lead to improvements in child mental health and resilience, which also may predict more positive mental health. Positive parenting can stop positive feedback loops that take the form of escalating unhealthy conditions. One study examined whether supportive parenting mitigated the longitudinal effects of peer victimization on depressive symptoms in children, and result findings indicated that increases in supportive parenting contributed to less severe depressive

symptoms in children (Bilsky et al., 2013). Nevertheless, this analysis fails to make a correlation between other parenting strategies and depression.

Family systems theory emphasizes wholeness as the primary unifying feature of a system (Bowen, 1976; Cox & Paley, 2003). A family system is greater than the aggregation of family members (Cox & Paley, 2003), and each member plays a crucial role in interacting with other members and strengthening the family unit. The family system establishes boundaries that set guidelines for inclusion or exclusion and contracts that are determined overtly or covertly, so individuals can be interconnected and interdependent (Minuchin et al., 2007). Under the guidance of family contracts and family boundaries, family members exhibit behaviors that are mutually related and formulate the family pattern of behaviors within the system (Bowen, 1976). Each member takes on a particular role based on shared family culture and being affected mutually by other members regarding the aspects of position within the family, personality, values, and beliefs. Maintaining the pattern of behaviors may lead to family equilibrium that can be positive and negative. For example, in the parent-child system, parenting practices such as expressions of warmth and commitment to improving family interactions (Eisenberg et al., 2005; McKee et al., 2008), may reduce children's depression resulting in a family equilibrium that is most optimal for family members. As such, children may be likely to share stories or feelings with their parents of trust. By contrast, overcontrolling or authoritarian parenting practices may destroy normal family functioning or exacerbate children's psychological difficulties (Calzada et al., 2017). This pattern has also been found among families in inner-city neighborhoods with high levels of violence exposure (Jones et al., 2008). Family systems theory explains that increasing parenting behaviors of parents can change a family's system and then affect depressed children. However, additional studies are

needed to investigate the impact of parenting that interacts with contextual factors on depression in children.

#### **Ecological Theory**

A similar theory within the framework of general systems theory is ecological systems theory (Bronfenbrenner, 1979a, 1979b, 1986). According to Bronfenbrenner, the ecological environment emphasizes the systematic process of an individual's overcoming problems and completing developmental tasks by interacting with a series of environmental systems. These environmental systems range from proximal (e.g., home, school) to distal settings (neighborhood). With the similar aforementioned concept of levels of systems, Bronfenbrenner (1986) proposed that an individual's environment consisted of five-layer systems: microsystem, mesosystem, exosystem, macrosystem, and chronosystem. Each layer of the environment generates an effect on the individual's development. The microsystem is closest to individuals and contains the structure within which a developing individual has direct contact with the immediate environment. The mesosystem exists as the connection between the individual's microsystems (Berk, 2000). The exosystem defines the larger structures that impact personal development by interacting with microsystem structures (Berk, 2000). The macrosystem refers to cultural values, customs, laws, social morality, social belief systems, and social resources, which profoundly affect an individual's behavioral patterns. The Chronosystem refers to the time dimension, including internal elements (e.g., an individual's physiological change occurring with age) and external components (e.g., the timing of an individual's death).

From the ecological theory perspective (Bronfenbrenner, 1986), the emergence of depressive episodes in inner-city children and youth is viewed as a product of the complicated interrelationship that occurs between the individual and other broader

systems. At their microsystems level, psychological difficulties and coping methods affect the expression of depression (Sanchez et al., 2013; Tolan et al., 2002). At the mesosystem level, peer relationship and family functioning, which are the most powerful and immediate context for socialization in children (Bronfenbrenner, 1986), can moderate and mediate levels of depression experienced by children and youth. At the exosystem system (e.g., school and community), exposure to community violence occurred may give rise to fear, hopelessness, or depressive moods (Ofonedu et al., 2013; Scorgie et al., 2017). At the macrosystem level, children may experience social discrimination relative to race, socioeconomic status (SES), and living environments, which may contribute to depression (Patil et al., 2018; Seaton et al., 2010). At the chronosystem level, individual and contextual factors can impact the experience of depression over time in children as they grow and develop transitioning from early childhood to late adolescence.

Many existing empirical studies focused on inner-city youth or families using the ecological theory framework (Sanchez et al., 2013; Sheidow et al., 2014). Drew (2012) have employed multilevel analysis to examine factors associated with depression in children. Findings indicated that school-based factors associated with child depression included perceived school connectedness, perceived teacher support, and median school-level income. Factors not associated with child depression were found to be harshness of discipline and the presence of mental health and social services. In another study of 156 mother-child dyads exploring the social determinants of health of inner-city children (Kemp et al., 2016), neighborhood strain and maternal depression had a significant effect on child mental health problems.

#### Summary

Informed by theories mentioned above, a model proposed, as shown in Figure 1, depicts the relationship between childhood depression and the reviewed contextual factors (representing micro, mezzo, and macro levels) that delineate the intersectionality of social determinants of depression. Inner-city youth are exposed to higher levels of stress associated with family risk factors (i.e., parental depression, poverty, low quality of family relationships), negative school climate, and chaotic neighborhood conditions, which are risk factors for depression (Clark-Lempers et al., 1990; Comas-Díaz, 2016; McLoyd, 1990). These causal factors may be interrelated to intensify depressive symptoms in children. Effective parenting practices play a moderating role in adjusting the relationship between contextual factors and depression.

#### Gaps in Knowledge

A large number of studies have focused on identifying risk and protective factors associated with externalizing problems/ problems in inner-city children (see Table 2.1). However, few studies have focused on identifying risk and protective factors associated with internalizing problems/ behaviors, especially depression. A review of the past three decades of research indicates the need to focus on three gaps in future studies in order to understand depression in inner-city children better.

First, overall, there are few published studies examining depression in innercity children. The path to internalizing problems/ behaviors, including depression, has not been studied to the extent as has been the path to externalizing problems/ behaviors in inner-city children. The majority of the studies focus on the effect of neighborhood and family factors on children's externalizing problems/ problems such as antisocial behaviors (Tolan & McKay, 1996), aggression (Gorman–Smith & Tolan, 1998), delinquent behaviors (Madden-Derdich et al., 2002), substance abuse (Werch et al., 2001), school dropout (Crum et al., 1998), and academic performance (Ardelt & Eccles, 2001). More research should focus on investigating the severity of depressive symptoms and how multilevel contextual factors lead to depression in inner-city children.

Second, there are few studies examining the association between parenting practice (i.e., types of parenting) and children's depression, and even fewer studies on parenting training programs as an intervention strategy for reducing depression in children. Treatments for depression have been considered a critical component of understanding vulnerability and resilience (Cooley-Quille et al., 2001; Southwick & Charney, 2012; Southwick et al., 2005), as well as reduce children's stress and depression. Early prevention efforts have been advanced to promote the protective role of families in preventing violence, exploitation, abuse, and neglect, as well as reducing the rates of children's behavioral and psychosocial problems (Fowler et al., 2014; Gorman-Smith et al., 2002). However, few studies exist examining the relationship between the protective role of families (i.e., parenting practices) and depression among inner-city families (Jones et al., 2008; Ofonedu et al., 2013; Sagrestano et al., 2003; Smokowski et al., 2004). Although some researchers have offered parent training programs that are efficacious in improving parenting competence, very few parenting interventions have been developed to address depressive symptoms already being exhibited by children (e.g., Dumbrill, 2006; Letarte et al., 2010; Sanders et al., 2000; Wiggins et al., 2009). Studies examining parenting and child outcomes in inner-city children are outdated (e.g., Abdul-Adil & Farmer Jr, 2006; Ardelt & Eccles, 2001; Beyers et al., 2003; Jarrett, 1999). And, especially in regards to inner-city families and their children who may face unique challenges, researchers and clinicians have had difficulty reaching them for research

and treatment (Leijten et al., 2016), which may account for the paucity of research examining the mechanism between parenting and children's depression, including how positive, supportive parenting practices contribute to the reduction of children's depressive symptoms.

A recent meta-analysis of preventive parenting interventions for internalizing problems in children revealed lasting preventive effects from 6 months to 11 years post-intervention (Yap et al., 2016). However, some parenting interventions have shown no significant effect in reducing child depression (e.g., Cardamone-Breen et al., 2018; Yap et al., 2019). Cardamone-Breen et al. (2018) conducted a single-session parenting intervention that provided individual-tailored psychoeducation to each parent based on their self-assessment of parenting behaviors. They did not find the effect of parenting intervention on reducing adolescent depression levels, though intervention group parents showed significantly greater improvement in parenting practice. Another individually tailored Web-based parenting program was evaluated (Yap et al., 2019), and findings indicated a greater reduction in parent-reported adolescent depressive symptoms in the intervention group, and the effects were mediated by the improvement in parenting. However, no other significant intervention effects were found for adolescent-reported parenting and adolescent depression. Findings from these studies suggest further examination of how parenting training delivered through family-based preventive intervention programs impact children's depressive symptoms; and how parenting training might moderate the effect of contextual risk factors on inner-city children's depression.

Third, there are few studies examining depression in inner-city children over time. Depression is a developmental phenomenon, with rates changing over time (de Lijster et al., 2019; Garber et al., 2002; Kim & Cicchetti, 2006; Mazza et al., 2010).

The feelings of hopelessness decline with age among inner-city children (Bolland et al., 2005), but some evidence suggests rates of depression among adolescents increases rapidly and come close to rates or beyond among adults (Mojtabai et al., 2016; Twenge et al., 2019).

A gender difference has been well established in studies of depression, with females showing higher levels of depression than males starting in adolescence (Nolen-Hoeksema, 2002; Nolen-Hoeksema & Aldao, 2011; Van de Velde et al., 2010), but little is known about whether these differences are consistently found among inner-city children across time. The timing effects of individual-, family-, school-, and community-level predictors on the developmental course of depression in inner-city children remain unclear as well (Li, 2017). More studies are needed to examine the trajectories of inner-city children's depressive symptoms and associated critical predictor variables.

Most studies with a longitudinal design used a hierarchical regression model (Sagrestano et al., 2003; Smokowski et al., 2004), rather than multilevel analysis to identify the developmental trajectory of child depression and associated factors across time. Findings from these studies may be inaccurate because the use of hierarchical regression for longitudinal data is limited in addressing model dependency levels because residuals for depression outcomes from the same participant may violate the general linear model independence assumption (Hoffman, 2015).

#### Scope of the Study

The purpose of this study is to illustrate how parenting moderates the relationship between contextual risk factors and depression. The study sample consists of inner-city children aged 6-12 and their parents. Parents' report on measures of depression and contextual constructs across multi-waves of data collection will be

used. This study examines contextual level factors- family, school, and community- as well as explores the impact of positive parenting on depression in inner-city children.

#### **Definition of Terms**

#### **Inner-city**

Inner-city is considered the "core area" of the city (Kennett, 1980). Wilson (2012) described the inner-city neighborhood composing of impoverished families, high crime rates, a high concentration of public housing, and high proliferation of single-parent families. Social disorganization has become the formation of inner-city neighborhoods with unique community characteristics, including economic inequality, social stratification, racial segregation, and community delinquency/crime in space (Kohen et al., 2008).

#### Depression

Depression in children is primarily characterized by symptoms including depressed mood, diminished interest or pleasure in activities, feelings of worthlessness or inappropriate guilt, fatigue or lack of energy, difficulty in concentrating, and irritability (APA, 2013; Merrell, 2013).

#### **Neighborhood conditions**

Neighborhood conditions refer to the residents' neighborhood environment, which may produce an impact on social interaction, behaviors, and academic achievement in children (Milam et al., 2010). Measuring Neighborhood conditions includes the degree of children's exposure to community violence, criminal activities, and poverty (Horgas et al., 1998; Milam et al., 2010).

#### **School climate**

The National School Climate Council (2007) defined the school climate as the quality and character of school life. A positive school climate may promote students'
learning and psychosocial development, whereas a negative school climate may discourage students' psychosocial development.

#### **Families risk factors**

Family risk factors refer to the risk of poverty, parental depression, child maltreatment, substance abuse, and poor family dynamics (Garbarino & Sherman, 1980) (Garbarino & Sherman, 1980; Kaplan & Girard, 1994). High-risk families may have a negative impact on the development of children (Garbarino & Sherman, 1980).

#### **Positive Parenting**

Parenting (also called child-rearing) refers to the process of parental participation in promoting a child's physical, social, emotional, and intellectual development from infancy to adulthood (Brooks, 2013). Kulkarni (2010) defined positive parenting through five defining principles: loving through warmth and nurturing, understanding of a child's temperament, reasonable with clear limits and discipline, protective by providing a safe environment, a teacher through providing learning opportunities, and a model through demonstrating appropriate behavior and knowing himself/ herself. Positive parenting emphasizes on praising good behavior, setting clear rules, taking time to listen, working as a team, and using positive disciplining (De Graaf et al., 2008).

### The Significance of the Study

This study posits parenting as a moderator against depression in children who are exposed to risk environments. Employing longitudinal panel survey data from a low-income, minority sample living in inner-city neighborhoods provides an alternative to comprehensively capturing the picture of the causal relationship between contextual risk factors and depression influenced by parenting practices in an under-studied and high-risk population. This study is not limited to examining the

relationship between positive parenting and children's depression, but instead, considers positive parenting as a moderator for promoting the psychological adjustment for at-risk children. In using multiple level methods, this study feeds into the research of preventive interventions for depression and exploring the mechanism for treating depression in inner-city children. Understanding how community mechanisms relate to depression in children, along with developing early interventions integrating the cooperation among family, school, and community, can improve family interactions and emerging school adjustment and then diminish behavioral problems and promote psychosocial development in inner-city children.

#### **Relevance to Social Work**

This study examines the trajectory of depression among children in an innercity context, findings from which may encourage social workers to more regularly screen for depression in inner-city children, support the need for re-examining current policies that address mental health needs of inner-city children, and inform social workers to design preventive programs that promote parents' participation in familycentered prevention programming to minimize the risks of children developing depressive disorders or other mental disorders in inner-city neighborhoods.

#### CHAPTER II: LITERATURE REVIEW

In this chapter, the literature on child depression is discussed in detail, together with empirical evidence available on the associations between parenting and children's depression. Research findings on depression outcomes for inner-city children are critically analyzed. Additionally, because the present study uses the SAFE Children project dataset [(Schools and Families Education (SAFE) Children study (1997-2008) (Tolan et al., 2016)], published studies using this dataset are also reviewed to identify gaps in existing knowledge and to inform the research questions and methods for this study.

# **Search Methods**

Given that this dissertation study is focused on inner-city children, the following keywords were employed to identify existing studies: "child\* or youth or adolescent\*" and "behavior\* or depression or depressive symptom or internalizing problem\* or externalizing problem\*" and "inner-city or urban\*." To search relevant literature on preventive intervention with children living in inner-city neighborhoods, the keywords: "prevent\* or protect\* intervention\* or parenting" and "inner-city or urban\* were used as search terms using the following databases: Social Sciences Citation Index, PsycINFO (EBSCO), Social Services Abstracts, Sociological Abstracts, and Social Work Abstracts Plus and Google Scholar. This search was supplemented with the review of reference lists of studies found in reference lists of studies found through the use of the above keywords that link with the present study. The literature search for the initial review was refined to identify studies published in English and peer-reviewed journals.

A priori eligibility inclusion and exclusion criteria were developed to select studies to be reviewed. The author included studies that examined the individual-, family-, community, school-level predictors of behavior problems in urban or inner-city neighborhood children aged from 6 to 19 years were included as were studies of programs using family-, school-, and/or community-based frameworks that were implemented to prevent or protect children from depression and other mental health problems. This present study targets depression in inner-city children, so studies of children with academic and cognitive outcomes were excluded. In that the focus of this study is prevention, studies on children/youth with impairments or medical issues or those concerning children/youth treated in clinical conditions were also excluded from the review. Studies using either or both quantitative and qualitative research methods were considered in the review.

A title and abstract screen were conducted to select studies for the full-text review. Also, a manual search of the reference lists from the full-text papers was carried out to identify additional potential sources. All in all, the electronic and manual searches produced 55 empirical studies and 20 intervention program studies. Study characteristics were extracted from identified papers, and two tables were developed; one on children's internalizing and externalizing problems; the second on prevention-focused intervention programs for inner-city families.

### **Research on Inner-City Children**

Table 2.1 describes the characteristics, research methods used, and findings from 55 studies using survey methods. Table 2.2 depicts the program/intervention description, research design used, and findings from 20 intervention studies. Table 2.3 displays relevant information that was abstracted from Table 2.1 and Table 2.2, which shows the study's publication year, the research methods, primary statistical analyses used, child gender, predictors, and outcome variables.

As shown in Table 2.3, only three studies were published during the period between 2010 and 2019. The majority of the studies (52 out of 55) used quantitative methods. Forty-two out of the 52 quantitative studies employed a longitudinal design. In those studies, most applied multiple or hierarchical regression to analyze longitudinal data, with five studies using only a multilevel model (hierarchical linear model or linear mixed model). About 70% of the studies focused on predicting/explaining externalizing problems in children, such as aggression (e.g., Jones et al., 2008) or violent behavior (e.g., Spano et al., 2006), while studies concerning depression were limited. More than half of the studies (58%) explored the impact of neighborhood on child outcomes (e.g., Sheidow et al., 2001), but only one study examined the effect of school factors on child outcomes (e.g., McKay et al., 2003).

Concerning studies of interventions with inner-city children, studies were evenly dispersed among three publication year periods (1990-1999, 2000-2009, and 2010-2019, respectively). Five studies described the intervention program, while 15 studies used basic statistical methods to test the effect of interventions. Sixty percent of the intervention studies focused on externalizing behavioral problems (e.g., aggression, drug abuse, violence), and one intervention study centered on cognitive behavioral therapy workshops for treating depression inner-city youth (i.e., Sclare et al., 2015). Few studies of inner-city children examined the effect of school climate on child outcomes. Lastly, there was a lack of studies that examined the effect of risk factors on depression in children.

Research is needed to understand whether multiple contextual factors are linked with children's depression and to what extent, parenting moderate these relations among inner-city families. Few studies used multilevel analysis methods for analyzing longitudinal data, so between-person and within-person variations across years in

longitudinal studies cannot be addressed (Hoffman, 2015). More studies should employ multilevel models to address model dependency and include categorical or continuous predictors at any level (Hoffman, 2015).

## **SAFE Children Project Findings**

This study utilized data from the SAFE Children intervention study (Tolan et al., 2016). The SAFE Children project was designed to test the effectiveness of a preventive intervention for increasing parenting and children's academic achievement with 1st-grade children and their families living in inner-city Chicago. Research findings from eight previous studies using this project data are shown in Table 2.4. Table 2.5 displays information that was summarized in Table 2.4. All studies focused on exploring externalizing problems in children. Only one study included depression as one of the predictors of risk for delinquency and drug use (Gorman-Smith et al., 2002). Most studies used a multilevel method to analyze the collected longitudinal data. A study was focused on examining several early risk predictors for externalizing problems (Gorman-Smith et al., 2002). The results of an initial evaluation of the SAFE Children project indicated that linear-growth trends through 6 months after invention led to an overall effect of increased levels of academic performance and better parental involvement in school among innercity families; high-risk youth had improvement in problem behaviors and social competence, and high-risk families gained additional benefits for parent monitoring (Tolan et al., 2004). The evaluation of the effectiveness of booster intervention recognized a relative improvement in reducing aggression and promoting concentration in children, with an additional benefit for high-risk groups in academic achievement, behavior, and family organization (Fowler et al., 2014).

In addition to previously mentioned studies, the other five relevant empirical studies evaluated the impact of interventions on externalizing problems, such as ADHD

symptoms, children's aggression and delinquency, drug use, and academic achievement. Kim and Glassgow (2018) used multilevel methods to examine associations among the neighborhood, household context, and children's aggression and involvement with delinquency. Their findings revealed that living in a disadvantaged neighborhood and a father's absence in the household predicted children's aggression. Fowler et al. (2014) examined the developmental course of ADHD symptoms using growth mixture modeling, indicating that the initial intervention for inner-city children entering the first grade produced the positive developmental trajectories for impulsivity and hyperactivity, but the booster intervention had no additional effect on the change of trajectory in ADHD indicators. Their findings were consistent with existing study results (Henry et al., 2012; Tolan et al., 2004). Miller and Tolan (2019) focused on exploring the effect of neighborhood factors and parenting practice on childhood aggression. Their findings, reported two years after the initial study, demonstrated that neighborhood impoverishment, neighborhood social processes, and parental monitoring and supervision were significantly linked with aggressive behavior. However, neighborhood economic deprivation continued to elevate the risk of developing aggression in children, despite the protective effects of high-quality parenting. Differently, Kim and Glassgow (2018) elaborated that interventions aiming at improving the quality of school could mediate the adverse effects of individual and neighborhood disadvantages on children's school performance. Lissuzzo (2005) proposed that parent relationship quality was associated with family functioning and child aggression, but family functioning could not mediate the relationship between parent relationship quality and child aggression.

In conclusion, neighborhood characteristics, school climate, parental relationship, and parenting practice become predictors for determining the risk of externalizing problems in inner-city children. No studies reviewed from the SAFE Children project to

my knowledge focus on exploring the effect of interventions on internalizing problems, or depression specifically. Depression is one of the most common mental health issues and can lead to other mental disorders in children. However, studies of depression among inner-city families are scarce. As such, this study aims to investigate depressive symptoms in inner-city children and identify the effects of risk and protective factors on child depression in complicated contexts.

# **Drivers of Depression in Inner-City Children**

This study mainly addresses social determinants of depression within the contextual system, which leads to health disparities in inner-city children. As such, this section discusses several linkages between risk and protective factors and child depression. The following sections also discuss how parental support plays a moderator role between contextual risk factors and child depression.

#### **Neighborhood Conditions and Depression**

Existing research has identified the negative effects of urban neighborhood characteristics or factors on child outcomes, particularly in inner-city neighborhoods or low-income urban communities (Truong & Ma, 2006). Latkin and Curry (2003) found that baseline perceptions of community problems predicted higher levels of depression at a follow-up assessment. Gary et al. (2007) revealed that individuals who perceived more severity of community problems were more likely to experience higher depression and anxiety. The same results were also found in a study of investigating 3788 same-sex twin pairs to examine the relationship between neighborhood constructs and depression (Cohen-Cline et al., 2018).

Children residing in the inner-city may suffer from a high risk of depression due to increased exposure to violence, poverty, drug use, and criminal and gang activity (Chum et al., 2019; Fitzpatrick et al., 2010; Fitzpatrick et al., 2005). Cutrona et al. (2006)

proposed three pathways by which neighborhood characteristics influence depression in individuals' lives, including facing daily stress (e.g., lack of resource and physical stressors, and the people in the neighborhood), experiencing the vulnerability to adverse events, and forming ties (e.g., informal social control, social support, and family-role performance). For example, a study investigated 786 current and former drug users in inner-city Baltimore, Maryland indicating that neighborhood crime was linked with depressive symptoms through perceptions of neighborhood disorder and experiences of violence in the neighborhood (Curry et al., 2008). Vulnerable neighborhoods are usually viewed as chronic stressors, which subsequently may result in psychological distress (Goldman-Mellor et al., 2016; Matheson et al., 2006; Osypuk et al., 2012). Children living in these impoverished neighborhoods expressed pessimism about future life chances (Bolland et al., 2007; Umlauf et al., 2015). This pessimism may include perceptions of limited educational opportunities, low employment, high crime rates, inadequate housing, and crowded neighborhoods.

Violence is pervasive within vulnerable neighborhoods, and violence exposure is the most pressing issue in children. Exposure to violence places children at a higher risk for psychological difficulties, especially depression disorder. Fitzpatrick et al. (2005) surveyed a sample of 1,538 mostly low-income African students aged 10 to 18 years in an inner-city community; findings indicated that youth exposed to hazardous environments (including unsafe home, school, and neighborhood) reported high levels of depressive symptoms. Moses (1999) examined the prevalence of violence with a nonrandomly selected population of 337 inner-city youth aged 14-19 years and found a positive relationship between exposure to violence and depression in inner-city children. Gorman–Smith and Tolan (1998) investigated a sample of 245 fifth and seventh-grade boys from economically disadvantaged inner-city neighborhoods in Chicago, with results revealing violence exposure was associated with the increases in depression over a period of one year. However, some studies indicated no significant relationships between violence exposure and depression in inner-city children (Cooley-Quille et al., 2001; Mazza et al., 2010). For example, Fitzpatrick and Boldizar (1993) did not find a significant relationship between chronic violence and depressive symptom. Fitzpatrick claimed that youth might be protected from adversity by the use of coping skills. Children may be emotionally and behaviorally affected by community violence exposure but adapt to stressed environments.

In summary, research on the effect of neighborhood conditions on child depression is outdated. Parenting may play an important role in protecting children against depression and help them adapt to adversity living in inner-city neighborhoods. It is still necessary for studies to examine whether neighborhood conditions lead to depressive symptoms in inner-city children after controlling parenting variables.

# **School Climate and Depression**

School factors exert a significant impact on behavioral patterns in children (Gadeyne et al., 2006). Positive school climate is a catalyst to promote parental involvement in schooling and reduce the risk for depression in children (Denny et al., 2016; Denny et al., 2011; Dixon & Tucker, 2008; Dixon, 2010; Drew, 2012). McKay et al. (2003) conducted a study regarding the effect of racial socialization and social support on parental involvement in activities, with a sample of 161 parents and 18 teachers from an urban elementary school serving primarily African American children. The findings revealed that both teachers and parents agreed on school climate and parental involvement levels. Also, parental perceptions of positive school climate were positively associated with their involvement in schooling, and racism awareness is negatively linked with parental involvement in activities at school (McKay et al., 2003). Drew (2012)

focused on the relationship between school climate and adolescent depressive symptoms, using the data from the National Longitudinal Study on Adolescent Health. Based on the multilevel linear regression model, Drew found that higher perceived school connectedness and perceived teacher support were associated with few depressive symptoms in a sample of 9,524 youth. Moore et al. (2018) examined the relationship between school climate and mental health problems using the California Healthy Kids Survey (CHKS) data. In the study of 1,169 school-attending youth in grades 9th and 11th, they found that homeless youth had high rates of depression tendency, but positive school climate and perceived school safety were associated with lower rates of depression. A similar study using the same data also indicated the associations between the positive school climate and lower depressive symptoms (Shim-Pelayo & De Pedro, 2018).

However, children experienced depressive symptoms that were not recognized as legitimate by teachers but seen as acting-out behaviors (Ofonedu et al., 2013). An inappropriate response from teachers and stressful life circumstances deepens children's depression at school and ultimately results in poor concentration and academic failure in inner-city children (Ofonedu et al., 2013). Children often hide their negative emotions due to uncertainty of how teachers and peers would respond if revealed. In this way, it is crucial to examine the consistency of perceptions of child depression between parents and teachers and identify how school climate affects depressive symptoms in children. A number of studies have examined the relationship between school climate and depression (Denny et al., 2016; Drew, 2012), but nearly none of these studies focus on the school climate and depression relationship specific to inner-city children. Research should focus on examining whether how school climate predicts children's depressive symptoms among impoverished, high-risk families in inner-city neighborhoods over time.

### **Family Risk Factors and Depression**

Many studies have focused on exploring how depression is associated with family characteristics, such as parental relationship, family relationship/ process/ functioning, and family cohesion. A study of 1,102 students in the fifth and seventh grades of 17 Chicago public schools revealed that family beliefs, cohesion, family structure, and family support were related to depression in children (Tolan et al., 1997). Youth reporting higher levels of depression claimed less support and family closeness and intimacy and more parent-child conflicted relationships (Greenberger et al., 2000). Sagrestano et al. (2003) surveyed a sample of 302 inner-city African children aged 9 to 15 years in Chicago. They found that changes in family functioning and increases in family conflicts were associated with changes in depression for children. Increased family conflicts and feelings of being unconnected with one another at home caused children's feelings of worthlessness, inadequacy, and, eventually, emotional situations (Ofonedu et al., 2013).

In addition to the link between the quality of family relationships and depression, parental depression is also a predictor for the risk of child depression (Hammen et al., 2011; Sander & McCarty, 2005; Spiro, 2018). In an early study of parental and child depression, Fendrich et al. (1990) proposed that parental depression was a more significant risk factor than family risk factors for youth psychopathology, including depression. A meta-analysis of 193 studies examined the strength of the association between mothers' depression and children's behavioral patterns and indicated that maternal depression was significantly associated with higher levels of internalizing and externalizing symptoms (Goodman et al., 2011). Maternal depression is significantly associated with less positive warmth, more hostile, negative parenting, and more disengaged or withdrawn parenting, which indicates the increasing risk of punitive parenting and child behavior (Cummings & Kouros, 2009; Edwards et al., 2003; England

et al., 2009; England & Sim, 2009; Widom et al., 2007). A study sample of 107 sexually abused mothers and 156 comparison mothers recruited from a parental clinic examined the mediating effect of maternal depression on the association between childhood abuse and parenting practice, including parent stress and discipline strategies (Schuetze & Eiden, 2005). They found that maternal depression was significantly associated with harsh or punitive parenting and also mediated the impact of maternal childhood sexual abuse on adverse parenting.

Low socioeconomic status (SES) is a risk factor for depression (Dupéré & Perkins, 2007; Galea et al., 2007; Inaba et al., 2005; Propper et al., 2005). The prevalence of depression is inappropriately distributed across different socioeconomic status (SES) strata (Gilman et al., 2002). People with lower SES levels are inclined to have a higher risk of mental illness (Gilman et al., 2002; Hudson, 2005). Research has found that the health outcome of family members increases as SES increases (Stringhini et al., 2012). A study of 15,112 adolescents showed that low-income increased the risk of depression (Goodman et al., 2003), since they have to worry about how they are able to afford the basics in their life. Children often compare their economic situations with other peers and also watch the endless media portraying only those who are rich and successful. They may avoid talking with other peers about their family and pretend to be satisfied with their life. However, more studies should be involved in linking depression with familylevel factors and exploring how family-level factors (e.g., the quality of family relationships and parental depression) have an impact on children's depression among inner-city families.

### Parenting as a Buffer

Children with depressive moods have difficulty investing hope and seeking help. As such, seeking parental support within the family system is very important for those

children. Parenting represents a major source of social support for children (Bokhorst et al., 2010), which can reduce the impact of environmental risk and adversity in children (Mason et al., 1996; Pettit et al., 1999), and then facilitate children's social adjustment and psychosocial development (Dumbrill, 2006; Letarte et al., 2010; Sanders et al., 2000; Wiggins et al., 2009). A study examining the influence of violence exposure and parental support on depression in a sample of youth (N=824), revealed that depressive symptoms on average increased from year one to two and then were stable or declined from year two to four, and that mother support predicted decreased depressive symptoms (Eisman et al., 2015). Enhancing positive parental support can contribute to reducing the probability that violence exposure causes depression in children living in disadvantaged communities.

Many parenting training programs (e.g., Triple P Positive Parenting Program and Pathways Triple Parenting Program) have been designed to improve parenting skills, manage misbehavior of parents, increase emotional parent-child bond, reduce child behavior problems, and facilitate children's social adjustment and psychosocial behaviors (Sanders & Pidgeon, 2005; Sanders et al., 2000). For example, the Triple P program equips parents with positive parenting behavior management strategies by enhancing their positive attitudes, knowledge, and skills. Research findings indicate that Triple P intervention for parents produces positive effects for parents on children regarding emotional and behavioral management (Wiggins et al., 2009). A recent study examined the predictors of externalizing and internalizing behaviors in Kindergarten aged children, indicating that maternal psychological distress, mediated by parenting behaviors, could predict children's externalizing and internalizing behaviors (Heberle et al., 2015). Parents who attend the PTP program reported substantial reductions in child externalizing and internalizing problems. A meta-analysis of preventive parenting interventions revealed

lasting preventive effectiveness from 6 months to 15 years postintervention for internalizing problems in children and to 5.5 years postintervention for depression (Yap et al., 2016).

Parenting interventions can be effective for parents in managing children's behaviors. Cohen and Wills (1985) proposed that supportive parenting had a primary effect on decreasing depressive symptoms in children and moderates the adverse effect of stress on children, regardless of their level of stress. Natsuaki et al. (2007) used data collected from 777 African American families and found that parental use of inductive reasoning was a protective factor for depression, particularly in youth living in highly disordered neighborhoods. Sagrestano et al. (2003) proposed that decreases in parental monitoring were associated with increases in depression for inner-city African children aged 9 to 15 years. Supportive parenting can protect against depressive symptoms (Allen et al., 2006; Auerbach et al., 2011; Bilsky et al., 2013; Dallaire et al., 2006), alleviate the generation of cognitive diatheses for depression, and enhance the self-perceived competence for addressing depressive thoughts in children (Bruce et al., 2006). Whereas, hostile, harsh, and disengaged/withdrawn parenting may be associated with increased depression levels (England et al., 2009). Depression in youth is associated with harsher discipline parenting (Simons et al., 2002) and the laissez-faire or authoritarian parenting style (Kandel & Davies, 1982; King et al., 2016). Children who have less supportive interaction with parents may have more serious depressive symptoms and more cognitive vulnerability to depression (Mezulis et al., 2006; Rapee, 1997).

However, there is an inconsistency of findings that parenting practices contribute to improving psychosocial and emotional functioning in children, which can be explained by parents' adopting monitoring and discipline that are not associated with depression (Gorman–Smith & Tolan, 1998) or length of parenting intervention (Cardamone-Breen et

al., 2018). Cardamone-Breen et al. (2018) conducted a randomized controlled trial comparing a parenting intervention with a 3-month waitlist control. Intervention group parents were required to attend a single-session, individually tailored, web-based parenting intervention to prevent adolescent depression. Researchers collected data of a community sample of 349 parents, together with 327 adolescents aged 12-15 years. Study findings demonstrated there was no significant effect of the intervention on adolescentreport of parenting and on reducing depression in adolescents in the short-term (Cardamone-Breen et al., 2018). They suggested long-term studies for adequately assessing the relationship between improving parenting and children's depression (Cardamone-Breen et al., 2018). Another study investigated 1888 children aged 8-14 from public elementary and public schools, in a three-wave, to test the model describing whether social support could mitigate the deleterious effect of peer victimization on depression outcomes (Bilsky et al., 2013). Their results revealed that the reduction of supportive parenting led to increasing levels of depressive symptoms, and depressive symptoms increased as peer victimization increased. However, supportive parenting and peer victimization did not interact in the prediction of depression. How parenting interacts with other protective or risk factors buffer their effect on depression is scant in research. In this way, this dissertation study shifts the focus on inner-city families to examine the direct and mediating effects of positive parenting, and then discusses how to develop effective parenting interventions particularly targeting vulnerable and fragile families.

#### **Purpose of this Study**

Given the existing evidence supporting the links among neighborhood conditions, family functioning, parenting, and child outcomes, this study expands the examination of the relationships among community-level factors, family-level factors, and children's

depression using a longitudinal developmental perspective. This study aims to examine how positive parenting as a protective factor moderates the effect of contextual risk factors on children's depression in a sample of low-income, inner-city families. The purpose of this study is threefold. First, this study aims to (a) depict the trajectory growth of depression in inner-city children from the transition to grade school to the emerging adult stage, and (b) compare the trajectory of depressive symptoms among youth in the intervention vs. comparison conditions. Second, this study will examine associations between environmental factors, including parenting, family dynamics, school risk factors, and neighborhood risk factors, and depression across time. Third, this study proposes to identify whether positive parenting moderates the impact of negative factors in familial, school, and neighborhood contexts on depressive symptoms among children. All in all, this study will produce a greater understanding of the differential impact of time-varying predictors (e.g., family risk factors, negative school climate, severe neighborhood conditions) and other time-invariant predictors (e.g., gender and intervention conditions) on depression in children across the time.

#### **Research Questions and Hypotheses**

Considering the internal and external forces present within a parent-child system, the overarching research question in this dissertation study focuses on examining the interacting effects of parenting and contextual factors on depression in inner-city children aged 6 to 12. The primary research question is divided into three sub-questions listed below.

Question #1: Are there differences in the developmental trajectory of depression between children participating in a family-based preventive intervention and a control group of children not participating in the intervention? Specifically, how much variance

does the treatment condition (family-based preventive intervention) account for in the different growth patterns of children's depression over time?

 Hypothesis #1: The treatment group of children has a lower level of depressive symptoms than the control group after the intervention has ended and for the rest of the study.

Question #2: Which time-varying predictors impact on the developmental change of depression? The question deals with predictor variables (Positive parenting, family income, parental depression, low family cohesion, negative school climate, and vulnerable neighborhood conditions).

- Hypothesis #2: Lower levels of family income, Higher levels of parental depression, lower levels of family cohesion, higher levels of negative school climate, and higher levels of neighborhood risk are predictive of higher levels of depressive symptoms.
- Hypothesis #3: Positive parenting is positively predictive of a low level of child depression.

Question #3: Does positive parenting moderate the impact of environmental risk factors on youth depression? The question investigates how parenting practices are related to the change of depression of children in the context of risk factors over time.

- Hypothesis #4: High exposure to vulnerable neighborhood conditions is related to high levels of child depression, but to a lesser extent for children whose parents demonstrate positive parenting behaviors.
- Hypothesis #5: Perception of negative school climate would be associated with higher levels of child depression, but to a lesser extent among children who experience positive parenting behaviors.

 Hypothesis #6: Family risk factors, specifically parental depression and low family cohesion, are related to higher levels of child depression, but in the context of positive parenting behaviors, it will be associated to a lesser extent with depressive symptoms among children.

#### **Summary**

In summary, inner-city children face challenges associated with family-, school-, and neighborhood-level risk factors, and can have difficulty accessing acceptable treatment (Leijten et al., 2016). Positive parenting has been found to be related to lower levels of depression in children (e.g., McLeod et al., 2007). However, relatively few studies have examined the combined effects of parenting, overall family dynamics, and a series of contextual risk factors on depression in inner-city elementary school-aged children. Effective parenting, together with healthy family functioning, plays a vital role in helping children adjust to psychological difficulties. Further studies should be conducted, examining whether positive parenting can alleviate the adverse effects of contextual risk factors on depressive symptoms in inner-city children. Therefore, this study will explore the linkage between child depression and contextual factors, including exposure to high-risk family, school climate, neighborhood conditions, the quality of family relationship, and parenting, which can inform the identification of depressionbased parenting treatment models.

#### **CHAPTER III: METHODS**

This chapter details the methods for exploring the association between parenting and depression in inner-city youth in a particular context using the SAFE Children Project dataset.

# **SAFE Children Project**

This study utilized data from the SAFE Children Preventive Interventions (Tolan et al., 2016). The SAFE Children project was designed to test the effectiveness of a preventive intervention for increasing parenting and children's academic achievement with 1<sup>st</sup>-grade children and their families living in inner-city Chicago, not for preventing depressive symptoms. The goal of the study was to enhance well-being among elementary school-aged, inner-city children in Chicago (Tolan et al., 2004). The project focused on four components including: "(1) enhancing parent and child orientation to and involvement with school ; (2) academic tutoring; (3) social competence and peer relations of the child; and (4) parent and family functioning to enhance the child's academic performance, the parental investment in the child's well-being and development, and the social competence and self-control of the child" (Tolan et al., 2016, p. iv). The intervention research involved three phases consisting of 11 waves of data collection starting in 1997 and spanning approximately 13 years.

The initial SAFE Children project consisted of a group-based family intervention and a first-grade reading-tutoring program (Fowler et al., 2014). The group interventions, including 4 - 6 families and consisted of 20 weekly sessions, focused on parenting skills, family relationship, understanding and managing various challenges to the families, increasing support for parents, skills and issues regarding parental schooling

involvement, and managing issues associated with neighborhood problems (Fowler et al., 2014). All families were invited to the group, including parents or caregivers and children. The tutoring program comprised both phonics and whole language approaches and involved one-on-one tutoring sessions to the first-grade children with university students occurred twice weekly for 30 mins each at schools during the 22-week intervention period. The combination of these two programs was designed to encourage more positive attitudes about parental educational involvement, lower isolation, and more supportive relationship for parents, as well as could facilitate greater self-control, lower aggression, and higher social competence for children (Fowler et al., 2014). Increasing parental warmth or positive parenting would prevent children's depressive symptoms. The first phase involving 5 waves spanned over two years.

The booster interventions that were added in wave 6 were similar to the initial interventions, with some change in content to cater to the needs of participating children who were transitioning into adolescence. The booster family groups mainly focused on effective parenting practices, parental involvement in schooling and managing children's motivation, peer relations, and ecological challenges associated with neighborhood violence and safety (Fowler et al., 2014). Research indicated that SAFE Children might improve family functioning among inner-city families and then prevent the growth of behavioral problems in children (Fowler et al., 2014).

#### **Research Design**

The SAFE Children project was a longitudinal panel study with a randomized controlled trial of a family-based preventive intervention on children and youth in the Chicago inner-city neighborhoods. Random assignment occurred regardless of participation patterns in the initial intervention or retention in this project to avoid the

potential selection bias (Shadish et al., 2002). Random assignment was conducted within the classroom in each participating public school.

This project started in 1997 with 424 the first-grade students and their primary caregivers receiving the intervention treatment or being assigned to control group. The first phase of this project consisted of four waves of primary caregivers and child interviews (waves 1, 2, 4, 5) and five waves of teacher interviews. The second stage involved 382 of the original 424 families to evaluate the booster effects of an additional intervention during the fourth grade, as compared with those receiving the initial intervention only and not receiving any interventions.

Using the SAFE Children Project dataset, two studies were conducted. The first study focuses on exploring the effects on child depression of major study variables using Wave 1 to Wave 5 datasets of the SAFE Children project. The second study focuses on exploring the effects on child depression of major study variables using Wave 6 to Wave 9 datasets. These two studies primarily respond to same research questions together with six hypotheses.

#### **Participants**

Eligibility for the SAFE Children project included families of children living in disadvantaged neighborhoods in inner-city Chicago. Seven primary schools from 96 census tracts were selected, all of which were located in predominantly poor and racially segregated inner-city neighborhoods (Kim & Glassgow, 2018). Caregivers of children were asked if they resided within the neighborhood boundaries of the schools in which their children would attend first grade. Of 507 families of children in kindergarten at seven Chicago public schools were eligible, 424 families out of these (84%) agreed to take part in and completed the first two pretest assessments and 83 families declined to participate (Tolan et al., 2016). Overall, in the initial intervention,

225 families were randomly assigned to SAFE Children intervention group, while 199 were in the control condition (Tolan et al., 2016). In the booster intervention, 101 families who received the initial intervention were randomly assigned to receive the second phase interventions in fourth grade, which was marked as Wave 6.

A subset of cases from Waves 1 to 9 of the dataset, including related instruments and demographic information were selected to answer the research questions. The selected sample at Wave 1 consisted of 47.6% Mexican American children (n=201), 42.5% African American children (41), and 9.7% other Hispanic or Anglo-White American children (n=41). Out of children in the sample, 49% were male children, while 51% were female children. Two-thirds of children resided in single-parent households, and 54.9% of primary caregivers, most of whom were mothers, had not graduated from high school. Regarding annual family income demographics from Wave 1, 59% of families reported an annual income below \$20,000 and 86% below \$30,000. In terms of household size and mobility, 62% of families reported five or more people living in the household, and 57% of families had moved one or more times in the previous year. The sample size achieved the minimum cases for conducting the multilevel analysis, based on the criterion of a minimum ratio of 100/10 to test random effects (Hoffman, 2015; Hox, 1998).

### **Data Collection**

The SAFE Children program consisted of 11 waves of data collection in three phases (Fowler et al., 2014). In 1997, primary caregivers of all kindergarten children in seven Chicago public schools were contacted and invited to participate in the survey. Of the 742 families that were assessed as eligible to participate in the research, 318 families were excluded from the study (235 families did not meet the inclusion criteria and 83 families declined to participate) (Tolan et al., 2016). The

final study sample consisted of 424 families who were randomly assigned to either the intervention (n=225, 55%) or the control (n=199, 45%) condition. Families and their children were followed over a 13-year period during which 9 waves of data — repeated measures on time-varying variables and time-invariant factors — were gathered. In addition, during this period, two waves of follow-up measures of long-term outcomes such as incarceration, mental health status, and teen pregnancy were also collected.

Phase 1 with the initial intervention included waves 1, 2, 4, and 5 in which data was collected from both children and their primary caregivers and teachers. In wave 3, data was only collected from teachers only. A single baseline assessment before the intervention was taken in wave 1, followed by evaluations at post-test and at 6-month, 12-month, and 24-month post-intervention.

A booster intervention was added in wave 6 to differentiate the effects of interventions from the randomly selected treatment group as children entered the fourth grade in Fall 2000. A total of 348 families out of 424 families (82%) consented to participate, while 76 families could not be located (n=58) or declined to participate (n=18). A total of 114 families initially randomly assigned to the intervention condition received the booster intervention. They were compared with 111 families randomly assigned to the control condition who completed the research instruments but did not participate in the booster intervention. Phase 2 incorporated four assessments (waves 6 - 9): pre-test, post-test, and 6-month and 12-month follow-up assessment, consisting of waves 6, 8, and 9 of data collection from both children and their primary caregivers. Data was collected from teachers in waves 6, 7, and 8.

Phase 3 comprised of waves 10 and 11 in which data was collected from children and their caregivers to assess the long-term effects of the initial and booster

interventions. A total of 312 families consented to participate in Phase 3 of the study. Over 90% of the parents who participated in Phase 3 were mothers (see Henry et al., 2012; Tolan et al., 2016 for a detailed description of the research design of the SAFE Children Project).

### Variables and Measures

Relevant predictor variables and outcome variables alongside measurements were included in this study, as shown in Table 3.1 of Appendix C. All measurement items are listed in Appendix A as well.

#### **Outcome Variables**

Child depression at waves 1 through 9 was measured using the depression subscale of the Parent Observation of Classroom Adaption – Revised (Tolan et al., 2004). Parents were asked to rate statements, such as "child is irritable." "Child looks sad or down." Responses for the three items ranging from 1 "almost never" to 4 "almost always" were summed, with higher values indicating greater severity of depressive symptoms. Depression was measured with a 3-item scale, and responses were captured on a four-point scale, which met a minimum set of 3 items suggested by Hair et al. (2006). However, the internal reliabilities of this scale across waves were .330, .358, .457, .399, .432, .498, and .485, respectively. The values of Cronbach's alpha value were far lower than .70, which is indicative of an unreliable scale and high measurement error.

Bretz and McClary (2015, p. E) proposed that "the traditional threshold of .70 as indicative of acceptable reliability may be a flawed metric when applying in diagnostic assessment." In a study of the jigsaw learning method, Berger and Hänze (2015) found that Cronbach's alpha was .45 for the pre-test and .60 for the post-test;

they explained these values are acceptable given the limited number of scale items and the broad range of the measuring construct.

Cronbach Alpha has three core assumptions: (1) the observed score of each item is the result of adding the item's true score and error; (2) Tau equivalency indicates all items carry equal loadings and have the same amount of variance; and (3) alpha assumes uncorrelated error scores (Starkweather, 2012). In social science research, the small number of a scale may violate the assumption of Tau equivalence and underestimate reliability (Tavakol & Dennick, 2011). Herman (2015) proposes that the value of Cronbach's alphas may underestimate the internal consistency of a scale involving fewer than 10 items. Values of Cronbach alpha are closely associated with the number of items in a scale. The shorter the scale length is, the fewer the value of alpha. Increasing the number of items may lead to acceptable values for Cronbach's alpha (Taber, 2018). Additionally, Starkweather (2012) suggested calculating composite reliability as an alternative to alpha. The compositive reliability is superior to Cronbach's alpha since it is more robust to violate the assumptions and provides a less biased estimate of reliability.

Therefore, this present study conducted the exploratory factor analyses using the maximum likelihood extraction method with oblique rotation across waves. Results indicated variances explained in this scale across waves were 43.962%, 43.957%, 46.432%, 46.422%, 46.855%, 50.435%, and 49.359%, exceeding the minimum variances of 20% recommended by Reckase (1979). The composite reliabilities across waves were .666, .698., 719, .702, .724, .733, and .740, as shown in Tables 4.1.2 and 4.2.2.

Alpha values also should be interpreted within the context of the research area. In Gorman-Smith et al. (2002)'s study of predictors of participation in a family-

focused preventive intervention for substance use, the three-items scale was used to measure child depression with internal reliability of .39. Researchers also used some scales with low internal reliabilities in some studies (Fowler et al., 2014; Xu et al., 2018). In a study of a five-item scale measuring depressive symptoms in children (sadness, irritability, hopelessness, sleep problems, and concentration), indicating an informative scale that can be used for researchers to evaluate depressive symptoms in adolescents (Dunn et al., 2012). The three-items scale in this present study also incorporates the items of sadness and irritability. Most importantly, the values of Chronbach's alpha and compositive reliability increase across waves in this current study. Thus, the three-items scale is retained in the analysis.

### **Time-Varying Variables**

# Family risk factors

Family risk factors were evaluated using household/ family income, whether families receive food assistance, the Beck Depression Inventory for caregivers (Beck et al., 1996), and the family relationship scale (Tolan et al., 1997). Family income was an ordinal variable with three categories, from less than \$10,000 to \$50,000. Whether to receive food assistance was measured by asking caregivers about the status of the use of food stamps, and it was a dichotomous variable (Yes = 1).

The Beck Depression Inventory (BDI) was used as a self-report measure of caregivers' perceptions of depressive symptoms across waves 1-9, such as "feel sad," "discouraged about the future," "lost interest in people," with responses ranging from 0 "I make the decision about as well as I ever could" to 3 "I can't make the decision at all anymore." Responses for 19 items at each wave were averaged, with higher values indicating greater severity of depression. A meta-analysis of BDI's Cronbach's alpha for this scale indicated a mean coefficient alpha of .86 (Beck & Steer, 1988).

Cronbach's alpha for this scale among Waves 1 and 9 of this study ranges from .853 to .914.

Family relationship quality was measured by a combination of family cohesion, communication, and support (Tolan et al., 1997). Parents were asked to rate 17-item statements, such as "my family doesn't care about me." "My family and I have the same views about what's right and wrong." "I am able to let others in the family know how I really feel." "Family members like to spend free time with each other." "family togetherness is very important." "Kids should value a close relationship with their family and should not have to be asked to spend time at home." "Parents should teach their children what they need to know to make it in the world." Responses ranged from 1 "not true" or "strongly disagree" to 4 "always true or almost always true" or "strongly agree." Responses were averaged, and lower scores indicated a closer family relationship. Cronbach's alpha for this scale across waves was ranged from .707 to .805.

# School Climate

School climate was measured using a six-item scale to collect information about parents' perceptions of school climate among waves 1 and 9 (CPPRG, 1999; McMahon et al., 1999). Parents were asked to respond to a series of questions and statements consistently across waves, such as "teachers or staff are sensitive to the special needs of children." "The staff care about students as individuals." "Teachers understand parents' point of view." "Parents are encouraged to visit for special concerns." "Teacher and staff work hard to get parents involved." and "Appointments are easy with teachers and principal." Responses ranged from 1 "strongly agree" to 5 "totally disagree" and were averaged, with high values indicating negative school climate. Cronbach's alpha for this scale ranged from .834 to .950.

#### Neighborhood conditions

Neighborhood conditions were measured using a subscale of the Chicago Youth Development Study (CYDS) neighborhood measure – the extent of community problems (Tolan & McKay, 1996). Caregivers were asked to rate the extent to which they agree with statements describing their views of what it is like for their families living in their neighborhood (Gorman-Smith, Tolan, & Henry, 2000; Gorman-Smith, Tolan, Henry, et al., 2000). Responses to 13 items were captured using a 5-point (1 to 5) Likert scale, which reflected how responders felt about their community and the extent to which drugs, gangs, crime, and homelessness are serious issues/threats/problems. The neighborhood conditions measure consists of sample questions, such as "vacant lots are a problem on my block." "Gangs are a problem in my neighborhood." "Drugs are a problem in my neighborhood." Responses for the subscale were averaged, with higher values indicating more severe or negative neighborhood conditions. The neighborhood measure had good internal consistency, with Cronbach's alpha ranging from .848 to .918.

#### Positive parenting practices

Positive parenting characteristics were measured using a parental report questionnaire that was developed based on the Pittsburgh Youth Study (Loeber et al., 1991). Positive parenting measures the use of reinforcement and encouragement and the extent of parental involvement. The inventory in this study consists of two subscales: parent involvement and warmth (Gorman-Smith et al., 1996), which consists of 18 questions using a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1 "don't know" or "hardly ever" to 5 "yesterday/today" or "often." Examples of positive parenting questions include, "Do you say something nice about it; praise or give approval?" "When was the last time that you discussed his/her plans for the coming day?" Responses were

averaged, and higher scores indicated higher levels of positive parenting practice. The psychometric properties of the positive parenting practices scale have been examined in several studies, with internal consistency reliabilities reported for each subscale ranging from .68 to .81. Confirmatory factor analysis has also supported the validity of the parenting scale (Gorman-Smith et al., 1996). Cronbach's alpha for this scale among waves 1 and 9 in this study ranges from .802 to .838.

# **Time-Invariant Variables**

Time-invariant or between-group variables selected for this study were child gender, child race/ethnicity, treatment status, and mother' educational level. Gender was a dichotomous variable (Male =1 and Female = 0). Race/ethnicity was also a nominal variable comprising of African American, Hispanic, and others (African American = 1 and Hispanic = 2, other = 3). The treatment status was a nominal variable, including control group = 2, initial intervention group = 1, and booster intervention group = 0. The mother's education level at wave 1 and wave 6 was asked of caregivers who filled in parent questionnaires to report their educational level. Responses were coded as a categorical variable (0 = not finish high school, one = finish high school or above).

#### **Data Analysis**

This dissertation study analyzed how positive parenting moderates the impact of contextual risk factors on child depression. Data points used with relevant factors were showed as clarification in Table 3.1. Data analyses were conducted in three steps: (1) the use of descriptive statistics to describe the study sample, (2) bivariate correlations to explore associations between independent variables and the outcome variable, child depression, and (3) a multilevel analysis method to examine the relationship between contextual factors and depression across time. Descriptive data

analysis, bivariate analysis, and multilevel analysis were conducted using SPSS and SAS software. This dissertation study adopted a p-value of .05 as the standard to report significance.

## **Multilevel Analysis**

Analysis of repeated observations in longitudinal research can be conducted using univariate analysis of variance (ANOVA). ANOVA requires the independence and normality of residual variances, as well as homogeneity of variance for different levels of between-person factors such as treatment vs. control group. Also, ANOVA is limited to research situations involving within-person and between-person change, where the time of repeated measurement is more than two occasions and subjects are sampled in specific groups. In other words, the change is considered fixed, and the random effect is ignored. However, in real situations, subjects are independently and randomly sampled, randomly varying parameters exist within and between individuals. Using ANOVA approaches may violate the assumptions of sampling independence (Heck et al., 2013).

In addition, the use of ANOVA does not allow for the inclusion of subjects with missing data on any occasion in the analysis. Any person with partial data is eliminated from the analysis through listwise deletion, which may lead to a considerably large loss of information about the sample within a longitudinal analysis (Hoffman, 2015). In this dissertation study involving nine waves with some missing data in some individuals, ANOVA is not a viable approach to examine repeated-measure data.

The multilevel analysis method, also called the linear mixed model or random coefficient model, examines repeated measures data with within-person and betweenperson factors (Laird & Ware, 1982). In using the multilevel model, a two-level

analysis will be specified, with the change in time-varying predictors across time assigned as Level 1 and random variation in the individual intercepts (e.g., differences between individuals) and growth rates appointed at Level 2 (Hoffman, 2015). Also, this approach can include categorical or continuous at any level and does not require the same data structure for each person, which is beneficial because some subjects dropped out during the longitudinal study.

Previous research has illustrated the advantages of the use of multilevel mixed models in longitudinal repeated data (Finch et al., 2016; Heck et al., 2013; Hoffman, 2015; Hox et al., 2017; Rabe-Hesketh & Skrondal, 2008). Notably, the value of using multilevel modeling (MLM) approach for the analysis of longitudinal randomized controlling trial data is its capacity to address autocorrelation of longitudinal and nested data and to estimate outcomes with missing values (Rabe-Hesketh & Skrondal, 2008). Maximum likelihood (ML) and Restricted ML estimations, which address missing data issues allowing for valid estimations, will be used based on the use of different multilevel models and statistical analysis tools (Hoffman, 2015; Schafer & Graham, 2002). Also, the MLM approach for longitudinal data could address or control dependency that arises due to constant mean differences across the person, intercept differences across groups, and individual differences in the effect of predictors (Hoffman, 2015). With that, the impact of predictors pertaining to multiple levels of analysis can be investigated simultaneously and accurately (Hoffman, 2015).

Using MLM analysis, this present study will examine between-person variation, or inter-individual differences and examine within-person variation that explains intra-individual differences simultaneously and their interaction. The null model and the conditional model will be performed separately. Akaike information criterion (AIC) and Likelihood ratio test will be used to select models (Hoffman,

2015; Rabe-Hesketh & Skrondal, 2008). Also, the pseudo-R<sup>2</sup>, the most common measure of effect size in multilevel analysis, will be used to calculate the variance proportion reduction in each variance component from two alternative models (Hoffman, 2015). Adding a main effect for the between-person factor to a model can reduce the level-2 random intercept variance while adding a main effect for the within-person can reduce the level-1 residual variance. However, in model with timevarying factors, a reduction in level-1 residual variance may cause the level-2 random intercept variance to increase. As such, pseudo-R<sup>2</sup> was used when the models to compared have the same level-1 fixed effects (Hoffman, 2015). The other approach for assessing effect size is to compute total R<sup>2</sup> that is the square of the Pearson correlation between the predicted outcome and the actual outcome. Total R<sup>2</sup> reveals the total reduction in the overall variance of the outcome across any models with fixed effects (Hoffman, 2015).

All in all, in specifying a repeated measures analysis for this dissertation study using the multilevel model, three aspects are considered. The first is to test the sphericity assumption using repeated measures, within-person ANOVA. The sphericity assumption refers to the structure of the repeated measures covariance matrix upon which the repeated observations should be independent and have constant variance. The second is considering the expected within-person effects that describe whether individuals change over time and by how much. The potential mean differences across measurement occasions are specified as a time-related slope, and it is significant to test whether the outcome means are equal across occasions and the slope rate changes over some relevant interval of time. If the means of the dependent variable are not the same across time, it would be essential to investigate further how individuals are changing across time through identifying growth trajectories. A linear

growth trend that assumes the rate of personal change is the same over time is most common. However, adding higher-order polynomials within individuals to the model, such as a quadratic or cubic trend, may improve prediction if necessary (Heck et al., 2013). After determining reasonable growth trajectories for describing the developmental pattern of individuals, the third is to consider possible within-person variables and between-persons variable that may affect an individual's growth trajectories. For example, at level 2, this study examines whether the trajectories are the same for different levels of static factors (e.g., subjects in treatment or control groups, subjects in male or female groups). At level 1, time-varying predictors, such as neighborhood conditions, school climate, the quality of the family relationship, parental depression, and positive parenting, can be entered to predict changes in child depression. The combined linear mixed regression equation for Study 1 is the following:

$$y_{ti} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 NC + \beta_2 SC + \beta_3 FR + \beta_4 PP + \beta_5 Pdep + \beta_6 I_{\{Control\}} + \beta_7 Sex_{\{Female\}} + \beta_8 Race_{\{African\}} + \beta_9 Race_{\{Mexican\}} + \beta_{10} Edu_{\{1\}} + \beta_{11} Food_{\{1\}} + \beta_{12} Income_{\{1\}} + \beta_{13} Income_{\{2\}} + \beta_{14} NC * PP + \beta_{15} SC * PP + \beta_{16} FR * PP + \beta_{17} Pdep * PP + (\beta_{18} + U_{1i}) Time + U_{0i} + SubID + e_{ti}$$

$$e_{ti} \xrightarrow{iia} N(0, \delta^{2})$$
$$U_{i} \xrightarrow{iid} N(0, \delta^{2})$$
SubID  $\xrightarrow{iid} N(0, \delta_{s}^{2})$ 

where terms are defined as follows:

 $y_{ti}$  is the outcome at time t for individual i,,

 $\beta_0$  is the intercept,

 $\beta_{1-13}$  is the simple main effect of predictors,

 $\beta_{14-17}$  is the two-way interaction of parenting by contextual risk factors,

 $\beta_{18}$  is the simple main effect of time,

 $U_{0i}$  is the intercept variance,

 $U_{1i}$  is the time slope variance,

 $e_{ti}$  is the deviation from the intercept at time for individual *i*.

IDD represents that errors and samples are independent and identically

distributed.

The combined linear mixed regression equation for Study 2 is the following:

$$y_{ti} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 NC + \beta_2 SC + \beta_3 FR + \beta_4 PP + \beta_5 Pdep + \beta_6 I_{\{Control\}} + \beta_7 I_{\{Booster\}}$$

$$+ \beta_8 Sex_{\{Female\}} + \beta_9 Race_{\{African\}} + \beta_{10} Race_{\{Mexican\}} + \beta_{11} NC * PP$$

$$+ \beta_{12} SC * PP + \beta_{13} FR * PP + \beta_{14} Pdep * PP + (\beta_{15} + U_{1i}) Time$$

$$+ U_{0i} + SubID + e_{ti}$$

$$e_{ti} \xrightarrow{iid} N (0, \delta^2)$$

$$U_i \xrightarrow{iid} N (0, \delta^2)$$

SubID 
$$\stackrel{iid}{\rightarrow}$$
 N (0,  $\delta_s^2$ )

where terms are defined as follows:

 $y_{ti}$  is the outcome at time t for individual *i*,

 $\beta_0$  is the intercept,

 $\beta_{1-10}$  is the simple main effect of predictors,

 $\beta_{11-14}$  is the two-way interaction of parenting by contextual risk factors,

 $\beta_{15}$  is the simple main effect of time,

 $U_{0i}$  is the intercept variance,

 $U_{1i}$  is the time slope variance,

 $e_{ti}$  is the deviation from the intercept at time for individual *i*,

*IDD* represents that errors and samples are independent and identically distributed.
#### **CHAPTER IV: RESULTS**

This chapter reports on the results of the data analysis using SAFE Children Project dataset to answer the research questions posed in this study. Since a booster group was added in the second phase between the sixth and seventh waves of data collection, the research consisted of two studies, the first one with data from waves one through five and the second one with data from the post-booster group, with data from waves six through nine.

### **Study One Results**

Study One focuses on exploring the effects on child depression of major study variables (parenting, family income, the use of food stamps, parental depression, the quality of family relationship, school climate, and neighborhood conditions) using Wave 1 to Wave 5 datasets of the SAFE Children project. The data for this study consists of 424 families in Wave 1, including children and their caregivers.

## Descriptive and bivariate results

The descriptive results are presented in Table 4.1.1. At Wave 1, out of 51.2% of children were female, while 48.8% were male. Almost half of the children were African American (42.1%) and Mexican American (47.6%), followed by others (9.7%), including Anglo-white and others. In terms of intervention status, 46.9% (n=199) of children at Wave 1 were in the control group, while 45.1% were in the treatment group. As far as mothers' demographics, mothers' average age was 31.31 (SD = 6.12); 54.9% of mothers did not complete high school. Regarding family income, about 35.6% of families had less than \$10,000, and 50.4% of families had

income between \$10,000 and \$30,000, followed by families with income between 30,000 and \$50,000.

In terms of time-varying variables, the means and standard deviation for child depression, positive parenting, the quality of family relationship, parental depression, school climate, and neighborhood conditions at Wave 1 (Time 1), Wave 2 (Time 2), Wave 4 (Time 3), and Wave 5 (Time4) are illustrated in Table 1. Besides, these predictors had some change in trajectories but did not consistently significantly increase or decrease from Wave 1 to Wave 5. The trajectories of these predictors are presented in Figure 4.1. Pearson correlations between continuous independent variables and child depression were conducted and presented in Table 4.1.2. The quality of family relationship and parental depression had statistically significant associations with child depression at the same wave. Positive parenting was negatively related to child depression at Wave 5. The neighborhood condition was not correlated with child depression.

In addition, whether participants in the treatment group varied significantly from those in the control group were analyzed with respect to child gender, race/ethnicity, mother education at Wave 1, family income at Wave 1, use of food stamp at Wave 1, child depression, positive parenting, the quality of family relationship, parental depression, school climate, and neighborhood conditions. As shown in Table 1.1, results showed that treatment and control groups were similar concerning this demographic information and major predictor variables.

## Rationale for use of MLM with repeated measures data

The repeated-measures (RM) ANOVA approach was used to determine if child depression changed over time. The mean of child depression at Wave 1 was 4.09

(SD=1.14), the mean at Wave 2 was 4.20 (SD=1.07), the mean at Wave 4 was 4.22 (SD=1.15), and the mean at wave 5 was 4.14 (SD=1.09). The Mauchly's Test of Sphericity is used to examine equal means for individual development in child depression over time, and results showed a significant difference (p < .001). Since sphericity is not met, and there are repeated measures for time-varying factors, this study adopts a mixed model approach to investigate developmental patterns in child depression to reduce model residuals.

## Examining the shape of growth trajectories of child depression over time

Typically, individuals are changing at a constant rate over a period of time, which can be represented as a linear growth curve. Results of the RM ANOVA indicated no significant difference in child depression over time, F (3, 1047) = 1.51, p = .21. Results also showed no significant difference between linear time component and child depression, F (1, 349) = .352, p = .55. However, a significant difference between the quadratic time component and child depression was found, F (1, 349) = 4.20; p < .05. Figure 4.1.3 provided a plot of the linear growth trajectory, suggesting that the shape of the average growth trend is linear. Therefore, in considering that children may experience more complex patterns of developmental change, a quadratic component within individuals was added to the model to test for the presence of a growth pattern over time.

A series of time-related multilevel models were examined, as shown in Table 4.1.3. The interclass correlation (ICC) of the null model (Model 1) indicated 16.92% of the variance at the between-person level (Level 2) and the remaining 83.08% of the variance arose from personal change across time (Level 1), which suggests that it is valuable to investigate time-varying predictors that can distinguish levels of depressive symptoms at different times within persons. In Model 2a, a linear function

of time as a predictor was entered and not statistically improved the model,  $-2\Delta LL$ (~1) = .65, p = .42, with AIC and BIC in Model 2a more than those in Model 1. Added random effect and compared with Model 2a, Model 2b with random linear time was better than Model 2b with fixed linear time,  $-2\Delta LL = 13.27$  (~2), p < .005. In Model 3, a polynomial function of time as the second predictor was added and improved the model as a smaller AIC indicates a better model fit,  $-2\Delta LL$  (~1) = 4.02, p < .01. There were significant linear and quadratic change across time (p's <. 05) **Does the time-related slope vary across treatment status?** 

The average child depression score was plotted for the treatment and control group as a function of time (see Figure 4.1.2). Visual inspection of the plot suggested that groups at wave 1 showed a little difference in child depression levels, and the control group increased from wave 1 to 2 while the treatment group showed a small decline after the intervention. Depression levels in the control group decreased from wave 2 to 3, while depression levels in the treatment group increased. However, both groups had similar decreased trajectories of change in children's depression levels from wave 4 to 5. In comparison waves 1 and 4, depression scores increased in the control group and seemed to decrease at a tiny rate in the booster group. In Model 4, a dummy coded variable for the treatment group was added (0 = control, 1 = treatment). Overall, this model showed a non-significant improvement, and the main effect of treatment was not significant (p = .64), suggesting that there was no difference between treatment and control groups in depressive levels across waves 1 to 5. Both interactions of treatment by the time were not significant (p's > .05). No statistically significant intervention effect on child depression was found between the treatment and control groups, but in controlling the tiny effect of interventions, this study adopted Model 4 as the basic, unconditional growth model for further multilevel

analysis. The ICC indicated 29.10% of the variance in child depression due to person mean difference, and 79.90% is due to within-person variation across time.

#### **Results of mixed-effects models.**

A series of follow-up multilevel analyses were conducted next, and the results were shown in Table 4.1.4. Model 4 was taken as a baseline model, and subsequent models were compared against this unconditional model.

## Model 5. Adding time-invariant predictors

Child's gender, child's ethnicity, mother's education at Wave 1, family income at Wave 1, and use of food stamps at Wave 1 were added as time-invariant predictors of the intercept. The model fit significantly better than the unconditional model as indicated by a significant likelihood ratio test,  $-2\Delta LL = 94.3$ , df=7, p < .001; both AIC and BIC were lower. Also, relative to the baseline model, the proportional reduction in level-2 random intercept variance was pseudo-R2 = .0818. Therefore, 29.10% of the variance (.39/(.39 + .95) = .2910) in reported child depression was originally due to between-person mean differences, and approximately 8.18% of it can be explained by the effects of between-person predictors. The effects of these between-person predictors accounted for an additional 4.78% (5.02% - .24%) of the total variance in child depression, as compared with the baseline model. The fixed effects of linear time and time-squared on the intercept were significant (p's < .05). Compared to children of other ethnicities who were treated as the reference group, Mexican American children had substantially lower levels of depression ( $\beta = -.36$ , p <.01). In contrast, African-American children did not show significantly different levels of depression. Other factors did not show significant relationships with child depression.

#### Model 6a. Adding time-varying predictors

Parental depression, the quality of family relationship, school climate, neighborhood conditions, and parenting were added as time-varying predictors for child depression. The model fit significantly better than the basic model as indicated by a significant likelihood ratio test,  $-2\Delta LL = 214.6$ , df=5, p < .001; the AIC and BIC were lower. The effects of these time-varying predictors accounted for an additional 4.18% (4.42% - .24%) of the total variance in child depression, including 5.21% of the repeated variance and 13.59% of the random linear time slope variance. Results obtained a significant positive effect on child depression of parental depression (B =1.00, p < .001) and school climate ( $\beta$  = .27, p < .001), which revealed that higher levels of parental depression and negative school climate were related to higher levels of child depression. Positive parenting was found to be negatively associated with child depression ( $\beta = -.22$ , p < .01), indicating high levels of positive parenting behaviors were related to lower levels of child depression. The family relationship was also negatively related to child depression ( $\beta = -.19$ , p < .005), indicating that greater levels of the low family cohesion and communication indicated low levels of childhood depression. As expected for bivariate correlations shown in Table 4.12, neighborhood conditions did not seem to predict child depression independently. Model 6b. Adding interaction between positive parenting and other within-person

# predictors

The addition of interactions (positive parenting \* parental depression, positive parenting \* family relationship, positive parenting \* school climate, and positive parenting \* neighborhood conditions) did not improve the model, and all interaction effects were not significant.

## Model 7. Final model

The final model was constructed, incorporating all time-varying and timeinvariant predictors to control for significant predictors fully, even if some of the predictors were not significant. Because interactions of parenting with some other predictors were not significant, they were not retained in the final model. Overall, the final model (AIC = 4580.8, BIC = 4661.4) had a better fit than the baseline model (AIC = 4850.3, BIC = 4882.6) and were better than any of other models (all p's < .001). Relative to the baseline model, the effects of all predictors accounted for an additional 8.23% (8.47% - .24%) of the total variance in child depression. Relative to Model 6a, the proportional reduction in level-2 random intercept variance was pseudo-R2 = .1091, indicating the effects of between-person predictors can explain 10.91% of the variance.

Results indicated that both linear and quadratic polynomials were significant in explaining the growth in child depression ( $\beta = .18$ , p < .05;  $\beta = -.05$ , p < .05), which suggested that child depression significantly increased as children grew up, but this effect was not linear, as evidenced by a significant negative quadratic effect. Figure 4.1.1 illustrated the developmental pattern of change in child depression. In this model, treatment status, child sex, the use of food stamps, and mother education at Wave 1 were not related to child depression. Compared to children of other ethnicities who were treated as the reference group, Mexican Americans had significantly lower levels of depression ( $\beta = -.33$ , p < .01), whereas African-American children did not show significantly different levels of depression. Children living in low-income families (less than \$10,000) had higher levels of depression by .26 (p < .05), as compared with children living in high-income families (range from \$30,000 to \$50,000).

In terms of time-varying variables, higher levels of parental depression ( $\beta = 99, p < .001$ ) was associated with increased child depression. Positive parenting was also found to be negatively associated with child depression ( $\beta = .08, p < .005$ ). However, school climate and family relationship were not associated with child depression ( $\beta = .08, p < .10; \beta = -.05, p < .44$ ), after controlling for other variables. Neighborhood conditions were also not significantly associated with childhood depression ( $\beta = .05, p < .34$ ).

### **Study Two Results**

Study Two focused on exploring the effects on child depression of major study variables using Wave 6 to Wave 9 datasets of the SAFE Children project, after the booster group was implemented. The data for this study consists of 363 families in Wave 6, including children and their caregivers.

#### **Descriptive and bivariate results**

The descriptive results are presented in Table 4.2.1. At Wave 6, out of 53.7% of children were female, while 46.3% were male. Almost half of the children were African American (41.6%) and Mexican American (49%), followed by others (9.4%), including Anglo-white and others. In terms of intervention status, 45.2% (n=164) of children at Wave 6 were in control group, while 26.7% (n=97) were in treatment group and 28.1% (n=102) were in booster group. Approximately 20.5% of mothers did not complete high school. Regarding family income, about 23.1% of families had less than \$10,000, and 53.8% of families had income between \$10,000 and \$30,000, followed by families with income between 30,000 and \$50,000.

In terms of time-varying variables, the means and standard deviation for child depression, positive parenting, family relationship, parental depression, school climate, and neighborhood conditions at Wave 6 (Time 1), Wave 8 (Time 2), and Wave 9 (Time 3) are illustrated in Table 2.1. Besides, these predictors had some change in trajectories but did not consistently significantly increase or decrease. The trajectories of these predictors are presented in Figure 4.2.1. Pearson correlations between continuous independent variables and child depression were conducted and presented in Table 4.2.2. Positive parenting, family relationship, and parental depression had statistically significant correlations with child depression at the same wave across time. School climate and neighborhood conditions were positively correlated with child depression at wave 8 and 9. Study 2 examined whether treatment status was different with respect to child gender, race/ethnicity, mother education at Wave 6, family income at Wave 6, use of food stamp at Wave 6, child depression, positive parenting, family relationship, parental depression, school climate, and neighborhood conditions. As shown in Table 4.2.1, results showed that treatment and control groups were similar with regard to this demographic information and major predictor variables.

## Examining the shape of growth trajectories of child depression over time

The repeated-measures (RM) ANOVA approach was used to determine if child depression changed over time. The mean of child depression at wave 6 was 4.27 (SD = 1.16), the mean at wave 8 was 4.20 (SD = 1.23), and the mean at wave 9 was 4.07 (SD = 1.13). The Mauchly's Test of Sphericity showed a significant difference. Results of the RM ANOVA indicated the significant difference in child depression over time, F (2, 602) = 2.727, p < .05, showing a small effect size (partial eta square = 0.011), with a power of 62.9%. Results also showed a significant difference between linear time component and child depression, F (1, 301) = 7.11, p < .01, but a non-significant difference between the quadratic time component and child depression, F

(1, 301) = .08, p = .78. Thus, a quadratic component within individuals was not added to the model to test for the presence of the growth pattern over time.

A series of time-related multilevel models were examined, as shown in Table 4.2.3. The interclass correlation (ICC) of the null model (Model 1) indicated 44.20% of the variance at the between-person level (Level 2) and the remaining 45.80% of the variance arose from personal change across time (Level 1), which suggests that it is valuable to investigate both time-varying and between-person predictors. In Model 2, a linear function of time as a predictor was entered and statistically improved the model,  $-2\Delta LL$  (~1) = 8.92, p < =.005, with AIC and BIC in Model 2 less than those in Model 1. Adding a random time effect was not better than Model 2 with fixed linear time. Therefore, only the fixed linear time was included in the subsequent analyses. **Does the time-related slope vary across treatment status?** 

The average child depression score was plotted for treatment status as a function of time (see Figure 4.2.2). Visual inspection of the plot suggested that three groups decreased from wave 6 to 9. Still, the booster group decreased in the shape of the developmental pattern in a larger part, then the control group, as compared with the treatment group. The booster had lower levels of child depression overall, followed by the control and the treatment group. Also, the control group decreased in a linear shape of trajectory in child depression. As such, it can be summarized that the shape of developmental patterns in depression may occur among children over time. In Model 4, the treatment status was added; this model showed a non-significant improvement. The main effect of treatment status was not significant, F (2, 361) = 2.06, p < .13. However, the booster group seemed to have a lower depression score than the treatment group ( $\beta_{max}$  = -.26, p < .06). Compared with the booster group, children in the treatment groups had higher levels of depression. No significant

difference between booster and treatment groups was found. Eventually, Model 3 with linear fixed time was adopted as the baseline model for further multilevel analysis.

## **Results of mixed-effects models**

A series of follow-up multilevel analyses were conducted next, and results were shown in Table 4.2.4. Model 3 was taken as a baseline model, and subsequent models were compared against this basic model.

## Model 4. Adding time-invariant predictors

Due to a large missing value in mother education at Wave 6, family income at Wave 6, and use of food stamps at Wave 6, only child sex and child ethnicity were added as time-invariant predictors of the intercept. The model fit significantly better than the baseline model as indicated by a significant likelihood ratio test,  $-2\Delta LL$  (~3) = 24.4, p < .001; the AIC and BIC were lower. Also, relative to the baseline model, the proportional reduction in level-2 random intercept variance was pseudo-R2 = .0948, indicating the effects of between-person predictors can explain approximately 9.48% of the variance. The effects of these between-person predictors accounted for an additional 2.92% (4.20% - 1.28%) of the total variance in child depression. The fixed effects of linear time on the intercept were significant (p <.005). Compared to children of another ethnicity who were treated as the reference group, Mexican American children had significantly lower levels of depression ( $\beta =$ -.26, p < .05), whereas African-American children did not show significantly different levels of depression. The booster group was significantly associated with child depression ( $\beta = -.26$ , p < .05), while child sex did not predict the difference in child depression.

# Model 5a. Adding time-varying predictors

Parental depression, family relationship, school climate, neighborhood conditions, and parenting were added as time-varying predictors for child depression. The model fit significantly better than the basic model as indicated by a significant likelihood ratio test,  $-2\Delta LL$  (~5) = 124.5, p < .001; the AIC and BIC were lower. The effects of these time-varying predictors accounted for an additional .68% (1.94% -1.28%) of the total variance in child depression, including 3.69%% of the repeated variance and 3.47% of the random intercept variance. Results obtained a significant positive effect on child depression of parental depression ( $\beta$  = .38, p < .05), indicating higher levels of parental depression was related to higher levels of child depression. Positive parenting had an emerging trend in the association with child depression ( $\beta$  = -.19, p < .06). Family relationship, school climate, and neighborhood conditions seemed not to be predictive of child depression independently over the years, across waves 6 to 9.

# *Model 5b. Adding interaction between positive parenting and other within-person predictors*

The addition of interactions (positive parenting \* parental depression, positive parenting \* family relationship, positive parenting \* school climate, and positive parenting \* neighborhood conditions) did not improve the model, and all interaction effects were not significant.

#### Model 6. Final model

The final model was constructed, incorporating all time-varying and timeinvariant predictors. Interactions of parenting with other time-varying predictors were not retained in the final model. Overall, the final model (AIC = 2872.4, BIC = 2926.9) had a better fit than the baseline model (AIC = 3004.5, BIC = 3028.8) and were better than any of other models (all p's < .001). The ICC for the final model

became 47.42%. Relative to the baseline model, the effects of all predictors accounted for an additional 3.69% (5.97% - 1.28%) of the total variance in child depression. Relative to Model 5a, the proportional reduction in level-2 random intercept variance was pseudo- $R^2 = .0912$ , indicating 9.12% of the variance can be explained by the effects of between-person predictors.

Results indicated that linear time was significant in explaining the growth in child depression ( $\beta = -.08$ , p < .05), which suggested that child depression significantly decrease as children grew up from ages 9 to 12. Figure 4.2.1 illustrated the developmental pattern of change in child depression. In this model, the main effect of treatment status was not significant, F (2, 362) = 1.94, p < .15. However, the booster group seemed to have a lower depression score than the treatment group ( $\beta_{\text{tesere}} = -.24$ , p < .06). Compared to children of other ethnicities who were treated as the reference group, Mexican American children had significantly lower levels of depression ( $\beta = -.51$  p < .003), whereas African-American children did not show significantly different levels of depression. Child sex was not related to child depression.

In terms of time-varying variables, higher levels of parental depression ( $\beta$  = .38, p < .05) were associated with increased child depression. Positive parenting seemed to be negatively associated with child depression ( $\beta$  = -.19, p < .07). However, family relationship, school climate, and neighborhood conditions were not associated with child depression after controlling for other variables.

## CHAPTER V: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

This study examined the growth pattern of child depression and explored the various-levels predictors of depression among inner-city children over time. Two studies on identifying predictors of child depression over time among inner-city children were conducted. This study advances the understanding of familial and contextual factors: identifying parental depression as the most significant predictor for child depression, recognizing the negative association between positive parenting and child depression, and providing evidence that contextual factors (family relationship, school climate, and neighborhood conditions) as statistically insignificant predictors for child depression over time.

This study identified the trajectory of depression in inner-city children aged 6 to 12 years old. Results demonstrated that the developmental trajectory of child depression was not linear overall, as evidenced by a significant negative quadratic effect from wave 1 to 5; however, decreased from waves 6 to 9. This finding was similar to other studies (e.g., de Lijster et al., 2019). In de Lijster et al. 's study of children at ages 1 ½, 3, 6, and 10, trajectories of depression symptoms were low, increasing, decreasing, and increasing symptoms up to age 6, followed by a decrease to age 10. The possible explanation for increased scores of depressive levels maybe that because children at age 6 typically transition to elementary school and would be expected to comply with strict school rules, follow directions from teachers, learn and focus on schoolwork, spend time with classmates, and be exposed to neighborhoods, they may show more externalizing problems and underreport the internalizing symptoms (Thomas & Guskin, 2001). It is noted that this dissertation study does not

examine the trajectories of individual depressive symptoms in adolescents, but Kouros and Garber (2014) have found that depressive symptoms in this population increased linearly over time. In starting with Study 1, this present study showed no impact on the treatment group whatsoever. The initial intervention did not distinguish the trajectories of child depression between control and treatment groups, but the booster interventions that were added as children entered the fourth grade produced effects that children in the booster group showed lower levels of depression than treatment and control groups. In Tolan et al. (2009)'s study, the booster was revealed to improve child aggression and concentration, with additional benefits for high-risk groups in family organization, child behaviors, and academic achievement.

The multilevel analysis results indicated that child characteristics were not associated with child depression after controlling for other predictors, except for Mexican American and children from low-income families. This study also found that children from low-income families had higher levels of depression than from highincome families, which is consistent with findings from previous studies (Hammack et al., 2004). Relatedly, other studies have reported that the more frequently children were exposed to poverty, the greater was their risk for being depressed (Najman et al., 2010). Children from low-income families may experience deprivation of resources and then may feel inadequate and have low self-esteem that, which in turn, may lead to increased rates of depression.

This present study found that African-American children reported higher levels of depressive symptoms than Mexican-American children, which was contrary to findings from previous studies of adolescent populations. Although few previous studies compare rates of depression between African-American and Mexican young children, it is essential to recognize that young children are more likely to act out

behaviors rather than exhibit internalizing problems, as compared with adolescents. For instance, Cowell et al. (2005) found that many of young Mexican children did not report the most typical symptoms of depression.

Consistent with previous studies, the study findings highlight the evident relationship between parental depression and child depression over time (Cuijpers et al., 2015; Letourneau et al., 2013). In terms of the link between parental depression and child depression, the possible mechanisms could be: elevated coping difficulties (Compas et al., 2010; Dunbar et al., 2013), involvement in negative family interaction cycle (Johnson, 2019; Liu, 2003), increased child-parent interaction (Liu, 2003), perceived lower level of parenting competency (Forehand et al., 2012; Parent et al., 2010), as well as children's perceptions of hopelessness (Garber & Flynn, 2001) due to parental depressive symptoms, which could then lead to the development of depression in the child. To my knowledge, most of the previous studies examined the association between parental depression and childhood depression among majority White samples. The results of this present study that highlight parental depression may contribute to the maintenance of children's depression and thus represent a possible opportunity for preventive interventions in an ethnic minority sample of young children.

In terms of positive parenting and child depression, the findings of this study indicated that higher levels of positive parenting were predictive of lower levels of depression in children aged 6 to 8 but seemed not to be statistically significant in later childhood around 9 to 12 years old (p < .06). These findings highlighted the importance of parental support in early childhood and did not confirm the relationship in later childhood. Existing studies have reported inconsistent results for the association between positive parenting and child depression. Some studies insisted on

the negative relationship (e.g., Cupito et al., 2016; DeLay et al., 2013), while others did not find a unique association (Frazer & Fite, 2016).

Meta-analytic studies investigating the relationship between parenting and psychological difficulties in children have contributed to the debate over whether parenting affects children's psychological well-being. Several studies found that parenting accounts for a rather small proportion of variance in internalizing and externalizing problems (McLeod et al., 2007; Rothbaum & Weisz, 1994). These findings ran counter to the common belief that parenting was predictive of the adjustment of psychological difficulties in children (McLeod et al., 2007). McLeod et al. (2007) conducted a meta-analysis of 45 studies examining the relationship between parenting and child depression. The results of this study revealed that parenting explained approximately 8% of the variance in child depression - a relatively small effect size based on Cohen (2013)'s criteria. In other words, some parenting strategies may be sufficient. For example, parental rejection and control played a highly significant role in the development of child depression (Bowlby, 1988; Clark & Ladd, 2000; Garber & Flynn, 2001). Low parental warmth and acceptance may promote a sense of helplessness in children that formulates the basis of negative self-schemas and, in turn, contribute to child depression (Garber & Flynn, 2001). In this way, negative parenting may play a catalytic role among children who are vulnerable to depressive episodes due to other reasons.

However, positive parenting may not play the catalysts among those children if parents only showed warmth abut did not engage much time in their children's life. Positive, supportive parenting could be associated with lower levels of child depression (Brent et al., 2009; Jones et al., 2008), but yet not serve as an influential causal variable directly contributing to child depression. Also, Shamah (2011)

suggested that parenting behaviors should be adjusted across the lifespan of children to accommodate children's developmental changes and needs.

Increased parental warmth may contribute to decreased internalizing problems in young people in the long term (Zhou et al., 2008). Parents would not tell children what not to do, but offer love and support, encourage children to allow to take ageappropriate risks and increase autonomy, help children set goals and solve problems, and support them to manage emotions (Yap et al., 2015). Thus, it is essential to investigate what levels of "parenting" and "involvement" are just right, for who, and at which developmental stage (Yap, Pilkington, Ryan, & Jorm, 2014; Yap, Pilkington, Ryan, Kelly, et al., 2014). We also need to recognize how parents exert appropriate positive parenting over the years, including offering parental support and warmth and parental involvement in childrearing.

Regarding the effect of the family relationship, there were positive correlations between low family cohesion and communication and child depression at each wave. These findings can be reconciled with a large body of cross-sectional research that demonstrates evidence for highlighting the effects of the family relationship on psychological difficulties, including depression (Crawford et al., 2011; Eshbaugh, 2008; Sander & McCarty, 2005; Sheidow et al., 2014). However, the results of multilevel analysis in this present study did not substantiate that family relationship was predictive of change in child depression over time. These findings can be at odds with the notions: (A) enhanced child-parent relationship quality was constantly predictive of child depression (Branje et al., 2010; Moon & Rao, 2010), and (B) interparental relationship functioning moderated the interplay between parental and child depressive symptoms (Papp, 2012). It is noted that, in this present study, without controlling for other between-person variables, low family cohesion

and communication were negatively associated with high levels of child depression, which seemingly contradicted the hypothesis. However, after between-person factors were added, the effect of the family relationship on child depression was flattened. A more likely explanation for consistent findings is the family relationship masked its impact on child depression and which then was counteracted by between-person factors because of the small number of items measuring child depression.

The lack of a significant association between family cohesion and communication and child depression in this present study may be a result of low levels of child depression due to the small number of items measuring child depression. Some children with depressive symptoms in this current study might report positive family support and cohesion, or some children without depressive symptoms might report negative communication, cohesion, and support in the family. Since the small number of items measuring scale and sample size, the relationship between family relationship quality and child depression cannot be captured overall. A larger number of items may allow a statistically significant relationship to be recognized. Besides, some immediate factors would moderate the effects of this association between the quality of the family relationship and child depression, such as the severity of child depression. Said differently, if children showed high levels of depression, poor family functioning would worsen its effect. Conversely, if children are not vulnerable to depressive disorders, poor family functioning would affect their externalizing or other internalizing symptoms rather than depression. However, clinical evidence has substantiated that poor family dysfunction would lead to pathological triangles and then exacerbate depressive symptoms. Increasing parentchild conflict causes stress for children and, subsequently, can result in increased severity of child depression. As such, the effects of the family relationship or

dynamics using multilevel analysis should be further examined to contribute to the existing literature base.

With regard to the link between school climate and child depression, there was a positive correlation between school climate and child depression at wave 5, 8, and 9, which was consistent with prior research (Drew, 2012). In the multilevel analysis, the school climate was not significantly associated with child depression after controlling for other variables. The findings are at odds with other findings: (1) higher perceived teacher support was associated with lower levels of child depression (Drew, 2012; Reddy et al., 2003), (2) higher perceived school connectedness was associated with lower levels of child depression (Drew, 2012; Frydenberg et al., 2009; Shochet et al., 2001), as well as (3) there was a possible relationship between youth-school relationship and adolescent depression (Moon & Rao, 2010). In the existing literature, rather few studies explicitly examined the relationship between school climate and child depression. The possible explanation for inconsistent findings is treatment status and ethnicity may offset the effect of the school climate. Actually, without controlling between-person factors, school climate was predictive of child depression. The alternative explanation for the insignificant relationship in the present study may be a result of a low rate of child depression and a low number of the school climate scale (six items), which would require a larger sample to detect the actual effect in a longitudinal framework. It can be that the larger number of scale items allowed significant results to be captured. According to Drew (2012), alternatively, it may be some dimensions of school climate (i.e., teacher support and school connectedness) are associated with child depression while the impact of other dimensions of school climate may not be as salient to child depression. Although this study did not find a relationship between school climate and child depression over the years, results

suggest future research should examine multiple dimensions of school climate to increase estimating accuracy and further explaining the link between school climate and child depression.

It also should be noted that neighborhood conditions were not a predictor of child depression in this study. This finding was consistent with a study that neighborhood indicators were not associated with childhood depressive symptoms among children aged 8-12 years old (Kemp et al., 2016). However, it seemingly contradicted the results of other existing studies that showed the negative parental perception of neighborhood conditions were predictive of adolescent depressive symptoms (Ford & Rechel, 2012; Richardson et al., 2015). According to the results of the bi-correlate analysis in this present study, the correlations between neighborhood conditions and child depression were not significant across waves 1 through 6 but were significant at waves 8 and 9, with a small size. This study targeted children aged from 6 years to 12 years. Therefore, the possible explanation is the effect of neighborhood conditions on child depression is substantial in adolescence rather than early and middle childhood. Adolescents are more sensitive to and aware of potentially disadvantaged circumstances than young children and then more sensitive to environmental change (Kleinepier & van Ham, 2018). Alternatively, it may be that this study only focused on one dimension of neighborhood conditions (the extent of neighborhood problems), and some neighborhood factors may be associated with child depression, such as the lack of neighborhood support, belongingness, and resources. Existing growing research has revealed pathways to depression in innercity children were formulated from their perceptions of neighborhood disorders (Curry et al., 2008). High exposure to community problems is associated with higher levels of psychological distress, irrespective of children's race/ethnicity background

(Ceballo et al., 2001; Nebbitt et al., 2011), which may disrupt developmental growth in children (Butler et al., 2012; Margolin & Gordis, 2000). Therefore, it is imperative to continuously explore the effects of neighborhood risk factors on child depression over the years.

It can be concluded that positive parenting is not a significant moderator for the associations between contextual risk factors and the development of depression in inner-city children in this dissertation study. Increased positive parenting may be directly associated with decreased levels of child depression, but it does not act as a protective factor; in other words, it does not change the strength of associations between family risk variables and child depression. Based on family systems theory, difficulties in family interactions arise due to dominant positions and power that interact in the relationship, and attachment needs for belonging become stuck or threatened (Johnson, 2019). If negative interaction pattern, together with underlying emotions, still exists within the family system, family members may be continuously stuck in negative patterns or cycles - diminishing quality of family relationship. This pattern may thus hinder their change even if parents strive for enhancing levels of their positive parenting practice, such as increasing the extent of communication. This present study cannot merely sum up that positive parenting is not essential in this inner-city families because positive parenting is a powerful predictor for improving the child-parent relationship. Given that the sample families may be potentially fragile, it is necessary to explore how family dynamics mediate the effects of parenting, coupled with contextual risk factors, on child depression among inner-city families over the years.

In general, this study identified significant predictors for child depression (i.e., parental depression and positive parenting, as suggested by Belsky (1984)'s

determinants of parenting model that highlights the importance of parent characteristics. Due to the limitation of secondary data analysis, this present study does not test all risk factors proposed by Bronfenbrenner's theory. This study also did not find the effects on child depression of contextual risk factors over the years, such as low family cohesion and income, negative school climate, and adverse neighborhood conditions. Future research can explore the influences of children's perception of risk contexts and experiences on child depression using a longitudinal repeated-measures framework.

## **Strengths and Limitations**

This study had several strengths. This study used a secondary data set to explore the predictors of child depression at the levels of family, school, and community. The data used in this study were collected as a part of a randomized control trial research design and were analyzed using a multilevel method to examine the developmental trajectory of child depression in the broader context. Multilevel analysis was used to ensure accurate estimations and illustrating longitudinal dynamics for relationships between predictors and child depression over time.

Despite its strengths, a few limitations of the present study warrant attention due to the use of secondary data. First, this study cannot track the progress of the project and supervise or control the quality of project implementation. As such, this study cannot monitor and validate the data used in the analyses. Second, some of the scales did not capture children's experiences well. For example, child depression was measured by parents' perceptions of children's irritability, sadness, and energy. On the one hand, parents with depression or negative psychosocial status would affect their perceptions of children's depressive symptoms. On the other hand, this scale included limited items, leading to low reliability. This study conducted a factor analysis for the three-item scale,

indicating a unidimensional scale with the appropriate total variances around 40%, which exceeds the minimum variances of 20% recommended by Reckase (1979). The composite reliabilities across most of the waves were over .70. However, measuring multiple dimensions of child depression from children's perspectives would strengthen this study.

Additionally, all measures were self-reported by parents since this study started to survey children aged six years who could not complete the survey at that early age. Single informant data can lead to overestimating the magnitude of effect and inflated association among relevant variables due to shared method variance (Campbell & Fiske, 1959). Future studies can utilize multiple informants and comprehensive confirmatory factor analysis marker techniques to detect and correct method variance and limitations.

Finally, this study targeted low-income families mainly from Chicago's inner-city neighborhoods. The participating families in the study were primarily African-American and Latinx. The generalizability of study results to other families, ethnic groups, and other cultures is limited and should be approached cautiously. In comparison to lowincome families from inner-city neighborhoods with families from other neighborhoods in the U.S and other countries, children from different racial and ethnic groups may have different perceptions about how contextual risk factors influence their depressive symptoms. Future research should focus on examining predictors of child depression and how parenting strengthens the child-parent relationship and influences their levels of depression from a broader cultural context.

#### **Implications for Practice**

The analysis of relationships among positive parenting, contextual risk factors, and child depression leads to the following implications for future practice and policy. Research has revealed a positive relationship between parental depression and child

depression. As such, parental depression should be assessed in order to provide appropriate services to improve levels of parental involvement with children. It would be challenging for parents to engage in positive parenting practice if service providers were blind to parental depression. Although the low family cohesion and communication experienced within the family by children did not emerge as a predictor, the results of bivariate analyses showed the family relationship – family cohesion and communication – was significantly correlated with child depression for each wave (p < .05). Service providers should, nevertheless, consider the impact of family dynamics in order to design and provide appropriate preventive interventions to parents from low-income families.

Given that the SAFE Children project was not designed to serve children with depressive symptoms, family-oriented interventions should focus on improving parents' childrearing knowledge and skills regarding family interaction associated with depression among low-income families, such as harsh parenting and rejection and positive interaction with children. In this study, most low-income families came from African-American and Hispanic groups. Thus, social service practitioners should implement culturally adapted evidence-based practice and consider the cultural discrepancy and competency. It is crucial to develop interventions that target parenting behaviors associated with depression among these special populations, rather than just offer training and collect data for proving the effectiveness of preventive interventions. In this way, these interventions would represent an avenue for future research that may improve the quality of childrearing (Sander & McCarty, 2005).

The results of this study indicated that children from families with less socioeconomic hardship had lower levels of depressive symptoms. For families experiencing high levels of economic hardship, workforce preparedness training should be provided to improve their economic assets. Policies on family asset building and

management can facilitate their capabilities in shielding against financial and economic hardships that are detrimental to children's wellbeing. Parents in this study generally had low educational attainment. It is imperative to create an opportunity regarding the offering of formal or informal education programs for parents as to enhance their parenting competence.

Existing research indicated that many low-income families with multiple cultural backgrounds are referred to therapy to complete the requirements from external institutions and agencies (Boyd-Franklin, 2013; Hodgkinson et al., 2017). They may expect to receive material supports and immediate treatment over therapy services for a certain time. In this way, for those families in need of therapy services, practitioners should develop culturally specific competence, respect the resistance of those families, and employ appropriate therapeutic approaches to address their concerns. Programs to eliminate barriers and improve mental health service accessibility for inner-city families are needed.

## **Implications for Future Research**

Given that this study did not find statistically significant effects on child depression of family relationship, school climate, and neighborhood conditions over time, identifying the impact mechanism of depression in children living in fragile, low-income neighborhoods using the longitudinal repeated-measure research design is highly recommended. On the one hand, the developmental trajectory of child depression can be tracked in a natural context; on the other hand, the proximal and distant predictors of child depression can be recognized across the years. In considering limited existing literature on depression in children living in low-income families, there may be huge variations among children's characteristics and personal challenges they confront in the U.S. It is essential to collect qualitative data using a longitudinal design to understand

their different experiences and recognize most solid, immediate factors associated with childhood depression.

Additional studies can be designed to explore the potential moderators (e.g., family dynamics, parenting efficacy, child resilience) for the association between contextual risk factors and child depression. The results of Study 2 did not confirm the direct effects of positive parenting and family relationship on child depression in later childhood using the data from the SAFE Children project if p < .05 was adopted as the standard to report significance. That is not to say strengthening positive parenting and family dynamics is not important. Regarding how to engage parents in effective parenting practice among low-income families in later childhood, more research should be conducted to identify effective paths and interventions to develop effective parenting intervention programs in natural contexts, coupled with considering developmental characteristics of children. A sequential set of studies can develop population-specific, preventive family-based interventions associated with child characteristics, family socioeconomic status, and family dynamics. In this way, these studies can focus on examining effective factors and strategies to increase effective, supportive parenting and thus decrease levels of child depression within the family system. Moreover, future research can observe how the family systems and interaction of change can be against child depression among fragile families.

#### Conclusion

This study illustrates the growth patterns of child depression, as well as examines whether positive parenting moderates the effect in the association between contextual risk factors and child depression across childhood among fragile inner-city families from children aged 6 to 12. It addresses the research gap in knowledge of the understanding of contextual factors of child depression among low-income families over time.

This study advances knowledge about the role of time-varying factors in children's depression. This knowledge is essential to address inner-city neighborhood issues and reduce health disparities in children living in low-income families. Second, this study increases the understanding of familial and contextual factors: identifying parental depression as a key predictor of child depression, recognizing the positive influence of positive parenting on child depression, and that contextual factors (family relationship, school climate, and neighborhood conditions) have an insignificant role buffering child depression over time. Specific implications for practice and future research were presented to inform practice and research with low-income families and their children.

## REFERENCES

- Abdul-Adil, J. K., & Farmer Jr, A. D. (2006). Inner-city African American parental involvement in elementary schools: Getting beyond urban legends of apathy. *School Psychology Quarterly, 21*(1), 1.
- Ahrnsbrak, R., Bose, J., Hedden, S., Lipari, R., & Park-Lee, E. (2017). Key substance use and mental health indicators in the United States: Results from the 2016 National Survey on Drug Use and Health. *Center for Behavioral Health Statistics and Quality, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration: Rockville, MD, USA.*
- Aisenberg, E., & Herrenkohl, T. (2008). Community violence in context: Risk and resilience in children and families. *Journal of interpersonal violence, 23*(3), 296-315.
- Allen, J. P., Insabella, G., Porter, M. R., Smith, F. D., Land, D., & Phillips, N. (2006). A social-interactional model of the development of depressive symptoms in adolescence. *Journal of consulting and clinical psychology*, 74(1), 55.
- Anakwenze, U., & Zuberi, D. (2013). Mental health and poverty in the inner city. *Health & social work, 38*(3), 147-157.
- Anderson, D. M., Cesur, R., & Tekin, E. (2015). Youth depression and future criminal behavior. *Economic Inquiry*, 53(1), 294-317.
- APA, A. P. A. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (DSM-* 5<sup>®</sup>). American Psychiatric Pub.
- Ardelt, M., & Eccles, J. S. (2001). Effects of mothers' parental efficacy beliefs and promotive parenting strategies on inner-city youth. *Journal of Family issues*, 22(8), 944-972.
- Assari, S. (2017). Social determinants of depression: the intersections of race, gender, and socioeconomic status. *Brain Sciences*, 7(12), 156.
- Attar, B. K., Guerra, N. G., & Tolan, P. H. (1994). Neighborhood disadvantage, stressful life events and adjustments in urban elementary-school children. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, 23(4), 391-400.
- Auerbach, R. P., Bigda-Peyton, J. S., Eberhart, N. K., Webb, C. A., & Ho, M.-H. R. (2011). Conceptualizing the prospective relationship between social support, stress, and depressive symptoms among adolescents. *Journal of abnormal child psychology*, 39(4), 475-487.
- Barber, B. K., Stolz, H. E., Olsen, J. A., Collins, W. A., & Burchinal, M. (2005). Parental support, psychological control, and behavioral control: Assessing

relevance across time, culture, and method. *Monographs of the society for research in child development*, i-147.

- Bardach, N. S., Coker, T. R., Zima, B. T., Murphy, J. M., Knapp, P., Richardson, L. P., Edwall, G., & Mangione-Smith, R. (2014). Common and costly hospitalizations for pediatric mental health disorders. *Pediatrics*, 133(4), 602-609.
- Baumrind, D. (1966). Effects of authoritative parental control on child behavior. *Child development*, 887-907.
- Baumrind, D. (1967). Child care practices anteceding three patterns of preschool behavior. *Genetic psychology monographs*.
- Baumrind, D. (1971). Current patterns of parental authority. *Developmental psychology*, 4(1p2), 1.
- Baumrind, D., Larzelere, R. E., & Owens, E. B. (2010). Effects of preschool parents' power assertive patterns and practices on adolescent development. *Parenting: Science and practice, 10*(3), 157-201.
- Beck, A. T., & Steer, R. (1988). Beck anxiety inventory (BAI). Überblick über Reliabilitäts-und Validitätsbefunde von klinischen und außerklinischen Selbstund Fremdbeurteilungsverfahren, 7.
- Beck, A. T., Steer, R. A., & Brown, G. K. (1996). Beck depression inventory-II. San Antonio, 78(2), 490-498.
- Belsky, J. (1984). The determinants of parenting: A process model. *Child development*, 83-96.
- Berger, R., & Hänze, M. (2015). Impact of expert teaching quality on novice academic performance in the jigsaw cooperative learning method. *International Journal of Science Education*, *37*(2), 294-320.
- Berk, L. E. (2000). Child development (5th edt). Boston and London: Allyn & Bacon.
- Beyers, J. M., Bates, J. E., Pettit, G. S., & Dodge, K. A. (2003). Neighborhood structure, parenting processes, and the development of youths' externalizing behaviors: A multilevel analysis. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 31(1-2), 35-53.
- Bilsky, S. A., Cole, D. A., Dukewich, T. L., Martin, N. C., Sinclair, K. R., Tran, C. V., Roeder, K. M., Felton, J. W., Tilghman-Osborne, C., & Weitlauf, A. S. (2013).
  Does supportive parenting mitigate the longitudinal effects of peer victimization on depressive thoughts and symptoms in children? *Journal of abnormal psychology*, *122*(2), 406.
- Bitsko, R. H., Holbrook, J. R., Ghandour, R. M., Blumberg, S. J., Visser, S. N., Perou, R., & Walkup, J. T. (2018). Epidemiology and impact of health care provider–

diagnosed anxiety and depression among US children. Journal of developmental and behavioral pediatrics: JDBP, 39(5), 395.

- Bokhorst, C. L., Sumter, S. R., & Westenberg, P. M. (2010). Social support from parents, friends, classmates, and teachers in children and adolescents aged 9 to 18 years: Who is perceived as most supportive? *Social development*, 19(2), 417-426.
- Bolland, J. M., Bryant, C. M., Lian, B. E., McCallum, D. M., Vazsonyi, A. T., & Barth, J. M. (2007). Development and risk behavior among African American, Caucasian, and mixed-race adolescents living in high poverty inner-city neighborhoods. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 40(3-4), 230-249.
- Bolland, J. M., Lian, B. E., & Formichella, C. M. (2005). The origins of hopelessness among inner-city African-American adolescents. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 36(3-4), 293.
- Bowen, M. (1976). Theory in the practice of psychotherapy. *Family therapy: Theory* and practice, 4(1), 2-90.
- Bowlby, J. (1988). Developmental psychiatry comes of age. *The American journal of psychiatry*.
- Boyd-Franklin, N. (2013). *Black families in therapy: Understanding the African American experience*. Guilford Publications.
- Branje, S. J., Hale, W. W., Frijns, T., & Meeus, W. H. (2010). Longitudinal associations between perceived parent-child relationship quality and depressive symptoms in adolescence. *Journal of abnormal child psychology*, 38(6), 751-763.
- Brent, D. A., Emslie, G. J., Clarke, G. N., Asarnow, J., Spirito, A., Ritz, L., Vitiello, B., Iyengar, S., Birmaher, B., & Ryan, N. D. (2009). Predictors of spontaneous and systematically assessed suicidal adverse events in the treatment of SSRIresistant depression in adolescents (TORDIA) study. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 166(4), 418-426.
- Bretz, S. L., & McClary, L. (2015). Students' understandings of acid strength: how meaningful is reliability when measuring alternative conceptions? *Journal of Chemical Education*, 92(2), 212-219.
- Brody, G. H., Conger, R., Gibbons, F. X., Ge, X., McBride Murry, V., Gerrard, M., & Simons, R. L. (2001). The influence of neighborhood disadvantage, collective socialization, and parenting on African American children's affiliation with deviant peers. *Child development*, 72(4), 1231-1246.
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1979a). Contexts of child rearing: Problems and prospects. *American Psychologist, 34*(10), 844.

- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1979b). The ecology of human development Cambridge. MA: Harvard.
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1986). Ecology of the family as a context for human development: Research perspectives. *Developmental psychology*, 22(6), 723.

Brooks, J. B. (2013). The process of parenting. New York: McGraw-Hill.

- Bruce, A. E., Cole, D. A., Dallaire, D. H., Jacquez, F. M., Pineda, A. Q., & LaGrange, B. (2006). Relations of parenting and negative life events to cognitive diatheses for depression in children. *Journal of abnormal child psychology*, 34(3), 310-322.
- Butler, A. M., Kowalkowski, M., Jones, H. A., & Raphael, J. L. (2012). The relationship of reported neighborhood conditions with child mental health. *Academic pediatrics*, *12*(6), 523-531.
- Calzada, E., Barajas-Gonzalez, R. G., Huang, K.-Y., & Brotman, L. (2017). Early childhood internalizing problems in Mexican-and Dominican-origin children: The role of cultural socialization and parenting practices. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, *46*(4), 551-562.
- Campbell, D. T., & Fiske, D. W. (1959). Convergent and discriminant validation by the multitrait-multimethod matrix. *Psychological bulletin*, 56(2), 81.
- Cardamone-Breen, M. C., Jorm, A. F., Lawrence, K. A., Rapee, R. M., Mackinnon, A. J., & Yap, M. B. H. (2018). A single-session, web-based parenting intervention to prevent adolescent depression and anxiety disorders: Randomized controlled trial. *Journal of medical Internet research*, 20(4), e148.
- Ceballo, R., Dahl, T. A., Aretakis, M. T., & Ramirez, C. (2001). Inner-city children's exposure to community violence: How much do parents know? *Journal of Marriage and family, 63*(4), 927-940.
- Chao, R. K. (2001). Extending research on the consequences of parenting style for Chinese Americans and European Americans. *Child development*, 72(6), 1832-1843.
- Chum, A., O'Campo, P., Lachaud, J., Fink, N., Kirst, M., & Nisenbaum, R. (2019). Evaluating same-source bias in the association between neighbourhood characteristics and depression in a community sample from Toronto, Canada. Social psychiatry and psychiatric epidemiology, 54(10), 1177-1187.
- Clark, K. E., & Ladd, G. W. (2000). Connectedness and autonomy support in parent– child relationships: Links to children's socioemotional orientation and peer relationships. *Developmental psychology*, 36(4), 485.
- Clark-Lempers, D. S., Lempers, J. D., & Netusil, A. J. (1990). Family financial stress, parental support, and young adolescents' academic achievement and depressive symptoms. *The Journal of Early Adolescence*, *10*(1), 21-36.

- Cohen, J. (2013). *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences*. Academic press.
- Cohen, S., & Wills, T. A. (1985). Stress, social support, and the buffering hypothesis. *Psychological bulletin*, *98*(2), 310.
- Cohen-Cline, H., Beresford, S. A., Barrington, W. E., Matsueda, R. L., Wakefield, J., & Duncan, G. E. (2018). Associations between neighbourhood characteristics and depression: a twin study. *J Epidemiol Community Health*, 72(3), 202-207.
- Comas-Díaz, L. (2016). Racial trauma recovery: A race-informed therapeutic approach to racial wounds.
- Compas, B. E., Champion, J. E., Forehand, R., Cole, D. A., Reeslund, K. L., Fear, J., Hardcastle, E. J., Keller, G., Rakow, A., & Garai, E. (2010). Coping and parenting: Mediators of 12-month outcomes of a family group cognitive– behavioral preventive intervention with families of depressed parents. *Journal* of consulting and clinical psychology, 78(5), 623.
- Cooley-Quille, M., Boyd, R. C., Frantz, E., & Walsh, J. (2001). Emotional and behavioral impact of exposure to community violence in inner-city adolescents. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, *30*(2), 199-206.
- [Record #245 is using a reference type undefined in this output style.]
- Cowell, J. M., Gross, D., McNaughton, D., Ailey, S., & Fogg, L. (2005). Depression and Suicidal Ideation Among Mexican American School-Aged Children. *Res Theory Nurs Pract*(1), 77-94. <u>https://doi.org/10.1891/rtnp.19.1.77.66337</u>
- Cox, M. J., & Paley, B. (2003). Understanding families as systems. Current directions in psychological science, 12(5), 193-196.
- CPPRG, C. P. P. R. G. (1999). Initial impact of the Fast Track prevention trial for conduct problems: I. The high-risk sample. *Journal of consulting and clinical psychology*, 67(5), 631.
- Crawford, N. A., Schrock, M., & Woodruff-Borden, J. (2011). Child internalizing symptoms: Contributions of child temperament, maternal negative affect, and family functioning. *Child Psychiatry & Human Development, 42*(1), 53-64.
- Crum, R. M., Ensminger, M. E., Ro, M. J., & McCord, J. (1998). The association of educational achievement and school dropout with risk of alcoholism: a twentyfive-year prospective study of inner-city children. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol, 59*(3), 318-326.
- Cuijpers, P., Weitz, E., Karyotaki, E., Garber, J., & Andersson, G. (2015). The effects of psychological treatment of maternal depression on children and parental functioning: a meta-analysis. *European child & adolescent psychiatry*, 24(2), 237-245.

- Cummings, E. M., & Kouros, C. D. (2009). Maternal depression and its relation to children's development and adjustment. *Encyclopedia on early childhood development*, 1-6.
- Cupito, A. M., Stein, G. L., Gonzalez, L. M., & Supple, A. J. (2016). Familism and Latino adolescent depressive symptoms: The role of maternal warmth and support and school support. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 22(4), 517.
- Curry, A., Latkin, C., & Davey-Rothwell, M. (2008). Pathways to depression: The impact of neighborhood violent crime on inner-city residents in Baltimore, Maryland, USA. Social Science & Medicine, 67(1), 23-30.
- Cutrona, C. E., Wallace, G., & Wesner, K. A. (2006). Neighborhood characteristics and depression: An examination of stress processes. *Current directions in psychological science*, 15(4), 188-192.
- Dallaire, D. H., Pineda, A. Q., Cole, D. A., Ciesla, J. A., Jacquez, F., LaGrange, B., & Bruce, A. E. (2006). Relation of positive and negative parenting to children's depressive symptoms. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, 35(2), 313-322.
- Davidson, M., & Harris, R. W. (1983). Uncommon sense: The life and thought of Ludwig von Bertalanffy (1901-1972), father of general systems theory. JP Tarcher.
- De Graaf, I., Speetjens, P., Smit, F., De Wolff, M., & Tavecchio, L. (2008). Effectiveness of the Triple P Positive Parenting Program on parenting: A metaanalysis. *Family Relations*, 57(5), 553-566.
- de Lijster, J. M., van den Dries, M. A., van der Ende, J., Utens, E. M., Jaddoe, V. W., Dieleman, G. C., Hillegers, M. H., Tiemeier, H., & Legerstee, J. S. (2019).
  Developmental trajectories of anxiety and depression symptoms from early to middle childhood: a population-based cohort study in the Netherlands. *Journal* of abnormal child psychology, 47(11), 1785-1798.
- DeLay, D., Hafen, C. A., Cunha, J. M., Weber, L. N., & Laursen, B. (2013). Perceptions of parental support buffer against depression for Brazilian youth with interpersonal difficulties. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 37(1), 29-34.
- Denny, S., Lucassen, M. F., Stuart, J., Fleming, T., Bullen, P., Peiris-John, R., Rossen, F. V., & Utter, J. (2016). The association between supportive high school environments and depressive symptoms and suicidality among sexual minority students. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, 45(3), 248-261.
- Denny, S. J., Robinson, E. M., Utter, J., Fleming, T. M., Grant, S., Milfont, T. L., Crengle, S., Ameratunga, S. N., & Clark, T. (2011). Do schools influence

student risk-taking behaviors and emotional health symptoms? *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 48(3), 259-267.

- Dixon, A. L., & Tucker, C. (2008). Every student matters: Enhancing strengths-based school counseling through the application of mattering. *Professional school counseling*, *12*(2), 2156759X0801200205.
- Dixon, S. R. (2010). A study of parental involvement and school climate: Perspective from the middle school Texas A & M University].
- Drew, H. L. (2012). A multilevel analysis of the association between school climate dimensions and adolescent depressive symptoms using the ecological perspective The Ohio State University].
- Dumbrill, G. C. (2006). Parental experience of child protection intervention: A qualitative study. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 30(1), 27-37.
- Dunbar, J. P., McKee, L., Rakow, A., Watson, K. H., Forehand, R., & Compas, B. E. (2013). Coping, negative cognitive style and depressive symptoms in children of depressed parents. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 37(1), 18-28.
- Dunn, E. C., Johnson, R. M., & Green, J. G. (2012). The Modified Depression Scale (MDS): a brief, no-cost assessment tool to estimate the level of depressive symptoms in students and schools. *School mental health*, *4*(1), 34-45.
- Dupéré, V., & Perkins, D. D. (2007). Community types and mental health: a multilevel study of local environmental stress and coping. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, *39*(1-2), 107-119.
- Edlynn, E. S., Miller, S. A., Gaylord-Harden, N. K., & Richards, M. H. (2008). African American inner-city youth exposed to violence: coping skills as a moderator for anxiety. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 78(2), 249-258.
- Edwards, V. J., Holden, G. W., Felitti, V. J., & Anda, R. F. (2003). Relationship between multiple forms of childhood maltreatment and adult mental health in community respondents: results from the adverse childhood experiences study. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *160*(8), 1453-1460.
- Eisenberg, N., Zhou, Q., Spinrad, T. L., Valiente, C., Fabes, R. A., & Liew, J. (2005). Relations among positive parenting, children's effortful control, and externalizing problems: A three-wave longitudinal study. *Child development*, 76(5), 1055-1071.
- Eisman, A. B., Stoddard, S. A., Heinze, J., Caldwell, C. H., & Zimmerman, M. A. (2015). Depressive symptoms, social support, and violence exposure among urban youth: A longitudinal study of resilience. *Developmental psychology*, 51(9), 1307.
- England, M. J., Sim, L. J., & Council, N. R. (2009). Associations Between Depression in Parents and Parenting, Child Health, and Child Psychological Functioning.

In Depression in Parents, Parenting, and Children: Opportunities to Improve Identification, Treatment, and Prevention. National Academies Press (US).

- England, M. J. E., & Sim, L. J. (2009). Depression in parents, parenting, and children: Opportunities to improve identification, treatment, and prevention. National Academies Press.
- Eshbaugh, E. M. (2008). Perceptions of family relationship factors and depressive symptoms in adolescents: What roles do parents and gender play? *Journal of child and family studies*, *17*(1), 127-139.
- Fendrich, M., Warner, V., & Weissman, M. M. (1990). Family risk factors, parental depression, and psychopathology in offspring. *Developmental psychology*, 26(1), 40.
- Finch, W. H., Bolin, J. E., & Kelley, K. (2016). *Multilevel modeling using R*. Crc Press.
- Fitzpatrick, K., & LaGory, M. (2000). Unhealthy Places: The Ecology of Risk in the Urban Landscape. Routledge.
- Fitzpatrick, K. M., & Boldizar, J. P. (1993). The prevalence and consequences of exposure to violence among African-American youth. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 32(2), 424-430.
- Fitzpatrick, K. M., Dulin, A., & Piko, B. (2010). Bullying and depressive symptomatology among low-income, African–American youth. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, *39*(6), 634-645.
- Fitzpatrick, K. M., Wright, D. R., Piko, B. F., & LaGory, M. (2005). Depressive symptomatology, exposure to violence, and the role of social capital among African American adolescents. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 75(2), 262-274.
- Fleming, J. E., & Offord, D. R. (1990). Epidemiology of childhood depressive disorders: A critical review. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 29(4), 571-580.
- Ford, J. L., & Rechel, M. (2012). Parental perceptions of the neighborhood context and adolescent depression. *Public Health Nursing*, 29(5), 390-402.
- Forehand, R., Thigpen, J. C., Parent, J., Hardcastle, E. J., Bettis, A., & Compas, B. E. (2012). The role of parent depressive symptoms in positive and negative parenting in a preventive intervention. *Journal of family psychology*, 26(4), 532.
- Fowler, P. J., Henry, D. B., Schoeny, M., Gorman-Smith, D., & Tolan, P. H. (2014). Effects of the SAFE Children preventive intervention on developmental trajectories of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder symptoms. *Development*
*and Psychopathology, 26*(4pt1), 1161-1179. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579414000170

- Frazer, A. L., & Fite, P. J. (2016). Maternal psychological control, use of supportive parenting, and childhood depressive symptoms. *Child Psychiatry & Human Development*, 47(3), 384-396.
- Frick, P. J., Christian, R. E., & Wootton, J. M. (1999). Age trends in the association between parenting practices and conduct problems. *Behavior modification*, 23(1), 106-128.
- Frydenberg, E., Care, E., Chan, E., & Freeman, E. (2009). Interrelationships between coping, school connectedness and wellbeing Erica Frydenberg. *Australian Journal of Education*, 53(3), 261-276.
- Gadeyne, E., Ghesquière, P., & Onghena, P. (2006). Psychosocial educational effectiveness criteria and their relation to teaching in primary education. *School effectiveness and school improvement*, 17(1), 63-85.
- Galea, S., Ahern, J., Nandi, A., Tracy, M., Beard, J., & Vlahov, D. (2007). Urban neighborhood poverty and the incidence of depression in a population-based cohort study. *Annals of epidemiology*, *17*(3), 171-179.
- Garbarino, J., & Sherman, D. (1980). High-risk neighborhoods and high-risk families: The human ecology of child maltreatment. *Child development*, 188-198.
- Garber, J., & Flynn, C. (2001). Predictors of depressive cognitions in young adolescents. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 25(4), 353-376.
- Garber, J., Keiley, M. K., & Martin, N. C. (2002). Developmental trajectories of adolescents' depressive symptoms: Predictors of change. *Journal of consulting and clinical psychology*, *70*(1), 79.
- Gary, T. L., Stark, S. A., & LaVeist, T. A. (2007). Neighborhood characteristics and mental health among African Americans and whites living in a racially integrated urban community. *Health & place*, *13*(2), 569-575.
- Ghandour, R. M., Sherman, L. J., Vladutiu, C. J., Ali, M. M., Lynch, S. E., Bitsko, R. H., & Blumberg, S. J. (2019). Prevalence and treatment of depression, anxiety, and conduct problems in US children. *The Journal of pediatrics, 206*, 256-267. e253.
- Gilman, S. E., Kawachi, I., Fitzmaurice, G. M., & Buka, S. L. (2002). Socioeconomic status in childhood and the lifetime risk of major depression. *International journal of epidemiology*, *31*(2), 359-367.
- Ginsburg, K. R., & Jablow, M. M. (2005). *Building resilience in children and teens: Giving kids roots and wings*. Am Acad Pediatrics.

- Goldman-Mellor, S., Margerison-Zilko, C., Allen, K., & Cerda, M. (2016). Perceived and objectively-measured neighborhood violence and adolescent psychological distress. *Journal of urban health*, *93*(5), 758-769.
- Goodman, E., Slap, G. B., & Huang, B. (2003). The public health impact of socioeconomic status on adolescent depression and obesity. *American Journal* of Public Health, 93(11), 1844-1850.
- Goodman, S. H., Rouse, M. H., Connell, A. M., Broth, M. R., Hall, C. M., & Heyward, D. (2011). Maternal depression and child psychopathology: A metaanalytic review. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, 14(1), 1-27.
- Gorman-Smith, D., Tolan, P. H., & Henry, D. B. (2000). A developmental-ecological model of the relation of family functioning to patterns of delinquency. *Journal of quantitative criminology*, *16*(2), 169-198.
- Gorman-Smith, D., Tolan, P. H., Henry, D. B., & Florsheim, P. (2000). Patterns of family functioning and adolescent outcomes among urban African American and Mexican American families. *Journal of family psychology, 14*(3), 436.
- Gorman-Smith, D., Tolan, P. H., Henry, D. B., Leventhal, A., Schoeny, M., Lutovsky, K., & Quintana, E. (2002). Predictors of participation in a family-focused preventive intervention for substance use. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors*, 16(4S), S55-S64. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0893-164X.16.4S.S55</u>
- Gorman-Smith, D., Tolan, P. H., Zelli, A., & Huesmann, L. R. (1996). The relation of family functioning to violence among inner-city minority youths. *Journal of family psychology*, *10*(2), 115.
- Gorman–Smith, D., & Tolan, P. (1998). The role of exposure to community violence and developmental problems among inner-city youth. *Development and Psychopathology, 10*(1), 101-116.
- Greenberger, E., Chen, C., Tally, S. R., & Dong, Q. (2000). Family, peer, and individual correlates of depressive symptomatology among US and Chinese adolescents. *Journal of consulting and clinical psychology*, *68*(2), 209.
- Grusec, J. E., & Davidov, M. (2015). Analyzing socialization from a domain-specific perspective. In *Handbook of socialization: Theory and research* (2 ed., pp. 158-181).
- Hammack, P. L., Robinson, W. L., Crawford, I., & Li, S. T. (2004). Poverty and depressed mood among urban African-American adolescents: A family stress perspective. *Journal of child and family studies*, 13(3), 309-323.
- Hammen, C., Brennan, P. A., & Le Brocque, R. (2011). Youth depression and early childrearing: Stress generation and intergenerational transmission of depression. *Journal of consulting and clinical psychology*, 79(3), 353.

- Hari, G. (2017). Depression in Low-Income Adolescents: Guidelines for School-Based Depression Intervention Programs. <u>https://scholarscompass.vcu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1045&context=auctus</u>
- Heberle, A. E., Krill, S. C., Briggs-Gowan, M. J., & Carter, A. S. (2015). Predicting externalizing and internalizing behavior in kindergarten: Examining the buffering role of early social support. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, 44(4), 640-654.
- Heck, R. H., Tabata, L., & Thomas, S. L. (2013). *Multilevel and longitudinal modeling with IBM SPSS*. Routledge.
- Henry, D. B., Tolan, P. H., Gorman-Smith, D., Schoeny, M. E., Zwanziger, J., & Kim, S. (2012). Document Title: Evaluating the Implementation of a Family-Focused Prevention Program: Effectiveness of SAFE Children.
- Herman, B. C. (2015). The influence of global warming science views and sociocultural factors on willingness to mitigate global warming. *Science Education*, 99(1), 1-38.
- Hodgkinson, S., Godoy, L., Beers, L. S., & Lewin, A. (2017). Improving mental health access for low-income children and families in the primary care setting. *Pediatrics*, 139(1), e20151175.
- Hoffman, L. (2015). *Longitudinal analysis: Modeling within-person fluctuation and change*. Routledge.
- Horgas, A. L., Wilms, H.-U., & Baltes, M. M. (1998). Daily life in very old age: Everyday activities as expression of successful living. *The Gerontologist*, 38(5), 556-568.
- Hox, J. (1998). Multilevel modeling: When and why. In *Classification, data analysis, and data highways* (pp. 147-154). Springer.
- Hox, J. J., Moerbeek, M., & van de Schoot, R. (2017). *Multilevel analysis: Techniques and applications*. Routledge.
- Hudson, C. G. (2005). Socioeconomic status and mental illness: tests of the social causation and selection hypotheses. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 75(1), 3-18.
- Inaba, A., Thoits, P. A., Ueno, K., Gove, W. R., Evenson, R. J., & Sloan, M. (2005). Depression in the United States and Japan: gender, marital status, and SES patterns. *Social Science & Medicine*, 61(11), 2280-2292.
- Jaffe, M. (1998). Adolescent Identity, Self-Concept and Self-Esteem'. *Adolescence*, 171-210.

- Jarrett, R. L. (1999). Successful parenting in high-risk neighborhoods. *The future of Children*, 45-50.
- Johnson, S. M. (2019). *The practice of emotionally focused couple therapy: Creating connection*. Routledge.
- Jones, D. J., Forehand, R., Rakow, A., Colletti, C. J., McKee, L., & Zalot, A. (2008). The specificity of maternal parenting behavior and child adjustment difficulties: A study of inner-city African American families. *Journal of family psychology*, 22(2), 181.
- Kandel, D. B., & Davies, M. (1982). Epidemiology of depressive mood in adolescents: An empirical study. Archives of general psychiatry, 39(10), 1205-1212.
- Kemp, G. N., Langer, D. A., & Tompson, M. C. (2016). Childhood mental health: an ecological analysis of the effects of neighborhood characteristics. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 44(8), 962-979.
- Kennett, S. (1980). *The inner city in the context of the urban system* (Vol. 7). London: Social science research council.
- Kim, J., & Cicchetti, D. (2006). Longitudinal trajectories of self-system processes and depressive symptoms among maltreated and nonmaltreated children. *Child development*, 77(3), 624-639.
- Kim, S., & Glassgow, A. E. (2018). The effect of father's absence, parental adverse events, and neighborhood disadvantage on children's aggression and delinquency: A multi-analytic approach. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10911359.2018.1443866</u>
- King, K. A., Vidourek, R. A., & Merianos, A. L. (2016). Authoritarian parenting and youth depression: Results from a national study. *Journal of prevention & intervention in the community*, 44(2), 130-139.
- Kleinepier, T., & van Ham, M. (2018). The temporal dynamics of neighborhood disadvantage in childhood and subsequent problem behavior in adolescence. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence, 47*(8), 1611-1628.
- Kohen, D. E., Leventhal, T., Dahinten, V. S., & McIntosh, C. N. (2008).
   Neighborhood disadvantage: Pathways of effects for young children. *Child development*, 79(1), 156-169.
- Kouros, C. D., & Garber, J. (2014). Trajectories of individual depressive symptoms in adolescents: Gender and family relationships as predictors. *Developmental psychology*, *50*(12), 2633.
- Krenichyn, K., Saegert, S., & Evans, G. W. (2001). Parents as moderators of psychological and physiological correlates of inner-city children's exposure to violence. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 22(6), 581-602.

Kulkarni, C. (2010). The power of positive parenting. Invest in Kids.

- Kuo, F. E. (2001). Coping with poverty: Impacts of environment and attention in the inner city. *Environment and behavior*, *33*(1), 5-34.
- Laird, N. M., & Ware, J. H. (1982). Random-effects models for longitudinal data. *Biometrics*, 963-974.
- Lansford, J. E., Laird, R. D., Pettit, G. S., Bates, J. E., & Dodge, K. A. (2014). Mothers' and fathers' autonomy-relevant parenting: Longitudinal links with adolescents' externalizing and internalizing behavior. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 43(11), 1877-1889.
- Latkin, C. A., & Curry, A. D. (2003). Stressful neighborhoods and depression: a prospective study of the impact of neighborhood disorder. *Journal of health and social behavior*, 34-44.
- Leijten, P., Raaijmakers, M. A., Orobio de Castro, B., & Matthys, W. (2016). Ethnic differences in problem perception: Immigrant mothers in a parenting intervention to reduce disruptive child behavior. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 86(3), 323.
- Letarte, M.-J., Normandeau, S., & Allard, J. (2010). Effectiveness of a parent training program "Incredible Years" in a child protection service. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *34*(4), 253-261.
- Letourneau, N. L., Duffett-Leger, L., Levac, L., Watson, B., & Young-Morris, C. (2013). Socioeconomic status and child development: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Emotional and Behavioral disorders*, 21(3), 211-224.
- Lissuzzo, A. D. (2005). Parent relationship quality and child aggression: The mediating role of family functioning. University of Illinois at Chicago.
- Liu, Y.-L. (2003). Parent–child interaction and children's depression: the relationships between Parent–Child interaction and children's depressive symptoms in Taiwan. *Journal of adolescence, 26*(4), 447-457.
- Loeber, R., Stouthamer-Loeber, M., Van Kammen, W., & Farrington, D. P. (1991). Initiation, escalation and desistance in juvenile offending and their correlates. *J. Crim. L. & Criminology*, 82, 36.
- Lu, W., Lindsey, M. A., Irsheid, S., & Nebbitt, V. E. (2017). Psychometric properties of the CES-D among Black adolescents in public housing. *Journal of the Society for Social Work and Research*, 8(4), 595-619.
- Luthar, S. S. (1993). Methodological and conceptual issues in research on childhood resilience. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 34(4), 441-453.

- Luthar, S. S., Doernberger, C. H., & Zigler, E. (1993). Resilience is not a unidimensional construct: Insights from a prospective study of inner-city adolescents. *Development and Psychopathology*, *5*(4), 703.
- Luthar, S. S., & Zelazo, L. B. (2003). Research on resilience: An integrative review. *Resilience and vulnerability: Adaptation in the context of childhood adversities, 2*, 510-549.

[Record #262 is using a reference type undefined in this output style.]

- Machmutow, K., Perren, S., Sticca, F., & Alsaker, F. D. (2012). Peer victimisation and depressive symptoms: Can specific coping strategies buffer the negative impact of cybervictimisation? *Emotional and Behavioural Difficulties*, 17(3-4), 403-420.
- Madden-Derdich, D. A., Leonard, S. A., & Gunnell, G. A. (2002). PARENTS'AND CHILDREN'S PERCEPTIONS OF FAMILY PROCESSES IN INNER-CITY FAMILIES WITH DELINQUENT YOUTHS: A QUALITATIVE INVESTIGATION. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy, 28*(3), 355-369.
- Margolin, G., & Gordis, E. B. (2000). The effects of family and community violence on children. *Annual review of psychology*, *51*(1), 445-479.
- Marion, V. D. (2017). *Improving Parental Involvement in an Inner-City School* Walden University].
- Mason, C. A., Cauce, A. M., Gonzales, N., & Hiraga, Y. (1996). Neither too sweet nor too sour: Problem peers, maternal control, and problem behavior in African American adolescents. *Child development*, 67(5), 2115-2130.
- Masten, A. S., Best, K. M., & Garmezy, N. (1990). Resilience and development: Contributions from the study of children who overcome adversity. *Development and Psychopathology, 2*(4), 425-444.
- Matheson, F. I., Moineddin, R., Dunn, J. R., Creatore, M. I., Gozdyra, P., & Glazier, R. H. (2006). Urban neighborhoods, chronic stress, gender and depression. *Social Science & Medicine*, 63(10), 2604-2616.
- Mazza, J. J., Fleming, C. B., Abbott, R. D., Haggerty, K. P., & Catalano, R. F. (2010). Identifying trajectories of adolescents' depressive phenomena: An examination of early risk factors. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 39(6), 579-593.
- McIntyre, A. (2000). Inner city kids: Adolescents confront life and violence in an urban community (Vol. 4). NYU Press.
- McKay, M. M., Atkins, M. S., Hawkins, T., Brown, C., & Lynn, C. J. (2003). Inner-City African American parental involvement in children's schooling: Racial socialization and social support from the parent community. *American Journal* of Community Psychology, 32(1-2), 107-114.

- McKee, L., Colletti, C., Rakow, A., Jones, D. J., & Forehand, R. (2008). Parenting and child externalizing behaviors: Are the associations specific or diffuse? *Aggression and violent behavior*, 13(3), 201-215.
- McLeod, B. D., Weisz, J. R., & Wood, J. J. (2007). Examining the association between parenting and childhood depression: A meta-analysis. *Clinical psychology review*, *27*(8), 986-1003.
- McLoyd, V. C. (1990). The impact of economic hardship on Black families and children: Psychological distress, parenting, and socioemotional development. *Child development*, *61*(2), 311-346.
- McMahon, R., Bierman, K., Coie, J., Dodge, K., Greenberg, M., Lochman, J., & Pinderhughes, E. (1999). Initial impact of the Fast Track prevention trial for conduct problems: I. The high-risk sample. *Journal of consulting and clinical psychology*, 67(5), 631-647.
- Merrell, K. W. (2013). *Helping students overcome depression and anxiety: A practical guide*. Guilford Publications.
- Mezulis, A. H., Hyde, J. S., & Abramson, L. Y. (2006). The developmental origins of cognitive vulnerability to depression: Temperament, parenting, and negative life events in childhood as contributors to negative cognitive style. *Developmental psychology*, 42(6), 1012.
- Milam, A., Furr-Holden, C., & Leaf, P. (2010). Perceived school and neighborhood safety, neighborhood violence and academic achievement in urban school children. *The Urban Review*, 42(5), 458-467.
- Miller, G. M., & Tolan, P. H. (2019). The influence of parenting practices and neighborhood characteristics on the development of childhood aggression. *Journal of Community Psychology*, *47*(1), 135-146.
- [Record #291 is using a reference type undefined in this output style.]
- Mojtabai, R., Olfson, M., & Han, B. (2016). National trends in the prevalence and treatment of depression in adolescents and young adults. *Pediatrics*, *138*(6), e20161878.
- Moon, S. S., & Rao, U. (2010). Youth–family, youth–school relationship, and depression. *Child and Adolescent Social Work Journal*, 27(2), 115-131.
- Moore, H., Benbenishty, R., Astor, R. A., & Rice, E. (2018). The positive role of school climate on school victimization, depression, and suicidal ideation among school-attending homeless youth. *Journal of School Violence*, 17(3), 298-310.
- Moses, A. (1999). Exposure to violence, depression, and hostility in a sample of inner city high school youth. *Journal of adolescence*, 22(1), 21-32.

- Murray, K. W., Dwyer, K. M., Rubin, K. H., Knighton-Wisor, S., & Booth-LaForce, C. (2014). Parent–child relationships, parental psychological control, and aggression: Maternal and paternal relationships. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence, 43*(8), 1361-1373.
- Naicker, K., Galambos, N. L., Zeng, Y., Senthilselvan, A., & Colman, I. (2013). Social, demographic, and health outcomes in the 10 years following adolescent depression. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, *52*(5), 533-538.
- Najman, J. M., Hayatbakhsh, M. R., Clavarino, A., Bor, W., O'Callaghan, M. J., & Williams, G. M. (2010). Family poverty over the early life course and recurrent adolescent and young adult anxiety and depression: a longitudinal study. *American Journal of Public Health*, 100(9), 1719-1723.
- Natsuaki, M. N., Ge, X., Brody, G. H., Simons, R. L., Gibbons, F. X., & Cutrona, C. E. (2007). African American children's depressive symptoms: The prospective effects of neighborhood disorder, stressful life events, and parenting. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 39(1-2), 163-176.
- Nebbitt, V. E., Mapson, A., & Robinson, A. (2011). Factor structure and expression of depressive symptoms in a community sample of African American adolescents living in urban public housing. In *Handbook of African American Health* (pp. 129-144). Springer.

[Record #285 is using a reference type undefined in this output style.]

Nock, M. K., Green, J. G., Hwang, I., McLaughlin, K. A., Sampson, N. A., Zaslavsky, A. M., & Kessler, R. C. (2013). Prevalence, correlates, and treatment of lifetime suicidal behavior among adolescents: results from the National Comorbidity Survey Replication Adolescent Supplement. *JAMA psychiatry*, 70(3), 300-310.

Nolen-Hoeksema, S. (2002). Gender differences in depression.

- Nolen-Hoeksema, S., & Aldao, A. (2011). Gender and age differences in emotion regulation strategies and their relationship to depressive symptoms. *Personality and individual differences, 51*(6), 704-708.
- Ofonedu, M. E., Percy, W. H., Harris-Britt, A., & Belcher, H. M. (2013). Depression in inner city African American youth: A phenomenological study. *Journal of child and family studies, 22*(1), 96-106.
- Osofsky, J. D. (1995). The effect of exposure to violence on young children. *American Psychologist*, 50(9), 782.
- Osypuk, T. L., Tchetgen, E. J. T., Acevedo-Garcia, D., Earls, F. J., Lincoln, A., Schmidt, N. M., & Glymour, M. M. (2012). Differential mental health effects of neighborhood relocation among youth in vulnerable families: results from a randomized trial. *Archives of general psychiatry*, 69(12), 1284-1294.

- Pang, R. D., Farrahi, L., Glazier, S., Sussman, S., & Leventhal, A. M. (2014). Depressive symptoms, negative urgency and substance use initiation in adolescents. *Drug and alcohol dependence*, 144, 225-230.
- Papp, L. M. (2012). Longitudinal associations between parental and children's depressive symptoms in the context of interparental relationship functioning. *Journal of child and family studies*, 21(2), 199-207.
- Parent, J., Garai, E., Forehand, R., Roland, E., Potts, J., Haker, K., Champion, J. E., & Compas, B. E. (2010). Parent mindfulness and child outcome: The roles of parent depressive symptoms and parenting. *Mindfulness*, 1(4), 254-264.
- Patil, P. A., Porche, M. V., Shippen, N. A., Dallenbach, N. T., & Fortuna, L. R. (2018). Which girls, which boys? The intersectional risk for depression by race and ethnicity, and gender in the US. *Clinical psychology review*, 66, 51-68.
- Payne, M. (2014). Modern social work theory. Oxford University Press.
- Pettit, G. S., Bates, J. E., Dodge, K. A., & Meece, D. W. (1999). The impact of afterschool peer contact on early adolescent externalizing problems is moderated by parental monitoring, perceived neighborhood safety, and prior adjustment. *Child development*, 70(3), 768-778.
- Piko, B., & Balázs, M. Á. (2012). Control or involvement? Relationship between authoritative parenting style and adolescent depressive symptomatology. *European child & adolescent psychiatry*, 21(3), 149-155.
- Pinquart, M. (2017). Associations of parenting dimensions and styles with externalizing problems of children and adolescents: An updated meta-analysis. *Developmental psychology*, 53(5), 873.
- Power, T. G. (2013). Parenting dimensions and styles: a brief history and recommendations for future research. *Childhood Obesity*, 9(s1), S-14-S-21.
- Propper, C., Jones, K., Bolster, A., Burgess, S., Johnston, R., & Sarker, R. (2005). Local neighbourhood and mental health: evidence from the UK. *Social Science & Medicine*, 61(10), 2065-2083.
- Rabe-Hesketh, S., & Skrondal, A. (2008). *Multilevel and longitudinal modeling using Stata*. STATA press.
- Rapee, R. M. (1997). Potential role of childrearing practices in the development of anxiety and depression. *Clinical psychology review*, 17(1), 47-67.
- Reckase, M. D. (1979). Unifactor latent trait models applied to multifactor tests: Results and implications. *Journal of educational statistics*, 4(3), 207-230.
- Reddy, R., Rhodes, J. E., & Mulhall, P. (2003). The influence of teacher support on student adjustment in the middle school years: A latent growth curve study. *Development and Psychopathology*, *15*(1), 119-138.

- Richardson, R., Westley, T., Gariépy, G., Austin, N., & Nandi, A. (2015). Neighborhood socioeconomic conditions and depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Social psychiatry and psychiatric epidemiology*, 50(11), 1641-1656.
- Ross, C. E., & Mirowsky, J. (2001). Neighborhood disadvantage, disorder, and health. *Journal of health and social behavior*, 258-276.
- Roth, B. J., & Hartnett, C. S. (2018). Creating reasons to stay? Unaccompanied youth migration, community-based programs, and the power of "push" factors in El Salvador. *Children and Youth Services Review*.
- Rothbaum, F., & Weisz, J. R. (1994). Parental caregiving and child externalizing behavior in nonclinical samples: A meta-analysis. *Psychological bulletin*, *116*(1), 55.
- Rothstein, R. (2017). *The color of law : a forgotten history of how our government segregated America* (First edition. ed.). Liveright Publishing Corporation, a division of W.W. Norton & Company.
- Russell, D. W., Clavél, F. D., Cutrona, C. E., Abraham, W. T., & Burzette, R. G. (2018). Neighborhood racial discrimination and the development of major depression. *Journal of abnormal psychology*, 127(2), 150.
- Rutter, M. (1987). Psychosocial resilience and protective mechanisms. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 57(3), 316-331.
- Rutter, M. (2012). Resilience as a dynamic concept. *Development and Psychopathology, 24*(2), 335-344.
- Sagrestano, L. M., Paikoff, R. L., Holmbeck, G. N., & Fendrich, M. (2003). A longitudinal examination of familial risk factors for depression among innercity African American adolescents. *Journal of family psychology*, 17(1), 108.
- Sanchez, Y. M., Lambert, S. F., & Cooley-Strickland, M. (2013). Adverse life events, coping and internalizing and externalizing behaviors in urban African American youth. *Journal of child and family studies, 22*(1), 38-47.
- Sander, J. B., & McCarty, C. A. (2005). Youth depression in the family context: Familial risk factors and models of treatment. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, 8(3), 203-219.
- Sanders, M., & Pidgeon, A. (2005). Practitioner's manual for Pathways Triple P. Brisbane St. Lucia, Australia: University of Queensland.
- Sanders, M. R. (1999). Triple P-Positive Parenting Program: Towards an empirically validated multilevel parenting and family support strategy for the prevention of behavior and emotional problems in children. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, 2(2), 71-90.

- Sanders, M. R., Markie-Dadds, C., Tully, L. A., & Bor, W. (2000). The triple Ppositive parenting program: a comparison of enhanced, standard, and selfdirected behavioral family intervention for parents of children with early onset conduct problems. *Journal of consulting and clinical psychology*, 68(4), 624.
- Sandler, I., Ingram, A., Wolchik, S., Tein, J. Y., & Winslow, E. (2015). Long-term effects of parenting-focused preventive interventions to promote resilience of children and adolescents. *Child Development Perspectives*, *9*(3), 164-171.
- Schafer, J. L., & Graham, J. W. (2002). Missing data: our view of the state of the art. *Psychological methods*, 7(2), 147.
- Schofield, T. J., Conger, R. D., & Neppl, T. K. (2014). Positive parenting, beliefs about parental efficacy, and active coping: three sources of intergenerational resilience. *Journal of family psychology*, 28(6), 973.
- Schuetze, P., & Eiden, R. D. (2005). The relationship between sexual abuse during childhood and parenting outcomes: Modeling direct and indirect pathways. *Child Abuse & Neglect, 29*(6), 645-659.
- Sclare, I., Michelson, D., Malpass, L., Coster, F., & Brown, J. (2015). Innovations in Practice: DISCOVER CBT workshops for 16–18-year-olds: development of an open-access intervention for anxiety and depression in inner-city youth. *Child and Adolescent Mental Health, 20*(2), 102-106.
- Scorgie, F., Baron, D., Stadler, J., Venables, E., Brahmbhatt, H., Mmari, K., & Delany-Moretlwe, S. (2017). From fear to resilience: adolescents' experiences of violence in inner-city Johannesburg, South Africa. *BMC Public Health*, 17(3), 51-64.
- Seaton, E. K., Caldwell, C. H., Sellers, R. M., & Jackson, J. S. (2010). An intersectional approach for understanding perceived discrimination and psychological well-being among African American and Caribbean Black youth. *Developmental psychology*, 46(5), 1372.
- Seiffge-Krenke, I., & Klessinger, N. (2000). Long-term effects of avoidant coping on adolescents' depressive symptoms. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 29(6), 617-630.
- Selye, H. (2013). Stress in health and disease. Butterworth-Heinemann.
- Shadish, W. R., Cook, T. D., & Campbell, D. T. (2002). *Experimental and quasiexperimental designs for generalized causal inference*. Houghton, Mifflin and Company.
- Shamah, R. M. (2011). Parenting children of different ages: Adjusting child rearing practices.

- Shaw, D. S., Gilliom, M., Ingoldsby, E. M., & Nagin, D. S. (2003). Trajectories leading to school-age conduct problems. *Developmental psychology*, 39(2), 189.
- Sheidow, A. J., Gorman-Smith, D., Tolan, P. H., & Henry, D. B. (2001). Family and community characteristics: Risk factors for violence exposure in inner-city youth. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 29(3), 345-360. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcop.1021
- Sheidow, A. J., Henry, D. B., Tolan, P. H., & Strachan, M. K. (2014). The role of stress exposure and family functioning in internalizing outcomes of urban families. *Journal of child and family studies*, *23*(8), 1351-1365.
- Shim-Pelayo, H., & De Pedro, K. T. (2018). The role of school climate in rates of depression and suicidal ideation among school-attending foster youth in California public schools. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 88, 149-155.
- Shochet, I. M., Dadds, M. R., Holland, D., Whitefield, K., Harnett, P. H., & Osgarby, S. M. (2001). The efficacy of a universal school-based program to prevent adolescent depression. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, 30(3), 303-315.
- Simons, R. L., Murry, V., McLoyd, V., Lin, K.-H., Cutrona, C., & Conger, R. D. (2002). Discrimination, crime, ethnic identity, and parenting as correlates of depressive symptoms among African American children: A multilevel analysis. *Development and Psychopathology*, 14(2), 371.
- Skinner, E., Johnson, S., & Snyder, T. (2005). Six dimensions of parenting: A motivational model. *Parenting: Science and practice*, *5*(2), 175-235.
- Smetana, J. G., Metzger, A., Gettman, D. C., & Campione-Barr, N. (2006). Disclosure and secrecy in adolescent–parent relationships. *Child development*, 77(1), 201-217.
- Smith, C., & Carlson, B. E. (1997). Stress, coping, and resilience in children and youth. *Social service review*, *71*(2), 231-256.
- Smith, S. M., Holtrop, K., & Reynolds, J. (2015). Do positive parenting practices moderate parental mental health and child behavior among homeless families? *Family Relations*, 64(5), 606-620.
- Smokowski, P. R., Mann, E. A., Reynolds, A. J., & Fraser, M. W. (2004). Childhood risk and protective factors and late adolescent adjustment in inner city minority youth. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 26(1), 63-91.
- Southwick, S. M., & Charney, D. S. (2012). The science of resilience: implications for the prevention and treatment of depression. *Science*, *338*(6103), 79-82.
- Southwick, S. M., Vythilingam, M., & Charney, D. S. (2005). The psychobiology of depression and resilience to stress: implications for prevention and treatment. *Annu. Rev. Clin. Psychol.*, *1*, 255-291.

- Spano, R., Rivera, C., & Bolland, J. (2006). The impact of timing of exposure to violence on violent behavior in a high poverty sample of inner city African American youth. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, *35*(5), 681-692.
- Spiro, C. N. (2018). *Relationship between maternal and adolescent depressive* symptoms across two adolescent depression prevention programs Rutgers University-School of Graduate Studies].
- Starkweather, J. (2012). Step out of the past: Stop using coefficient alpha; there are better ways to calculate reliability. *Research and Statistical Support, 6*, 6-12.
- Stringhini, S., Berkman, L., Dugravot, A., Ferrie, J. E., Marmot, M., Kivimaki, M., & Singh-Manoux, A. (2012). Socioeconomic status, structural and functional measures of social support, and mortality: The British Whitehall II Cohort Study, 1985–2009. American journal of epidemiology, 175(12), 1275-1283.
- Taber, K. S. (2018). The use of Cronbach's alpha when developing and reporting research instruments in science education. *Research in Science Education*, 48(6), 1273-1296.
- Talati, A., Weissman, M. M., & Hamilton, S. P. (2013). Using the high-risk family design to identify biomarkers for major depression. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 368(1615), 20120129.
- Tavakol, M., & Dennick, R. (2011). Making sense of Cronbach's alpha. *International journal of medical education*, 2, 53.
- Thomas, J. M., & Guskin, K. A. (2001). Disruptive behavior in young children: what does it mean? *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 40(1), 44-51.
- Tiet, Q. Q., Huizinga, D., & Byrnes, H. F. (2010). Predictors of resilience among inner city youths. *Journal of child and family studies*, 19(3), 360-378.
- Tizard, B., Blatchford, P., Burke, J., Farquhar, C., & Plewis, I. (2017). Young children at school in the inner city. London: Routledge.
- Tolan, P., Gorman-Smith, D., & Henry, D. (2004). Supporting families in a high-risk setting: proximal effects of the SAFEChildren preventive intervention. *Journal of consulting and clinical psychology*, 72(5), 855.
- Tolan, P., Gorman-Smith, D., Henry, D., & Schoeny, M. (2016). Schools and Families Educating (SAFE) Children Study [Chicago, IL]: 1997-2008 Inter-university Consortium for Political and Social Research [distributor]. <u>https://doi.org/10.3886/ICPSR34368.v1</u>
- Tolan, P. H., Gorman-Smith, D., Henry, D., & Schoeny, M. (2009). The benefits of booster interventions: Evidence from a family-focused prevention program.

*Prevention Science*, *10*(4), 287-297. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11121-009-0139-8</u>

- Tolan, P. H., Gorman-Smith, D., Huesmann, L. R., & Zelli, A. (1997). Assessment of family relationship characteristics: A measure to explain risk for antisocial behavior and depression among urban youth. *Psychological Assessment*, 9(3), 212.
- Tolan, P. H., Gorman–Smith, D., Henry, D., Chung, K. s., & Hunt, M. (2002). The relation of patterns of coping of inner–city youth to psychopathology symptoms. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, *12*(4), 423-449.
- Tolan, P. H., & McKay, M. M. (1996). Preventing serious antisocial behavior in innercity children: An empirically based family intervention program. *Family Relations*, 148-155.
- Truong, K. D., & Ma, S. (2006). A systematic review of relations between neighborhoods and mental health. *Journal of Mental Health Policy and Economics*.
- Twenge, J. M., Cooper, A. B., Joiner, T. E., Duffy, M. E., & Binau, S. G. (2019). Age, period, and cohort trends in mood disorder indicators and suicide-related outcomes in a nationally representative dataset, 2005–2017. *Journal of abnormal psychology*, 128(3), 185.
- Umlauf, M. G., Bolland, A. C., Bolland, K. A., Tomek, S., & Bolland, J. M. (2015). The effects of age, gender, hopelessness, and exposure to violence on sleep disorder symptoms and daytime sleepiness among adolescents in impoverished neighborhoods. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 44(2), 518-542.
- Van de Velde, S., Bracke, P., & Levecque, K. (2010). Gender differences in depression in 23 European countries. Cross-national variation in the gender gap in depression. *Social Science & Medicine*, 71(2), 305-313.
- Vazsonyi, A. T., Pickering, L. E., & Bolland, J. M. (2006). Growing up in a dangerous developmental milieu: The effects of parenting processes on adjustment in inner-city African American adolescents. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 34(1), 47-73.
- Wagstaff, A. E., & Polo, A. J. (2012). Ethnicity and adolescent depression: Prevalence, access to services, and promising interventions. *The Prevention Researcher*, 19(4), 8-11.
- Waller, R., Gardner, F., Hyde, L. W., Shaw, D. S., Dishion, T. J., & Wilson, M. N. (2012). Do harsh and positive parenting predict parent reports of deceitfulcallous behavior in early childhood? *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 53(9), 946-953.

- Walsh, F. (2003). Family resilience: A framework for clinical practice. *Family* process, 42(1), 1-18.
- Walsh, F. (2012). Family resilience: Strengths forged through adversity. In F. Walsh (Ed.), Normal family processes: Growing diversity and complexity (pp. 399– 427). The Guilford Press.
- Werch, C. E., Carlson, J. M., Owen, D. M., DiClemente, C. C., & Carbonari, J. P. (2001). Effects of a stage-based alcohol preventive intervention for inner-city youth. *Journal of drug education*, 31(2), 123-138.
- Whitchurch, G. G., & Constantine, L. L. (2009). Systems theory. In *Sourcebook of family theories and methods* (pp. 325-355). Springer.
- Widom, C. S., DuMont, K., & Czaja, S. J. (2007). A prospective investigation of major depressive disorder and comorbidity in abused and neglected children grown up. Archives of general psychiatry, 64(1), 49-56.
- Wiggins, T. L., Sofronoff, K., & Sanders, M. R. (2009). Pathways Triple P-Positive Parenting Program: Effects on Parent-Child Relationships and Child Behavior Problems. *Family process*, 48(4), 517-530.
- Williams, D. R., & Collins, C. (2016). Racial residential segregation: a fundamental cause of racial disparities in health. *Public health reports*.
- Wilson, W. J. (2012). *The truly disadvantaged: The inner city, the underclass, and public policy*. University of Chicago Press.
- Witten, K., Kearns, R., & Carroll, P. (2015). Urban inclusion as wellbeing: Exploring children's accounts of confronting diversity on inner city streets. *Social Science & Medicine*, 133, 349-357.
- [Record #202 is using a reference type undefined in this output style.]
- Wrenn, G. L., Wingo, A. P., Moore, R., Pelletier, T., Gutman, A. R., Bradley, B., & Ressler, K. J. (2011). The effect of resilience on posttraumatic stress disorder in trauma-exposed inner-city primary care patients. *Journal of the National Medical Association*, 103(7), 560-566.
- Xu, Y., Wang, X., Ahn, H., & Harrington, D. (2018). Predictors of non-US born mothers' parenting stress across early childhood in fragile families: A longitudinal analysis. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 89, 62-70.
- Yap, M. B., Morgan, A. J., Cairns, K., Jorm, A. F., Hetrick, S. E., & Merry, S. (2016). Parents in prevention: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials of parenting interventions to prevent internalizing problems in children from birth to age 18. *Clinical psychology review*, 50, 138-158.
- Yap, M. B. H., Cardamone-Breen, M. C., Rapee, R. M., Lawrence, K. A., Mackinnon, A. J., Mahtani, S., & Jorm, A. F. (2019). Medium-term effects of a tailored

web-based parenting intervention to reduce adolescent risk of depression and anxiety: 12-month findings from a randomized controlled trial. *Journal of medical Internet research*, 21(8), e13628.

- Yap, M. B. H., Fowler, M., Reavley, N., & Jorm, A. F. (2015). Parenting strategies for reducing the risk of childhood depression and anxiety disorders: A Delphi consensus study. *Journal of affective disorders*, 183, 330-338.
- Yap, M. B. H., Pilkington, P. D., Ryan, S. M., & Jorm, A. F. (2014). Parental factors associated with depression and anxiety in young people: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of affective disorders*, 156, 8-23.
- Yap, M. B. H., Pilkington, P. D., Ryan, S. M., Kelly, C. M., & Jorm, A. F. (2014). Parenting strategies for reducing the risk of adolescent depression and anxiety disorders: a Delphi consensus study. *Journal of affective disorders*, 156, 67-75.
- Young, D., & Limbers, C. A. (2017). Avoidant coping moderates the relationship between stress and depressive emotional eating in adolescents. *Eating and Weight Disorders-Studies on Anorexia, Bulimia and Obesity, 22*(4), 683-691.
- Youngstrom, E., Weist, M. D., & Albus, K. E. (2003). Exploring violence exposure, stress, protective factors and behavioral problems among inner-city youth. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 32(1-2), 115-129.
- Zakeri, H., Jowkar, B., & Razmjoee, M. (2010). Parenting styles and resilience. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *5*, 1067-1070.
- Zhou, Q., Sandler, I. N., Millsap, R. E., Wolchik, S. A., & Dawson-McClure, S. R. (2008). Mother-child relationship quality and effective discipline as mediators of the 6-year effects of the New Beginnings Program for children from divorced families. *Journal of consulting and clinical psychology*, 76(4), 579.

# Appendix A

## **Questionnaires and Scales Used**

Child age				
Mother ages at W1				
Target child gender				
1 = Male $2 = Female$				
Treatment Status				
0 = Control $1 = Treatment$ $2 = Booster$				
Mothers highest education from w1 to w9				
1 = under 7 years of school				
2 = 7-9years of school				
3 = 10-11 yrs of school (some high school)				
4 = H.S. grad				
5 = one year of college (also business & tech school)				
6 = attended college				
7 = college grad				
8 = professional (MA, Med, MD, PhD)				
Fathers highest education				
1 = under 7 years of school				
2 = 7-9years of school				
3 = 10-11 yrs of school (some high school)				
4 = H.S. grad				
5 = one year of college (also business & tech school)				
6 = attended college				
7 = college grad				
8 = professional (MA, Med, MD, PhD)				
Ethnic group which best fits				

1 = African American or Black

- 2 = Mexican American
- 3 = Puerto Rican American
- 4 = Anglo-American
- 5 =other Hispanic
- 6 = Asian American
- 7 = Native American

8 = other

#### Total family income

- 1 =less than \$5,000
- 2 = \$5,000-\$9,999
- 3 = \$10,000-\$14,000
- 4 = \$15,000-\$19,999
- 5 = \$20,000-\$24,000
- 6 = \$25,000-\$29,000
- 7 = \$30,000-\$39,000
- 8 = \$40,000-\$49,000
- 9 = more than \$50,000

#### Food stamps - member of household received in past year

0 = No 1 = Yes

#### Child depression scale

p#poc040	is irritable	1 = Never / almost never		
p#poc043	looks sad or down	2 = Sometimes		
p#poc045	Energy	3 = Often 4 = Almost always / always		

#### Parental depression scale (Beck Depression Inventory)

		0 = I do not feel sad.			
//1 1:001	feel sad	1 = I feel sad.			
p#bai001		2 = I am sad all the time and I can't snap out of it.			
		3 = I am so sad or unhappy that I can't stand it.			
	discouraged about the future	0 = I am not particularly discouraged about the future.			
		1 = I feel discouraged about the future.			
p#bdi002		2 = I feel I have nothing to look forward to.			
		3 = I feel that the future is hopeless and that things cannot			
		improve.			
##h d:002	failure	0 = I do not feel like a failure.			
p#001005		1 = I feel I have failed more than the average person.			

		2 = As I look back on my life, all I can see is a lot of failure.				
		3 = I feel I am a complete failure as a person.				
		0 = I get as much satisfaction out of things as I used to.				
a#bd:004	get satisfaction	1 = I don't enjoy things the way I used to.				
p#bd1004	out of things	2 = I don't get real satisfaction out of anything anymore.				
		3 = I am dissatisfied or bored with everything.				
		0 = I don't feel particularly guilty.				
	fo al ancitar	1 = I feel guilt a good part of the time.				
p#bai003	leel guilty	2 = I feel quite guilty most of the time.				
		3 = I feel quite guilty all of the time.				
		0 = I don't feel I am being punished.				
a#bd:006	faal muniched	1 = I feel I may be punished.				
p#balooo	leel pullisled	2 = I expect to be punished.				
		3 = I feel I am being punished.				
		0 = I don't feel disappointed in myself.				
	feel disappointed	1 = I am disappointed in myself.				
p#ba1007	in myself	2 = I am disgusted with myself.				
		3 = I hate myself.				
		0 = I don't feel I am any worse than anybody else.				
a#hd:008	feel worse than	1 = I am critical of myself for my weaknesses or mistakes.				
p#baloos	anybody else	2 = I blame myself all the time for my faults.				
		3 = I blame myself for everything bad that happens.				
	thoughts of killing myself	0 = I don't have any thoughts of killing myself.				
		1 = I have thoughts of killing myself, but I would not carry				
p#bdi009		them out.				
		2 = I would like to kill myself.				
		3 = I would kill myself if I had a chance.				
		0 = I don't cry any more than usual.				
		1 = I cry more now than I used to.				
p#bdi010	cry anymore	2 = I cry all the time now.				
		3 = I used to be able to cry, but now I can't even though I want				
		to.				
		0 = I am no more irritated now than I ever am.				
		1 = I get annoyed or irritated more easily than I used to.				
p#bdi011	get irritated	2 = I feel irritated all the time now.				
		3 = I don't get irritated at all by the things that use to irritate				
		me.				
	lost interest in	0 = I have not lost interest in other people.				
p#bdi012	people	1 = I am less interested in other people than I used to be.				
	1 1	r · · r · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				

		2 = I have lost most of my interest in other people.				
		3 = I have lost all of my interest in other people.				
		0 = I make decisions about as well as I ever could.				
p#bdi013	ability to make	1 = I put off making decisions more than I used to.				
r ··	decisions	2 = I have greater difficulty in making decisions than before.				
		3 = I can't make decisions at all anymore.				
		0 = I don't feel I look any worse than I used to.				
		1 = I am worried that I am looking old or unattractive.				
p#bdi014	way I look like	2 = I feel that there are permanent changes in my appearance				
		that make me look unattractive.				
		3 = I believe that I look ugly.				
		0 = I can work about as well as before.				
11.1:01.5	can work well as	1 = It takes an extra effort to get started at doing something.				
p#bd1015	before	2 = I have to push myself very hard to do anything.				
		3 = I can't do any work at all.				
		0 = I can sleep as well as usual.				
		1 = I  don't sleep as well as I used to				
	can sleep well as	2 = I wake up 1-2 hours earlier than usual and find it hard to				
p#bdi016	usual	go back to sleep.				
		3 = I wake up several hours earlier than I used to and cannot				
		get back to sleep.				
		0 = I  don't get more fired than usual				
	get more tired	1 = 1 get tired more easily than Lused to				
p#bdi017	than usual	1 = 1 get thed more easily that 1 used to: 2 = 1 get tined from doing almost anything				
	than usual	3 = 1 am too tired to do anything				
		0 Mercure tite in a second than even 1				
		0 = My appetite is no worse than usual.				
p#bdi018	my appetite	I = My appetite is not as good as it used to be.				
		2 = My appetite is much worse now.				
		3 = 1 have no appetite at all anymore.				
		0 = I am no more worried about my health than usual.				
		1 = I am worried about physical problems such as aches and				
	worried about	pains; or upset stomach; or constipation.				
p#bdi021	my health than	2 = I am very worried about physical problems, and it's hard to				
	usual	think of much else.				
		3 = I am so worried about my physical problems, that I cannot				
		think about anything else.				

# Family Relationships Scale - measuring low cohesion, low communication, and low support

p#frs001 my family expects too much of me	
---	--

p#frs002	my family knows what i mean when i say something	
p#frs003	my family doesnt care about me	
p#frs004	i often dont understand what other family members are saying	
p#frs005	if someone in the family has upset me i keep it to myself	
p#frs006	i have trouble accepting someone elses answer to a family problem	-
p#frs008	my family doesnt let me be myself	
p#frs009	my family and i have the same views about what is right and wrong	1 = not true
p#frs011	i am tired of being blamed for family problems	sometimes
p#frs012	i am able to let others in the family know how i really feel	3 = true a lot of the time
p#frs013	my family and i have the same views about being successful	4 = always true or almost always
p#frs014	im available when others in the family want to talk to me	
p#frs015	i listen to what other family members have to say even when i disagree	
p#frs017	family members ask each other for help	
p#frs019	family members like to spend free time with each other	
p#frs020	family members feel very close to each other	1
p#frs022	we can easily think of things to do together as a family	1

## Positive Parenting Practices Questionnaire - measuring warmth involvement

		1 = don't know
	when was the last time that you discussed his	2 = more than 1 month ago
p#psd001	when was the last time that you discussed his	3 = within the last month
	plans for the conning day	4 = within the last week
		5 = yesterday/today
		1 = don't know
	in past 12 months, discussed plans for the coming	2 = less than a month ago
p#psd002		3 = at least once a month
	uay	4 = at least once a week
		5 = almost every day
p#psd003	when was the last time you talked with_about	1 = don't know
	what actually done during the day	2 = more than 1 month ago

		3 = within the last month
		4 = within the last week
		5 = yesterday/today
		1 = don't know
	in the past 12 months have often have you talked	2 = less than a month ago
p#psd004	In the past 12 months now often have you taked	3 = at least once a month
	with_about actually done during the day	4 = at least once a week
		5 = almost every day
p#psd007	does_help with family fun activities	
p#psd008	does_like to get involved in such family activities	
n#nsd000	how often do you have time to listen to_when he	
p#psu009	wants to talk to you	
p#psd010	do you and_do things together at home	1 = hardly ever
n#ngd011	does_go with members of the family to movies,	3 = sometimes
p#psd011	sports events, or other outings	5 = often
p#psd012	how often do you have a friendly talk with _	
p#psd013	does_help you with chores, errands and/or other	
	Work	
p#psd014	do you talk with_about how he is doing in school	
p#psd029	give him a wink or a smile	
n#psd030	say something nice about it; praise or give	
p#p54050	approval	
p#psd031	give him a hug, pat on the back, or a kiss for it	1 — never / almost never
n#nad022	give him some reward for it, like a present, extra	3 = sometimes
p#psu032	money, or something	5 = almost always/ always
n#nad022	give him a special privilege such as staying up	-5° unnost urwuys/ urwuys
p#psd055	late, or doing some special activity	
p#psd034	do something special together, such as going to	
	the movies, to a game	

## Parent Report on School Climate

p#scp001	Teachers/staff sensitive to special needs of children	1 = strongly agree
p#scp002	The staff care about students as individuals	2 = agree
p#scp003	appointments easy with the teachers and principal	3 = neutral
p#scp004	teachers understand parents point of view	4 = disagree
p#scp005	Parents are encouraged to visit for special concerns	5 = strongly
p#scp006	teachers and staff work hard to get parents involved	disagree

p#COM013	dirty/unkempt yards are a problem on my block	
p#COM015	vacant lots are a problem on my block	
p#COM016	morning noise is quite irritating on my block	
p#COM017	night noise is quite irritating on my block	1 = Strongly agree
p#COM018	abandoned/boarded-up homes are a problem on my block	2 = Agree
p#COM019	vandalism is a problem in my neighborhood	3 = Neither agree
p#COM020	burglary is a problem in my neighborhood	or disagree
p#COM021	homelessness is a problem in my neighborhood	4 = Disagree
p#COM022	gangs are a problem in my neighborhood	5 = Strongly
p#COM024	graffiti is a problem in my neighborhood	disagree
p#COM026	drugs are a problem in my neighborhood	
p#COM028	violent crime is a problem in my neighborhood	
p#COM030	crime worsened in my neighborhood in last few years	

CYDS Neighborhood Measure - measuring neighborhood conditions

## Appendix B

# Chapter 2 Literature Review Tables

### Table 2.1

## Protectors and Risk Factors Relative to Internalizing and Externalizing Problems in Inner-city Youth and Children

Source	Study Purpose	Settings	Sample	- Sample size - Gender (% F) - Age (M, range) - Race (Total)	Data and/or Waves	Main Analytical Methods	Findings
Ardelt & Eccles, 2001	Examine the effects of parental efficacy on promotive parenting strategies, children's self- efficacy, and child's academic success.	- inner-city Philadelphia	Inner-city families	- 376 mothers - DNP - 100% F - 252 Black	Cross- sectional Survey with randomized selection	t test, Path model	<ul> <li>Mother's parental efficacy is a stronger predictor of children's self-efficacy and academic success in Black singer-parent households and Black families with a week marriage than in White families or Black families with a strong marriage.</li> <li>Mothers' promotive strategies are not associated with children's self-efficacy and academic success.</li> </ul>
Beyers et al., 2003	Examine associations among neighborhood structure, parenting process, and the development of externalizing behavior.	- Nashville, TN; Knoxville, TN, and Bloomingto n, IN	Early adolescent	- 440 youths - Age from 11-13 - about 48% F - 15% African	Longitudinal data of the Child Development Project; 2 waves	Hierarchic al linear modeling	<ul> <li>Less parental monitoring was associated with more externalizing behavior problems at age 11.</li> <li>Less positive parental involvement and more unsupervised time spent in the community were associated with increased in externalizing behavior across time.</li> </ul>
Bolland et al., 2007	Examine what are the relative levels of risk behavior among African American, Caucasian, and mixed-race adolescents and how race moderate the relationship between hopelessness and risk behavior among adolescents.	13 most impoverishe d neighborhoo ds in the Mobile, Alabama Metropolita n Statistical Area	adolescents	- 13448 - M ages 12.6- 13.6 - 46.7%-50.6% F - 93.1% African	A longitudinal design with 6 waves	Linear mixed model	Compared to Caucasian or mixed-race adolescents, African American adolescents are less likely to engage in risk behaviors, and that hopelessness has a less important impact on their behaviors.
Bubier et al. 2009	Examine how autonomic functioning moderates the relations between contextual factors and externalizing behavior.	- DNP	Inner-city children and their caregivers	- 57 children - M age for children =10.7 - 50% Female children and 84% bio mothers	A larger research program designed to follow contextually	t-test, regression analysis	<ul> <li>Baseline sympathetic functioning moderated the relations between neighborhood cohesion and externalizing behaviors.</li> <li>Baseline sympathetic functioning moderated the relations between neighborhood harsh parental behaviors and externalizing behaviors.</li> </ul>

				- 4% African American	at-risk children and caregivers over time; 2 waves		
Cooley - Quille et al. 2001	Investigate the emotional and behavioral impacts of exposure to community violence.	- DNP	Inner-city high school students	- 185 students; - M age =15.4 years; - 42% F; - 90% African American)	Cross- sectional survey	t-test, Chi square test, ANCOVA, MANCOV A, correlation , Regression analysis	<ul> <li>Youth with high levels of community violence exposure reported more fears, anxiety, internalizing behavior, and negative life experiences.</li> <li>No depression and externalizing behavior were observed between high versus low exposure.</li> <li>Male youth reported higher levels of community violence.</li> <li>Youth exposed to high levels of community violence had lower baseline heart rates than those with low exposure through watching a montage of media violence.</li> <li>Community violence exposure predicted posttraumatic stress and separation anxiety symptoms.</li> </ul>
Crum et al., 1998	Examine the impact of educational attainment, school dropout and early school adaptation on the development of alcohol abuse and dependence in adulthood.	Poor black community in Chicago's southside	a sample consisted of first graders in 1966-77 were interviewed at 1992-93.	- 953 - ages 32-33 - 52.2%F - 100% African	A 25-year prospective study	Logistic regression model	- Early predictions of an alcohol use disorder in adulthood included early reports of underachievement in the first grade, dropping out of high school, whether the family set definite rules about school during adolescent, and how often the adolescent worked on homework with his/her family.
Dubow et al., 1997	Examine the contribution of life stressors, neighborhood disadvantage, and resources to inner-city children's adjustment	- a midsize Midwestern city	Inner-city children (4th, 5th and 6th graders)	- 315 - M age=10.93 - 52% F - 46% African American	Cross- sectional Survey	Correlatio ns; Hierarchic al regression analysis	<ul> <li>Unique contributions of stress events and neighborhood disadvantage to predicting antisocial behavior.</li> <li>Higher levels of self-worth and family support were related to lower levels of antisocial behavior.</li> <li>Higher level of peer support was related to higher levels of antisocial behavior.</li> <li>Family support buffered the relation between stressful events and antisocial behavior.</li> <li>Peer support exacerbated the effect of stressors on behavioral maladjustment.</li> </ul>
Dubow et al. 2001	Assess the contributions of variables to positive expectation for the future	- a midsize Midwestern city	Inner-city children	- 95 - grader 6 through 8 - 59% F - 27% African American; 13% Hispanic.	Pregnancy prevention intervention study; two time points	Correlatio ns; Hierarchic al regression analysis	<ul> <li>Higher levels of positive expectations for the future were related to lower levels of problem behaviors and peer negative influences, as well as higher levels of school involvement, internal resources, and social support.</li> <li>Higher levels of Time 1 problem behaviors and peer negative influences predicted decreases over 9 months in positive expectations for the future.</li> <li>Higher levels of family support and problem-solving efficacy predicted increases in positive expectation.</li> </ul>
Edlynn et al. 2008	Examine types of coping as either protective or vulnerability factors for	inner-city public	inner-city school sixth graders	- 240 - DNP - 60% F	A part of a larger study using	Hierarchic al multiple	<ul> <li>Avoidant coping interacted with exposure to violence to predict reduction in anxiety.</li> <li>Approach coping was unrelated to anxiety.</li> </ul>

	youth exposed to community violence.	school in Chicago		- 100% African American	experience sampling method; at time 1.	regression analysis	
Florsheim et al. (1998)	Examine if and how differences in the function of single-mother and two- parent families relate to the occurrence of boys' behavioral problems.	Chicago Public school system.	Inner-city boys	<ul> <li>195 families</li> <li>M age was 12.5; Ages 10 - 15</li> <li>0% girls;</li> <li>122 African American; 73 Latino families.</li> </ul>	A cross- sectional study of inner-city minority boys;	Chi-square test, MANOVA , Hierarchic al multiple regression analysis	<ul> <li>multiple family risk factors contribute to the occurrence of behavior problems.</li> <li>Most family risk factors were generalizable to both single-mother and two-parent families.</li> <li>Boys in single-mother were at greater risk for developing behavior problems than boys in two-parent families.</li> <li>the risks associated with single mother were offset by structured family environment, effective disciplinary strategy, and positive involvement of a male family member.</li> <li>no all differences in the functioning of single-mother and two-parent families were associated with problem behavior.</li> </ul>
Gorman-Smith & Tolan, 1998	Examine the relations between exposure to violence, family relationship characteristics and parenting practices, and aggression and depression symptoms.	Economicall y disadvantag ed inner-city neighborhoo ds in Chicago	inner-city boys from the fifth and seventh grade classrooms in 17 Chicago public schools.	<ul> <li>- 245 boys and caregivers</li> <li>- DNP</li> <li>- 0% girls</li> <li>- 100% African- American and Latino</li> </ul>	Data from a longitudinal study of Chicago Youth Development; 2 waves	Correlatio ns; Hierarchic al regression analysis	<ul> <li>Family relationship and parenting characteristics could not predict rates of exposure to violence.</li> <li>Exposure to community violence was related to increases in aggressive behavior and depression over a 1-year.</li> </ul>
Gorman- Smith, Tolan, & Huesmann, 1996	Examine the relationship between family influences and participation in violent and nonviolent delinquent behaviors.	Economicall y disadvantag ed inner-city neighborhoo ds in Chicago	inner-city boys from the fifth and seventh grade classrooms in 17 Chicago public schools.	- 362 - 0% - 100% African American and Latino	Data from a longitudinal study of Chicago Youth Development; 1 wave	Chi-square test, Analysis of variance, correlation s, Multivariat e analysis of variance, factor analysis	- Families in the violent delinquent group reported poorer discipline, less cohesion and less involvement than the nonoffenders and nonviolent offender groups.
Gorman-Smith et al., 2004	Examine the risk of exposure to community violence in relation to violence perpetration and the role that family functioning plays in moderating the risk.	17 Chicago public school located in poor communitie s in Chicago	African American and Latino male youth living in inner-city neighborhood s	- 263 - Ages 11-15 at the first wave - 0% F - 100% African American and Latino	A longitudinal Chicago Youth Development study; six waves	Simultane ous linear model and logistic regression model	<ul> <li>Youth from struggling families (poor parenting practices and low levels of emotional cohesion) were more likely to be exposed to community violence.</li> <li>There was a relation between violence exposure and violence perpetration.</li> <li>Youth exposed to higher community violence but living in well-functioned families perpetrated less violence than similarly exposed youth from less well-functioning families.</li> </ul>

Hammack et al., 2004	Assess whether social support factors as moderators for the relationship between community violence exposure and internalizing symptoms over time.	Six public school in inner-city Chicago	Inner-city public school African American six graders	- 196 - DNP - DNP - 100% African American	A longitudinal data with the use of surveys and experience sampling method; 2 waves	Correlatio ns, Hierarchic al multiple regression analyses	<ul> <li>Social support moderated the relation between the risk factors and outcomes.</li> <li>Protective-stabilizing effects occurred more for witnessing violence, whereas promotive-reactive patterns occurred more for victimization.</li> </ul>
Harris et al. 2017	Assess bidirectional relationships among supportive parenting, negative parenting, and deviance.	High- poverty neighborhoo ds in the city of Mobile and the neighboring town of Prichard, Alabama	Poor, inner- city African American youth	- 5, 325 - age 11-19 - 48.5% females - 100% African American	A Mobile Youth Survey over 4 years; four waves	Cross- lagged path analysis	- Significant bidirectional paths among parenting process (knowledge and permissiveness) and deviance over time.
Hoglund et al., 2015	Examine directional associations between parent involvement in schooling and child adjustment.	18 inner- city elementary schools located in a large metropolita n city in northeastern United States	A low- income, racially/ethni cally diverse children (3th and 4th graders) and their parents	<ul> <li>- 941 children</li> <li>- M age for children=8.16, and M age for parents=35.28</li> <li>- 50,1% girls and 83.9% mothers.</li> <li>- 39.6% Black/African American, 47.6% Hispanic/Latino</li> </ul>	A 3-year school- randomized evaluation of a universal, school-wide social- emotional and academic learning program; 3 waves	Discrete- time autoregres sive, cross- lagged regression models	<ul> <li>Parent showed higher prospective levels of homework assistance and home-school conferencing but lower levels of school-based support.</li> <li>Academic competence and aggressive behaviors consistently mediately the effects of economic hardship on prospective parent involvement.</li> </ul>
Jones et al., 2002	Examine whether maternal optimism is related to positive parenting and child adjustment and whether it contributes beyond maternal depressive symptoms to our understanding.	Inner-city New Orleans	African American single mothers and one of their children	- 141 pairs - M age for mother=35.85, M age for child=11.60 - 49% girls - 100% African American	A longitudinal data; two waves	Correlatio ns and hierarchica l regression analysis	<ul> <li>Maternal optimism was associated with positive parenting and this association was only partially mediated by maternal depressive symptoms.</li> <li>Maternal optimism was not associated with child psychosocial adjustment, but positive parenting was associated with lower levels of both internalizing and externalizing difficulties.</li> </ul>
Jones et al., 2008	Examine the association between parenting behaviors and major child outcomes.	DNP	Inner-city African American mothers and their school age children	- 196 pairs - M age for child=8.86, M age for mother =32.5 - 54% girls - 100% African	A secondary longitudinal data from the Family Health Project; 2 waves	Hierarchic al regression Analysis	<ul> <li>Maternal warmth was a stronger predictor of decreases in child aggressive behavior than of decreases in depressive symptoms.</li> <li>Maternal warmth was a stronger predictor of decreases in depressive behavior than was maternal supervision.</li> </ul>

Kliewer & Kung 1998	Examine family moderators of the relation between everyday stressors and behavior problems.	Moderate- to high- violence areas of Richmond, Virginia.	Inner-city children and mothers	<ul> <li>- 99 pairs</li> <li>- M age for child=10.7, ages</li> <li>8-12; M age for mother = 35.37.</li> <li>- 59.50% girls</li> <li>- 96% African American</li> </ul>	A part of a larger study assessing the effects of community violence on school-age youth.	Correlatio nal analysis, hierarchica l multiple regression analysis	<ul> <li>Higher levels of cohesion and routines attenuated the relation between hassles and both internalizing and externalizing problem behaviors.</li> <li>High family conflict exacerbated the risk for adjustment difficulties.</li> <li>For externalizing behavior, higher levels of family adaptability protected children from the impact of daily hassles.</li> <li>Social support from the mother did not moderate the hassle- adjustment association.</li> </ul>
kliewer & Kung 1998	Explore protective factors that moderate relations between community violence exposure and subsequent internalizing and externalizing adjustment problems.	high- violence areas of a mid-sized southeastern city	African American female caregivers and one of their children	<ul> <li>- 101 pairs</li> <li>- M age for child=11.14, age 9-13</li> <li>- 45% girls, 89% mothers.</li> <li>- 100% African</li> </ul>	A two times survey; 2 waves	Regression analysis	<ul> <li>Child emotion regulation skill, felt acceptance from caregiver, observed quality of caregiver-child interaction, and caregiver regulation of emotion each were protective.</li> <li>But the pattern of protection differed across level of the child's ecology and from of adjustment.</li> </ul>
Krenichyn et al., 2001	Examine parent as moderator for relations between children's exposure to violence and child outcome.	8 public housing developmen ts clustered in New York City's East Harlem neighborhoo d	Inner-city children and parents or caregivers	<ul> <li>- 40 pairs</li> <li>- Child age 7-12.</li> <li>- 47.5% girls, 100% F for parents or caregivers</li> <li>- 60% African</li> </ul>	Cross- sectional survey	Stepwise regression analysis, a series of simultaneo us regression analysis	<ul> <li>Community violence exposure related to distress, posttraumatic symptomology, and incompetence.</li> <li>Harsh parenting related to aggression, distress, incompetence, and higher heart rates.</li> <li>Parenting moderated but did not mediate the effects of violence on competence.</li> <li>High violence and harsh parenting predicted lower level of systolic and diastolic blood pressure.</li> </ul>
Lagana 2004	examine protective factors (peer support, adult support, family cohesion, family adaptability, satisfaction with family cohesion, and satisfaction with family adaptability) for inner-city adolescent at risk of school dropout.	an Inner- city high school in Baltimore.	Inner-city adolescents at risk of school dropout	- 194 - DNP - DNP - 100% African	A cross- sectional survey.	Discrimina nt function analysis	Family cohesion, adult support, and peer support were predictors of group membership (low risk, medium risk, and high risk).
Leadbeater & Bishop, 1994	Examine predictors of behavior problems in preschool children of adolescent mothers.	DNP	Preschool children of Inner-city Afro- American and Puerto Rican Adolescent mothers	<ul> <li>120 pairs</li> <li>Mean adolescent mother=17.1 (age 13-19)</li> <li>100% F</li> <li>56.6% Afro- American</li> </ul>	- A longitudinal data; five times	Correlatio ns and hierarchica l regression analysis	<ul> <li>Significant correlations were found between child behavior scores and maternal depressive symptoms, social supports, and life stress.</li> <li>Maternal depressive symptoms, residence with the adolescent's mother, and perceived emotional support from friends contributed most to child behavior problems.</li> <li>African American mothers of male children reported more behavioral problems.</li> </ul>

Madden- Derdich et al., 2002	Explore youths' and parents' perceptions of family interaction process as well as the broader social and cultural factors that influence family functioning.	Department for youth treatment and rehabilitatio n.	A multiethnic sample of inner-city families with delinquent youth.	<ul> <li>- 61 male youth and 33 parents</li> <li>- M age for youth=15.76 (age 13-18), M age for parents ranged from 39.37-68.5</li> <li>- 0% girls, 27 mothers</li> <li>- 54% Hispanic, 10% African</li> </ul>	In-depth interviews	Qualitative data analyses	<ul> <li>Family interaction processes (communication and conflict resolution patterns, parent-child relationship quality, and parenting practices) was related to problematic and delinquent behavior in youths.</li> <li>Parents were more focused on altering the child's behavior, but children emphasized the need to alter interaction processes and behaviors within the immediate family system (e.g., conflict, parent-child relationships, alcohol and drug use).</li> <li>Youth participants identified family-related issues (poor communication, interpersonal conflict, a lack of parental concerns, and drug use) as the primary factors that precluded positive changed, but parents were most likely to identify child- related behaviors and characteristics as preventing positive change.</li> </ul>
McKay et al., 2003	Examine relations between at-school parental involvement and at-home involvement and contextual variables as mediators for the relationship between at- home and at-school parent involvement.	an inner-city community of a large Mid- western city characterize d by poverty and low-rise federally subsidized housing	Parents of Inner-city African American youth who attended an inner-city Kindergarten through 8th grade.	<ul> <li>161 parents and</li> <li>18 teachers</li> <li>DNP</li> <li>DNP</li> <li>100% African</li> <li>parents and 11</li> <li>African teachers</li> </ul>	Cross- sectional Survey	Bivariate correlation al analysis, multiple regression, MANOVA	<ul> <li>Parental reports of racism awareness and contact with school staff were correlated with parent reports of at-home and at-school involvement.</li> <li>Parent reports of social support were related to at-home involvement only.</li> <li>Parents reported more formal contacts with school staff and higher levels of racism awareness, religiosity and African American cultural pride, relative to teacher reports.</li> <li>Teachers and parents agreed on school climate and parental levels of at-home and at-school involvement.</li> </ul>
McKay et al., 2005	Identify the mental health needs of urban youth, examine the relationship between child mental health needs and trauma exposure, and examine the mental health service involvement of these children.	An inner- city child mental health clinic	Inner-city youth	- 95 - ages 3-17 - 40% F - 87.4% African	A single- group, cross- sectional study	Bivariate correlation s, multiple regression model	<ul> <li>Youth presented with multiple mental health issues related to individual functioning and interaction with family.</li> <li>Trauma exposure was significantly correlated with the number of mental health issues.</li> <li>Trauma exposure was significantly explained by family-level mental health issues and stressors and age of the child.</li> <li>low rates of ongoing service involvement despite multiple, complex presenting mental health issues and significant levels of trauma exposure.</li> </ul>
Mersky et al., 2009	Examine associations between individual, family and extrafamilial factors and the likelihood of subsequent childhood and adolescent maltreatment.	Inner-city Chicago	minority children from low-income families.	- 1411 - Ages 6-17 - 50.2% - 93.1% Black,	Longitudinal study	Probit regressions	<ul> <li>Maternal age at the child's birth was a robust predictor of maltreatment outcomes.</li> <li>Receipt of public assistance and single-parent family status were associated with neglect.</li> <li>Parent participation in school was negatively associated with most maltreatment outcomes.</li> <li>Participation in Chicago Child-Parent Center program was negatively associated with maltreatment.</li> </ul>
Myers et al., 1992	Examine the contributions of maternal psychological distress, family stress load,	the predominant ly black and	Inner-city Black primary-	- 411 pairs - M age=6.3 (ages 6-8), M age	A longitudinal study of a culturally	Zero-order correlation s,	<ul> <li>Maternal psychological distress and high family stress load were associated with high child behavior problems.</li> <li>Family coping strategies offered no protection against risk,</li> </ul>

	maternal and family risk factors, and family coping strategies in predicting behavior problems.	Hispanic inner-city community of South- central Los Angeles	grade children and mothers	for mother=30.26 (ages 20-54) - 54.74 girls, 100% mothers - 100% Black	adapted parent-training program; 3 waves	hierarchica l regressions	<ul> <li>while coping with life difficulties by reframing them was detrimental to child behavioral adjustment.</li> <li>Active help-seeking strategies (i.e., family mobilization, acquiring social support) served to moderate the effects of maternal psychological distress and family risk attributes for boys, but exacerbated the effects dysfunctional maternal social and psychiatric histories for girls.</li> </ul>
O'Donnell et al., 2009	Examine relationships between parenting status and multiple forms of violence perpetration	3 high- poverty middle schools in New York city	Inner-city young adults in high- poverty environments	- 990 - Mean ages 23- 23.4 - DNP - About 75% Non-Hispanic Black, About 15% Hispanic	A cross- sectional study using second wave of a longitudinal data (Reach for Health study)	Bivariate analysis and logistic regression analysis	<ul> <li>Parenting did not reduce young adults' perpetration of violence.</li> <li>Among young men, parenting was associated with violence toward themselves but not with violence toward partners or others.</li> <li>Among young women, violence perpetration did not differ by parenting status.</li> <li>Community violence was associated with violence toward others for both genders.</li> <li>For young men, community violence was associated with violence toward partners.</li> </ul>
Outley et al., 2002	Gain insight into how parenting strategies affect African-American children's leisure experiences.	Third Ward of Houston, Texas.	African- American children in the socially isolated urban neighborhood s	- 43 - ages 10-12 - DNP - 100% African	An interviewing survey with purposive sampling over a 14-month period	Qualitative data analyses	<ul> <li>Four themes regarding parenting strategies: utilization of kinship networks, serving as arrangers of leisure activities, isolation and confinement, and chaperonage.</li> <li>These parenting strategies allowed children to participate in mainstream leisure activities, despite risks presenting in their neighborhood.</li> <li>Parental restrictions on children's social interactions with peers and others perceived to be undesirable curtailed the range of leisure for some children.</li> </ul>
Salzinger et al., 2006	Explore how family and household context, parenting, peer relations, and children's characteristics contribute to risk for exposure to community violence for early adolescents.	32 school districts in New York City	Early adolescents living in high-risk neighborhood s.	- 667 - Ages 11-14 - 49.78% F - 65% Hispanic, 32% Black.	A longitudinal design; two waves	Structural model	<ul> <li>Family and household context, negative parenting, deviant behavior of friends, and the children's own behavioral characteristics and cognition contributed to the children's risk for exposure 1 year later.</li> <li>Deviant behavior of friends and the children's own behavior and cognition were found to mediate the effects of stressful family and household context and negative parenting on later risk for exposure.</li> </ul>
Salzinger et al., 2008	Examine the role of aggression in adaptation to family and community violence.	32 school districts in New York City	Early adolescents living in high-risk neighborhood s.	- 667 - Ages 11-14 - 49.78% F - 65% Hispanic, 32% Black.	A longitudinal design; 3 waves.	Linear regression model	<ul> <li>The association between Year 1 exposure to family and community violence and Year 2 aggression was mediated by aggression occurring contemporaneously with Year 1 exposure.</li> <li>Cognitive justification of aggression and friend's delinquency made small independent contributions to prediction of Year 2 aggression, delinquency, and externalizing behavior.</li> <li>Year 2 aggression mediated the association between Year 1 community violence victimization and Year 3 negative adaptation (internalizing problems, anxiety, and depression)</li> <li>Year 2 aggression mediated the negative association between</li> </ul>

Sheidow et al., 2001	Investigate the relation between neighborhood and violence exposure and between family functioning and risk for exposure to violence.	Poor, urban communitie s in Chicago	Inner-city African American and Latino males	- 249 - ages 13-17 - 0% F - 66% African American and 34% Latino	A secondary data from A longitudinal Chicago Youth Development Study	ANCOVA	<ul> <li>Year 1 witnessing community violence and Year 3 positive adaptation (self-esteem).</li> <li>Cognitive justification of aggression and friends' delinquency made independent contributions to Year 3 negative adaption.</li> <li>The interaction between family functioning and neighborhood type accounted for increased exposure to violence.</li> </ul>
Smokowski et al., 2004	Examine longitudinal relationships among childhood risk and protective factors and late adolescents' outcomes.	the most impoverishe d areas in Chicago	Impoverished inner-city youth from birth to young adulthood	- 1539 - Birth to age 17 - 93% African, 7% Latino or other	A Chicago Longitudinal Study	Multivariat e negative binomial and logistic regression analyses	<ul> <li>Cumulative family risk from birth to age 12 predicted increases in juvenile court petitions and decreases in high school or GED completion.</li> <li>Early childhood intervention in preschool had the widest ranging protective effects on academic, social, and mental health outcomes.</li> <li>The probability of high school or GED completion was significantly increased by preschool intervention, by parent(s) participating in the child's early elementary school s, by satisfactory elementary school grades, and by the child's ability to be task oriented.</li> <li>Preschool intervention, peer social skills, early classroom adjustment, and shy or anxious behavior in middle school were protective factors against adolescent depression while being female and having higher grades in early elementary school were associated with higher rates of adolescent depression.</li> </ul>
Spano et al. 2006	Examine the impact of timing of violence exposure on violent behavior.	12 high poverty inner-city neighborhoo ds in Mobile, Alabama	Inner-city African American youth	- 360-1294 - Ages 9-19 - DNR - 100% African	A longitudinal study called the Mobile Youth Survey; five waves	Poisson regression	More proximal exposure to violence has a larger impact on violent behavior.
Tolan et al., 2002	Evaluate patterns of coping in relation to psychopathology symptoms.	Lower socioecono mic neighborhoo ds of two large cities in the Midwest	Inner-city youth	- 372 - ages 12-15 - 46.59% F - 67% African, 24.4% Hispanic	A longitudinal data; two waves	Factor analysis, cluster analysis, general linear models	<ul> <li>Coping styles were related to demographic characteristics and stress levels.</li> <li>Controlling for demographic characteristics and stress levels, coping style related to internalizing and externalizing symptom levels.</li> <li>Age, ethnicity, and gender did not interact with coping in predicting symptoms.</li> </ul>
Vazsonyi et al., 2006	Examine the protective effects of parenting processes on adolescent adjustment (health-	In the high- poverty, urban neighborhoo	HIgh0risk, inner-city, poor African	- 2867 - Ages 10-19 - 48.9% F - 100% African	A longitudinal Mobile Youth Survey; three waves	Multigrou p SEM	<ul> <li>Parenting processes played a crucial role in this dangerous developmental milieu.</li> <li>No difference of these effects across groups.</li> </ul>

	compromising and violent behaviors)	ds in the Mobile metropolita n area	American youth				
Weist et al., 2001	Examine demographic variables and risk factors to predict exposure to community violence.	Inner-city Baltimore	High school students referred for mental health care	- 217 - DNP - 51.61% F - 75.12% African	A 2-year survey	Correlatio ns and hierarchica l regression models	<ul> <li>parental substance use, number of people in the home, out-of-home placements, grades repeated, arrest history, and total life stress were more predictors of violence exposure than demographic characteristics.</li> <li>Life stress was the most consistent predictor of violence exposure.</li> </ul>
Youngstrom (2003)	Examine relationships between violence exposure, protective factors and behavioral problems.	Clinical sites	Inner-city youth	- 320 - M age=14.7, ages 10-18 - 48.8% F - 72.4% lack	Cross- sectional data	Correlatio n, regression analysis, hierarchica l regression model	<ul> <li>All forms of violence exposure were corelated with internalizing and externalizing behavioral problems for males and females.</li> <li>Violence exposure predicted behavioral problems after controlling for the effects of other risk, demographic and protective factors.</li> <li>Family support and self-concept moderated the influence of life stress and cumulative risk on behavioral problems, but they did not moderate violence exposure.</li> </ul>
Notes: A - study B - Findings col	purpose, sample descriptions, a umn summarizes study findings	nd findings are directly related	extracted directly to this study.	and with minor editor	orial modification t	from original re	eports.

C - DNR = Did not report.

T	abl	e	2.	2

Intervention Programs Table for Inner-City Children and Youth

Source	Intervention Program	- Study Design - Population	Intervention	- Sample size - Gender (% F) - Bace (Total)	Comparison	- Sample size - Gender (% F) - Race (Total)	Post-test and/or Follow	Data Analysi s	Findings
				- Age		- Age	up	3	
August et al. (2003)	Early Riser "Skills for Success" program for aggressive children	- RCT - Aggressive children living in culturally diverse inner-city neighborhoods	One group attending CORE+FLEX models; one group attending Core-only model	<ul> <li>107 for core-only, and 111 for core+flex</li> <li>M age = 6.32 for core-only, and M age</li> <li>= 6.30 for other</li> <li>- 44% F for core-only, and 41% for other</li> <li>- 82% F African for core-only, and 86% for the other</li> </ul>	No intervention group	- 109 for control - M age = 6.29 - 45% F - 80% African	N/A	t-test, ANOV A, mixed regressi on model	<ul> <li>Both programs children showed gains on measures of school adjustment and social competence.</li> <li>The most aggressive children attending program showed reduction in disruptive behavior.</li> <li>Program parents reported reduced levels of stress.</li> </ul>
Botvin et al., 1997	School-based drug abuse prevention	- pre-post test - Inner-city minority youth in urban schools in New York	Attending 15- session psychosocial prevention program, or Attending program normally provided in the control schools	<ul> <li>721 for treatment and group groups</li> <li>M age = 12.6 (11-15)</li> <li>53% F</li> <li>25.8% African- American, 69.6% Hispanic</li> </ul>	See intervention	see intervention	post test with same sample	General linear model	<ul> <li>Students who received the psychosocial (CBT) intervention had lower normative expectations concerning the various drugs (cigarettes, alcohol, marijuana, cocaine, and other drugs) than student in control group.</li> <li>CBT approach was effective on several behavioral measures of current drug use.</li> </ul>
Campbell et al., 2005	Philadelphia Inclusion Network Training program to improve the quality of child care for all children over a 5-year time span	- pre-post test - program staff	Caregivers participated in 1 of 15 courses combined with 3 onsite- consultation visits and assignment	<ul> <li>- 183 staffs for first beginnings group 169 staffs for preschool group</li> <li>- DNP</li> <li>- DNP</li> <li>- DNP</li> <li>- DNP</li> </ul>	N/A	N/A	Post-test with same sample	t-test	<ul> <li>Quality of care of care increased in infant-toddler and preschool classrooms.</li> <li>Caregivers' interactions with children were characterized as neither punitive nor detached.</li> </ul>

Dacey et al., 1993	Instruction in Self Control for reducing dropout rate (Boston College Project)	- pre-post test - Inner city Middle school eighth graders in Boston	Attending 12 classes	- 151 - ages 12-15 - 38.41% F - 26.49% African	N/A	N/A	two years after completio n of these lessons.	Chi Square test	The dropout rate of participants was found to be 14% less than the average rate of 23% for Boston's tenth graders.
Dubow et al. 2001	Pregnancy prevention intervention study	- two-times assessment - Inner-city children	Attending the program twice a week during the year and covered topics such as self- esteem, decision making, goal setting, and growth and development of love and intimacy.	- 95 - grader 6 through 8 - 59% F - 27% African American; 13% Hispanic.	N/A	N/A	Post-test with same sample	Correlat ions; Hierarc hical regressi on analysis	<ul> <li>Higher levels of positive</li> <li>expectations for the future were</li> <li>related to lower levels of problem</li> <li>behaviors and peer negative</li> <li>influences, as well as higher levels of</li> <li>school involvement, internal</li> <li>resources, and social support.</li> <li>Higher levels of Time 1 problem</li> <li>behaviors and peer negative</li> <li>influences predicted decreases over 9</li> <li>months in positive expectations for</li> <li>the future.</li> <li>Higher levels of family support and</li> <li>problem-solving efficacy predicted</li> <li>increases in positive expectation.</li> </ul>
Ginsburg et al., 2012	Treating anxiety disorders in Inner-city schools	- RCT - Inner-city school youth	Attending cognitive- behavioral treatment delivered by novice CBT clinicians	- 17 - M age = 11.12 - 70.6% F - 87.5% African	usual care	- 15 - M age = 9.33 - 53.3% F - 86.7% African	One- month follow-up with same sample	ANCO VA, logistic regressi on	- Youth showed improvement over times -
Hayward ta 1., 2011	The Educating Kids Against Gun Violence (EKG)	<ul> <li>Pre and post test</li> <li>Indianapolis urban inner-city youth</li> </ul>	Watch short video clips and interactive presentations	- 130 - Ages 10-19 - 34% - 59% African	N/A	N/A	Post-test with same sample	Wilcoxo n signed- rank test	The program had positive short-term impacts on youth knowledge of legal and medical consequences and attitudes regarding gun violence.
Hines et al., 1998	SANKOFA, a culturally- specific program designed to reduce the prevalence of violent behaviors and related injuries and deaths	<ul> <li>Quasi- experimental, repeated measure research design.</li> <li>Inner-city adolescents</li> </ul>	Violence prevention graining	- 309 - ages 15-21 - 30% F - 83% African, 8% Latino/Hispanic	N/A	N/A	Post-test with same sample	Repeate d measure MANO VA, discrimi nant function	<ul> <li>Participants improved significantly in self-control of aggressive impulse, perpetrated harm, witness to violence across time.</li> <li>Obtained reduction in violent behavior with intervention sample is at least partly attributable to self- control, belief in ability to avoid violence, and frequency of carrying weapons. Plath et al.,</li> </ul>

	among African American teens.								
Lever et al., 2004	Futures program: a school-based drop-out prevention program	- Control trial - high-risk inner- city youth	Obtained four or more times services from mental health clinician	- 106 - 9th grader - DNP - DNP	no treatment	- 165 9th grader - DNP - DNP	N/A	MANO VAs	The program achieved success in obtaining drop-out rates lower than the average drop-out rates for their respective schools.
Sclare et al., 2015	CBT workshops for anxiety and depression in inner-city youth	- Pre-post test - inner-city youth	Attending 6- hour CBT workshop	- 31 - M age - 16.7 - 64% F - Predominantly black and minority ethnic groups	N/A	N/A	Post-test with same sample size	paired sample t-tests	Improvement were observed in self- reported anxiety, depression, and self-esteem at 12-week follow up.
Sklarew et al., 2002	A school- based mourning project - a preventive intervention in the cycle of inner-city violence	- Pre-post test - inner-city school children with multiple losses and trauma	Attending the intervention	DNP	N/A	N/A	DNP	DNP	Program promoted mourning work and indicated the effectiveness of intervention
Stevens 1999	Growing Up: Learning to Make Choices - a culturally sensitive intervention curriculum for pregnancy prevention.	- DNP - at-risk black adolescent females in Boston	Attending a 10- week culturally sensitive intensive curriculum	- DNP - 11-14 - 100% - 100% Black	DNP	DNP	DNP	DNP	This study mainly describes the collaborative research process.
Tolan & McKay (1996)	A family intervention program for preventing antisocial behavior in inner-city children.	- DNP - inner-city children with antisocial behavior	Attending a 22- week family intervention program	- 327 - grader 2, 3 & 5 - 50.2% - 40.9% African, 37.6% Latino	DNP	DNP	DNP	DNP	This is a program description.

Warren et al., 2006	Families and schools together (FAST) - a group treatment includes parental participation, and Family Education (FAME), an intervention that parents received a set of child- rearing manuals.	- Randomized Treatment Trial - Inner-city elementary school students with aggressive and delinquent behaviors and families	Attending FAST and Attending Fame	- DNP - Grader 1 through 4 - 56% F - 45% African, 38% Latino	See intervention	See intervention	one-year follow-up	Localize d regressi on	<ul> <li>The mode tis those children assigned to FAST less well.</li> <li>Children who participated in FAME significantly better than those who participated in FAST.</li> </ul>
Weissberg et al., 1981	A social- problem- solving training program	<ul> <li>Pre-post test with control design</li> <li>Suburban and inner-city third- grade children</li> </ul>	Attending a 52- lesson training program	<ul> <li>122, 89 suburban</li> <li>and 33 urban children</li> <li>DNP</li> <li>DNP</li> <li>DNP</li> <li>DNP</li> </ul>	No intervention	<ul> <li>121, 82</li> <li>suburban and 38</li> <li>urban children</li> <li>DNP</li> <li>DNP</li> <li>DNP</li> <li>DNP</li> </ul>	post design	MANO VA, ANOV A Factoria I design, Correlat ions	<ul> <li>Program children improved more than controls on several cognitive skills including problem identification, alternative-solution thinking, and consequential thinking as well as on behavioral problem- solving performance.</li> <li>The intervention positively affected the adjustment of suburban but not urban youngsters.</li> </ul>
Werch et al., 1996	a brief, school- based intervention for preventing alcohol use	- RCT - sixth-seventh, and eighth grade students in Jacksonville, Florida	Were given a self- instructional module and corresponding audiotape, and consultation	- 52 - M age = 13.8 - 26% F - 46% Black	Minimal intervention	- 52 - M age = 13.7 - 30% F - 48% Black	Post-test and follow-up	Chi- square test, ANCO VA	- Intervention students reported less alcohol consumption at follow-up than comparison students.
Werch et al., 2001	Start Taking Alcohol Risks Seriously (STARS) for families: a stage-based alcohol preventive intervention	- RCT - Inner-city middle school students in Jacksonville, Florida	Attending STARS for family program	- 650 for total sample - M age = 12.08 - 50% F - 85% African	Minimal intervention	See intervention	post test	Chi- square test, t test, MANO VAs	<ul> <li>Posttest data showed fewer neighborhood intervention students initiated alcohol use, used alcohol during the past seven-day and thirty- day periods, drank heavily during the past thirty days, and drank over any period of time, compared to control students.</li> <li>Those with past alcohol consequences who received the</li> </ul>
									intervention had less intentions to use alcohol and less frequent use of alcohol.
---------------	----------------	------------------	-----------------	-----------------------	--------------	-----------------	------------	----------	---
Zhang et al.,	Mother-son	- RCT	Attending a	- 252 pairs	Attending an	- 273 pairs	follow-up	Generali	- Mothers and son in the intervention
2018	Health	- Inner-city	HIV/ST	- M age for mom =	attention-	- M age for	postinterv	zed	group were more likely to
	Promotion	African	infection risk-	37.7, M age for son =	matched	mom = 37.0, M	ention	estimati	communicate about sexual health.
	Project: a	American	reduction	13.0	health-	age for son =		ng	- Intervention efficacy was found to
	behavioral	mothers and sons	intervention	- mom and son	promotion	12.9		equation	weaken over time.
	intervention	in Philadelphia,		- 92.9% African	control	- mom and son		s	
	for increasing	PA		American mother and	intervention	- 93.7% African			
	mother-son			92.0% African		American			
	communicatio			American son		mother and			
	n about sexual					93.0% African			
	risk reduction					American son			

## Table 2.3

Summar	y of cha	racteristics	of resear	ch targ	geting	inner-city	y children

	Survey Studies	Intervention Studies
Publication Year	N=55	N=20
- 2010-2019	3	6
- 2000-2009	37	7
- 1990-1999	15	7
Method	N=55	N=20
- Qualitative method	3	0
- Quantitative method	52	15
- Program Description	0	5
Research Design	N=42	N/A
- Cross-sectional survey	17	N/A
- Longitudinal survey	25	N/A
Main Statistical Analyses	N=52	N=15
- Multilevel Model or Hierarchical Linear	5	1
Model or Linear Mixed Model		
- Multiple or Hierarchical Regression	30	3
Model		
- Logistical Regression Model	6	2
- SEM or Path Model	4	0
- ANOVA, T-test, Chi-Square, non-	7	10
parameter tests, or others		
Gender	N=55	N=15
- Girl-only sample	3	1
- Boy-only sample	7	1
Outcome Variables	N=55	N=15
- Depression	11	1
- Internalizing (including depression)	26	2
- Externalizing	38	12
- Academic performance (school dropout)	4	2
Predictors	N=55	N=15
- Community	32	N/A
- School	1	N/A
- Family	19	N/A
- Parenting	14	0

### Table 2.4

## SAFE Children Program Research Outcomes

Citation Info	
(Author, Year)	Summary of Key Points (include quotes if direct quoting and page numbers)
	1. The initial intervention for inner-city children entering the first grade produced the positive developmental
	trajectories for impulsivity and hyperactivity, demonstrating the potential for ADHD prevention in at-risk
Fowler et al.	children.
2014	2. The booster intervention had no additional effect on the change of trajectory in ADHD indicators.
	1. The study identified three patterns of involvement in the SAFE Children project: joiners, responders, and
	minimal responders.
	2. Ethnicity, marital status, parental antisocial behavior, economic and loss stressors, monitoring, and child's
Gorman-Smith	depression and hyperactivity were significant early predictors of risk for delinquency and drug use among
et al. 2002	175 African American and Latino first-grade children and discriminators of three patterns of involvement.
Gorman-Smith	
et al. 2007	School and Families Educating Children program description
Henry et al.	T 1 internet
2012	1 A friend American students tond to be disc downtoord by both family and asishboth and have between as
	1. Aircan American students tend to be disadvantaged by boin family and neighborhood level factors as
	2 Having a father in the household reduced the risk of having behavioral problems and repeating one or
	2. Having a ratio in the nousehold reduced the risk of having behavioral problems and repeating one of
	3. Fundamental social factors determine a child's family structure and neighborhood environment and a
	child's school achievement and development.
	4. Any household adverse event were associated with the increased chance of repeating a grade.
	5. Children living in households with parental substance use or negative involvement with law enforcement
	may exhibit more behavioral problems.
	6. Children attending high performing schools were more likely to have higher math and reading scores.
	7. Interventions aiming to improve the quality of school may mediate the negative effects of individual and
Kim et al. 2014	neighborhood disadvantages on children's school performance.
	1. Address covarying nature of neighborhood, household context, and children's behavioral problems.
	2. The within-group fixed effects of time-varying variables model indicated that the level of child's
	aggression was influenced more by household and neighborhood stable characteristics.
	3. The model indicated no significant relationship between having a father in the nousehold and child's
	aggression.
Kim et al 2018	the between-individual difference was significantly associated with child's aggression
11111 01 11. 2010	1. Study 107 low-income, ethnic minority families.
	2. There is an association between parental relationship and overall family functioning. Strain between adult
	caregivers had significant negative relationship to all but one of the parenting and family relationship
Lissuzzo 2005	characteristics.
	1. Neighbor- hood impoverishment, neighborhood social processes, and parental monitoring/supervision
	were associated with childhood aggression 2 years later.
	2. Children residing in neighborhoods with substantial poverty are at greater risk of developing aggressive
	behavior.
Miller et al.,	3. Despite the protective benefits of neighborhood social processes and high-quality parenting, neighborhood
2019	economic deprivation continues to elevate risk of developing aggressive behavior.
	1. surveyed 424 families.
	2. Linear-growth trends through 6 months after intervention indicated an overall effect of increased
	academic performance and better parental involvement in school.
Tolan et al	5. righting connections and additional benefits for parental monitoring, child-problem benaviors, and children's
2004	4 High-risk youth showed improvement in problem behaviors and social competence
2001	. Then they your showed improvement in protein benaviors and social competence.
Tolan et al.	The booster led to a relative improvement in child aggression and concentration in school for 196 families,
2009	with additional benefit for high-risk groups in academic achievement, behavior, and family organization.

### Table 2.5

Summary of characteristics of research relevant to SAFE children project

		<b>Relevant Studies</b>
Main S	Statistical Analyses	
-	Multilevel Model or Hierarchical Linear Model or Linear Mixed	5
	Model	
-	Growth Mixture Modeling	1
-	Logistical Regression Model	1
-	SEM or Path Model	1
-	Discriminant Function Analysis	1
Outco	me Variables	
-	Depression	0
-	Internalizing	0
-	Externalizing (including ADHD)	7
-	Academic performance (including school dropout)	3
Predic	tors	
-	Community	3
-	School	1
-	Family	6
-	Parenting	4

# Appendix C

## **Chapter 3 Tables**

### Table 3.1

## Data points with relevant variables included in the data analysis

Studies 1-2	2				Wa	ves			
<b>Constructs - Definition</b>	Variables	Measurement	1	2	4	5	6	8	9
Outcome	variable								
Child depression – characterized by a series of symptoms in children.	Child depression	Parent report of child depression using a three- item subscale: including irritability, a lack of energy, and depressed mood.	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
Predictor	variables								
Family risk factors - refers to poverty,	Parental depression	Parent report of parental depression using BDI	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
parental depression, and poor family dynamics.	Quality of family relationship	Parent report of family relationship using a combined scale including family cohesion, communication, and support	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
	Family income	Parent report of family annual income	1	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Whether to receive food assistance	Parent report of the use of food stamps	1	-	-	-	-	-	-
School climate – refers to the quality of school climate.	School climate	Parent report of school climate	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
Neighborhood conditions - refers to the residents' neighborhood environment.	Problems of neighborhood	Parent report of extent of neighborhood problems	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
Positive parenting - refers to the process of parental participation in promoting child outcomes.	Positive parenting	Parent report of extent of parental involvement and warmth	1	1	1	1	1	1	1

# Appendix D

## **Chapter 4 Tables and Figures**

### **Table 4.1.1**

# Demographics information of the sample at Waves 1-5 (n=424)

Variables		N (%	b) at Wave	e 1					Chi-square test for treatment status at Way
Intervention status									N/A
- Control		199 (	(46.9%)						
- Treatment		225 (	(53.1%)						
Child gender									p2 (1) = 1.777, p = .183
- FemÈale		217 (	(51.2%)						
- Male		207 (	(48.8%)						
Race/ethnicity									p2 (2) = 5.069, p = .079
- African American		180 (	(42.5%)						
- Mexican American		201 (	(47.6%)						
- Others (other Hispanic and Anglo-	White)	41 (9	.7%)						
Mother education at wave 1									p2 (1) = .177, p = .674
- Didn't finish high school		230 (	(54.9%)						
<ul> <li>Finish high school or more</li> </ul>		189 (	(45.1%)						
Family income at wave 1									p2 (2) = 4.055, p = .132
- Less than \$10,000		149 (	(35.6%)						
- \$10,000 - \$30,000		211 (	(50.4%)						
- \$30,000 - \$50,000		59 (1	4.1%)						
Use of food stamp at wave 1									p2 (1) = 2.402, p = .121
- No		263 (	(62%)						
- Yes		156 (	(36.8%)						
	Time 1	(wave 1)	Time 2 (	wave 2)	Time	3 (wave 4)	Time	4 (wave 5)	t-test for treatment stat
	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD	at Wave 1
Child depression	4.09	1.14	4.20	1.07	4.22	1.15	4.14	1.09	T (416) = -1.362, p = .174
Positive parenting	4.30	.53	4.29	.48	4.37	.44	4.35	.44	t (395) = .938, p = .349
Family relationship	1.72	.41	1.66	.35	1.74	.44	1.71	.35	t (416) = .345, p = .731
Parental depression	.13	.05	.11	.22	.16	.27	.13	.27	t (416) =338, p = .736
School climate	2.73	1.13	2.02	.67	2.18	.67	2.15	.66	T (416) = -1.213, p = .228
Neighborhood conditions	2.57	.67	2.67	.63	2.69	.68	2.58	.70	t (412) = .5552, p = .581

## Table 4.1. 2

## Bivariate correlations between child depression and major predictor variables at

### Waves 1-5 (n=424)

Variables		Relia	ability		Pearson correlations between predictors and							
						child de	epression					
	Time 1	Time 2	Time 3	Time 4	Time 1	Time 2	Time 3	Time 4				
	(wave 1)	(wave 2)	(wave 4)	(wave 5)	(wave 1)	(wave 2)	(wave 4)	(wave 5)				
Child depression	.666c	.698c	.719c	.702c	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A				
Positive parenting	.834	.824	.807	.808								
W1					06	.16**	.03	.03				
W2					05	.09	09	03				
W4					.06	03	09	07				
W5					04	05	04	23***				
Family relationship	.738	.707	.731	.751								
W1					.14**	.02	.11*	.02				
W2					.07	.29***	.14**	.23***				
W4					.02	.11*	.29***	.16**				
W5					.01	.04	.15**	.28***				
Parental depression	.853	.880	.887	.914								
W1					.30***	.05	.14**	.02				
W2					02	.17**	.11*	.06				
W4					.13*	03	.27***	.23***				
W5					.08	.21	.17**	.22***				
School climate	.950	.905	.878	.871								
W1					01	22***	18***	19***				
W2					.13*	.10	.06	.05				
W4					.06	.16**	.03	.01				
W5					.04	.12*	.03	.12*				
Neighborhood condition	.848	.860	.878	.889								
W1					.08	.06	.09	.00				
W2					05	.03	.02	.03				
W4					02	.04	.06	01				
W5					.05	02	.04	.02				

Note: + p<.10; \*p<.05; \*\* p<.01; \*\*\*p < .001. c means composite reliability; other values of reliability without c come from internal reliability.

## Table 4.1. 3

## Multilevel analysis for child depression for treatment status at Waves 1-5 (n=424)

Mode	el Parameters	Mode mean intere	l 1: Er s, ran cept m	npty dom odel	Mod linear inter	el 2a: 1 time, r rcept n	Fixed andom 10del	Me Randor	odel 21 n linea model	o: ur time	Mod Quad linea	lel 3a: time, r r time	Fixed andom model
		Est	SE	<i>P</i> <	Est	SE	<i>P</i> <	Est	SE	<i>P</i> <	Est	SE	<i>P</i> <
Mod	el for the Means												
β <sub>0</sub>	Intercept	4.16	.03	.001	4.13	.05	<.001	4.13	.05	<.00 1	4.09	.06	<.001
	Repeated measures effects												
$\beta_{18}$	Time				.02	.02	.42	.02	.03	<.46	.17	.08	<.05
$\beta_{19}$	Time*Time										05	.02	<.05
Mod	<u>el for the Variance</u>												
U <sub>0</sub>	Random intercept variance	.22	.04	.001	.22	.04	.001	.38	.08	<.00	.39	.08	<.001
	i Pseudo-R <sup>2</sup>				.01%					1	0		
$U_1$	Linear time slope variance							.07	.02		.07	.02	<.001
	i Pseudo-R <sup>2</sup>							66.64%		<.00	0		
U <sub>01</sub>	Intercept-linear time slope covariance							10	.04	1	10	.04	<.005
	i Pseudo-R <sup>2</sup>	1.08	.04	.001	1.08	.04	.001	.96.	.05	<.01	.95	.05	<.001
e <sub>ti</sub>	Repeated measure				.05%			11.27%			.58%		
	i Pseudo-R <sup>2</sup>				.01%			.04%		<.00	.22%		
	Total R <sup>2</sup>									1			
Mod	<u>el fit</u>												
	Number of parameters	3			4			6			7		
	-2LL	4852.4			4851.8			4838.5			4834.5		
	AIC	4858.4			4859.8			4850.5			4848.5		
	BIC	4870.6			4876.0			4874.8			4876.8		

Note: + p<.10; \*p<.05;\*\* p<.01; \*\*\*p<.001.

## **Table 4.1.4**

# Multilevel analysis for predictors of child depression at Waves 1-5 (n=424)

Mod	el Parameters	l Un gro	Model condit wth m	4: ional iodel	Mode betw pi	el 5: Ad een-pe redicto	lding rson rs	Model with pre	6a: Ao in-per: edictor	dding son rs	Model inte	6b: Ad raction	lding 15	Mod	el 7: Fi Model	nal
		Est	SE	<b>P</b> <	Est	SE	P<	Est	SE	P<	Est	SE	P<	Est	SE	P<
Mod	el for the Means															
βο	Intercept	4.10	.06	.001	4.34	.17	.001	4.20	.08	.001	4.21	.08	.001	4.30	.18	.001
	Repeated measures effects															
$\beta_{18}$	Time	.17	.08	<.05	.16	.08	<.05	.19	.08	.05	.18	.08	.05	.18	.08	.05
$\beta_{19}$	Time*Time	05	.02	<.05	05	.02	<.05	06	.03	.05	05	.03	.05	05	.03	.05
	Time-invariant factors															
	Treatment status															
β6	Control	03	.07	.64	05	.07	.48	03	.07	.64	03	.07	.65	04	.07	
-	Child Sex (Ref.=male)					07	-								07	
β7	Female Ethnic (Bof = others)				01	.07	.92							01	.07	.98
0	African Amorican				00	12	47							07	12	50
P8 R	Maxican American Maxican American				09	12	.47							- 33	12	.18
P0	Mother education at wave 1					.12	.005							- 22	-12	.01
B10	Didn't finish high school				06	.08	.12							08	.08	.34
P 10	Family income at wave 1															
$\beta_{12}$	Less than \$10,000				.23	.12	.06							.26	.12	.05
$\beta_{13}$	\$10,000 - \$30,000				.05	.10	.60							.08	.10	.44
	Use of food stamp at wave 1															
$\beta_{11}$	No				14	.09	.12							12	.09	.18
	Time-invariant factors															
βs	Parent depression							1.00	.15	.001	1.01	.15	.001	.99	.15	.001
$\beta_4$	Positive Parenting							22	.08	.01	23	.13	.08	23	.08	.005
β3	Family relationship (cohesion)							19	.00	.005	19	.00	.005	05	.00	.44
1 <sup>2</sup> 2	Neighborhood conditions							-27	.05	35	-27	.07	32	.15	.06	34
P1	reguoniou continuis							.02	.00		.02	.00			.00	-24
	Interactions															
0	DD * naront donroccion										44	50	40			
P17 R	DD * family relationship										01	15	03			
P16 B.c	PP * school climate										.02	.19	.92			
β13 β14	PP * neighborhood condition										.10	.18	.57			
Mod	el for the Variance															
U <sub>0</sub>	Random intercept variance	.39	.08	<.001	.35	.08	.001	.43	.08	.001	.44	.09	.001	.39	.08	.001
	$\Delta Pseudo-R^2$	.25			8.18%			0			0			10.91		
U <sub>1</sub>	Linear time slope variance	%	.02	<.001	.07	.02	.001	.06	.02	.001	.06	.02	.002	%	.02	.001
	$\Delta Pseudo-R^2$	.07			0			13.59			1.73%			.06		
U <sub>01</sub>	Intercept-linear time slope	0	.04	<.01	11	.04	.003	%	.04	.003	11	.04	.003	0	.04	.002
	covariance	10						11						11		
	APseudo-K*		0.5	< 001	0.5	0.5	001		<b>n</b> 5	001	00	0.5	001		0.5	001
e <sub>ti</sub>	ADorado P <sup>2</sup>	0.5	.05	<.001	.93	.05	1001	00	.05	1001	.90	.05	1001	00	CU.	1001
	Total R <sup>2</sup>	01			5 02%			5 21%			4 46%			.90 14%		
	10.001	%			5.0170			4.42%			1.1070			8.47%		
		.24														
		%														
Mod	el fit															
	Number of parameters	8			15			13			17			20		
	-2LL	4834.3	3		4740.0			4619.7			4618.5			4540.8		
	AIC	4850.3	3		4770.0			4645.7			4652.5			4580.8		
	BIC	4882.0	5		4845.5			4698.3			4721.3			4661.4		

Note: + p<.10; \*p<.05; \*\* p<.01; \*\*\*p<.001.





<u>Figure 4.1. 2.</u> Mean Child Depression for Treatment Status at Waves 1 to 5. Note: Child depression was only measured at Wave 1, 2, 4, and 5.



Figure 4.1. 3 Individual Linear Depression Growth Trajectories & Linear Average Depression Growth Trend at Wave 1 to 5.





Variables	N (%) a	at Wave 6					Chi-square test for treatment status at Wave 6
Intervention status							N/A
- Control	164 (45	.2%)					
- Treatment	97 (26.7	7%)					
- Booster	102 (28	.1%)					
Child gender							p2 (2) = 1.779, p = .411
- Female	195 (53	.7%)					
- Male	168 (46	.3%)					
Race/ethnicity							p2 (4) = 5307, p = .257
- African American	151 (41	.6%)					
- Mexican American	178 (49	%)					
- Others (other Hispanic and	34 (9.44	%)					
Anglo-White)							
Mother education at wave 6							p2 (3) = .890, p = .641
<ul> <li>Didn't finish high school</li> </ul>	56 (20.5	5%)					
- Finish high school or more	217 (79	.5%)					
Family income at wave 6							p2 (4) = 5.848, p = .211
- Less than \$10,000	48 (23.1	1%)					
- \$10,000 - \$30,000	112 (53	.8%)					
- \$30,000 - \$50,000	48 (11.3	3%)					
Use of food stamp at wave 6							p2 (2) = .977, p = .613
- No	231 (68	.1%)					
- Yes	108 (31	.9%)					
Variables	Time 1	(wave 6)	Time 2 (	wave 8)	Time 4	(wave 9)	ANOVA test for treatment
	Μ	SD	Μ	SD	Μ	SD	status at Wave 6
Child depression	4.27	1.16	4.20	1.23	4.07	1.13	F (2, 336) = .700, p = .497
Positive parenting	4.31	.45	4.27	.50	4.34	.45	F (2, 329) = 1.754, p = .175
Family relationship	1.69	.41	1.67	.39	1.65	.38	F (2, 336) = .543, p = .582
Parental depression	.23	.30	.21	.29	.19	.27	F (2, 336) = .430, p = .651
School climate	2.14	.62	2.18	.62	2.13	.60	F (2, 336) = 2.785, p = .63

# Demographics information of the sample at Waves 6-9 (n=363)

## Bivariate correlations between child depression and major predictor variables at

## Waves 6-9 (n=363)

		Reliability		Pearson predictor	correlations s and child (	s between depression
	Time 5 (wave 6)	Time 6 (wave 8)	Time 7 (wave 9)	Time 5 (wave 6)	Time 6 (wave 8)	Time 7 (wave 9)
Child depression	.724c	.733c	.740c	N/A	N/A	N/A
Positive parenting	.802	.838	.818			
W6				14*	07	09
W8				17**	16**	27***
W9				09	12*	24***
Family relationship	.805	.804	.803			
W6				.20***	.10	.17**
W8				.21***	.18**	.25***
W9				.21***	.16**	.21***
Parental depression	.874	.875	.877			
W6				.24***	.08	.15*
W8				.23***	.26****	.25***
W9				.28***	.31***	.30***
School climate	.834	.855	.842			
W6				.09	.18**	.05
W8				.09	.23***	.16**
W9				.13*	.13*	.11*
Neighborhood condition	.899	.910	.918			
W6				.09	.07	.09
W8				.05	.12*	.21***
W9				.07	.07	.17**

Note: \*p<.05; \*\* p<.01; \*\*\*p < .001.

c means composite reliability; other values of reliability without c come from internal reliability.

Multilevel analysis for child depression for treatment status over time at Waves 6-9

<u>(n=424)</u>

Model Parameters		Model 1: Empty means, random intercept model			Model 2: Fixed linear time, random intercept model		
		Est	SE	<b>P</b> <	Est	SE	<b>P</b> <
Model for the Means							
γ00	Intercept	4.18	.05	.001	4.28	.06	.001
	Repeated measures effects				10	.03	.003
<b>Y</b> 10	Time						
γ20	Time*Time						
Model for the Variance							
U <sub>0</sub>	Random intercept variance	.61	.07	.001	.61	.07	.001
	$\Delta P$ seudo- $R^2$				0		
e <sub>ti</sub>	Repeated measure	.77	.04	.001	.76	.04	.001
	$\Delta P$ seudo- $R^2$				1.31%		
	Total R <sup>2</sup>				.28%		
<u>Model fit</u>							
	Number of parameters	3			4		
	-2LL	3005.5			2996.6		
	AIC	3011.5			3004.6		
	BIC	3023.7			3020.8		

Note: + p<.10; \*p<.05;\*\* p<.01; \*\*\*p<.001.

# Multilevel analysis for predictors of child depression at Waves 6-9 (n=424)

$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	.001 .05
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	.001 .05
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	.001 .05
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	.001 .05
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	.001 .05 52
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	.05
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	.05
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	52
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	52
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	52
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	
$ \begin{array}{c} \mbox{Child Sex (Ref.=male)} \\ \beta_8 & \mbox{Female} &03 & .10 & .73 &02 & .10 \\ \mbox{Ethnic (Ref.=others)} & & & \\ \alpha & \mbox{Atican American} &02 & 17 & 92 & & .05 & 17 \\ \end{array} $	.06
$\beta_8$ Female03 .10 .7302 .10 Ethnic (Ref.=others)	
Ethnic (Ref.=others)	.84
ρ Δ frican Δmerican _ 02 17 92 05 17	
pg Aniton Aniton03 .17	.78
β <sub>10</sub> Mexican American50 .17 .00551 .17	.003
Time-invariant factors	
β <sub>5</sub> Parent depression .38 .16 .05 .38 .16 .05 .38 .16	.05
β <sub>4</sub> Positive Parenting19 .10 .0608 .14 .5819 .10	.07
β <sub>3</sub> Family relationship (cohesion) .06 .09 .49 .07 .09 .45 .04 .09	.66
β <sub>2</sub> School climate04 .12 .7704 .12 .7801 .12	.93
β <sub>1</sub> Neighborhood conditions .06 .07 .42 .06 .07 .40 .06 .07	.41
Interactions	
$\beta_{14}$ PP * parent depression -1.01 .63 .11	
$\beta_{13}$ PP * family relationship29 .22 .18	
$\beta_{12}$ PP * school climate 2.7 .43 .53	
$\beta_{11}$ PP * neighborhood condition .11 .30 .72	
Model for the Variance	
U <sub>0</sub> Kandom intercept variance .00 .07 .001 .55 .06 .001 .58 .07 .001 .55 .06	.001
$\Delta F_{2}^{2} = 0.00 - R^{2} \qquad 1.72\% \qquad 9.48\% \qquad 3.47\% \qquad 0 \qquad 9.12\%$	0.01
$e_{ri}$ (Repeated measure ./0 .04 .001 ./0 .04 .001 ./3 .04 .001 ./3 .04 .001 ./3 .04	.001
Δrseudo-K* U 0.04% 5.05% ./5% .10%	
10121 K* 1.25% 4.20% 1.54% 2.18% 5.57%	
Number of accounting 6 0 11 15 14	
-211 2902 5 2968 1 2868 0 2963 4 2944 4	
- 2002 2772.3 2700.1 2000.0 2003.4 2014.4 ΔΓΓ 3000.5 29862 2890.0 2892.4 2872.4	
BIC 3008.8 302.5 293.8 295.8 296.9	

Note: + p<.10; \*p<.05; \*\* p<.01; \*\*\*p<.001.

Figure 4.2. 1. Child Depression and Predictors Change at Waves 6 to 9.



Note: These variables were only measured at Waves 6, 8, and 9.

<u>Figure 4.2. 2</u>. Mean Child Depression for Treatment Status at Waves 6 to 9. Note: Child depression was only measured at Wave 6, 8, and 9.



# Appendix E

### **Theoretical Framework**

Figure 1. Process Model of Exploring the Determinants of Depression in Children.



#### CURRICULUM VITA

Donghang (Josh) Zhang

Ph.D. Candidate Kent School of Social Work, University of Louisville

Address: 2217 S. Third Street, Louisville, KY, U.S (40292)

Cell: (502)-999-7245 | E-mail: dh.zhang@louisville.edu

### **EDUCATION**

Ph.D.	University of Louisville, U.S (July 2015 – Dec. 2020)
	Major: Social Work
MSCFT	University of Louisville, U.S (July 2018 – Dec. 2020)
	Major: Couple and family therapy
MSSW	University of Louisville, U.S (July 2018 – April 2020)
	Major: Social Work, specializing in <b>Couple and family therapy</b>
<b>M.A.</b> 2010)	The Chinese University of Hong Kong, China (Sep. 2009-June
	Major: Gender Studies
BSW	Capital Normal University, China (Sep. 2005-July 2009)
	Major: Social Work
	Minor: Music

# **RESEARCH INTERESTS**

- Parenting and Parental Academic Involvement
- Child Trauma Intervention Research
- Health Disparities and Protective Factors in Mental Health,
- Youth Mentoring and Community-Based Participatory Research
- Indigenous Social Work Practice

## **PRACTICE INTERESTS**

- Couple and Family Therapy
- Parenting Counseling and training

- Grief counseling
- Children with Trauma/PTSD, ADHD, Depression, and Anxiety
- Immigrant Populations and Adjustment Disorder

### **TEACHING INTERESTS**

- Introduction to Social Work
- Family Therapy or Family Social Work
- Social Work Practice
- Trauma Assessment and Treatment
- Statistics, Research Design and Program Evaluation

### **ACADEMIC APPOINTMENT**

July 2011 to June 2015Social Work Instructor, Department of Social Work,<br/>School of Law and Politics,<br/>Lingnan Normal University, Zhanjiang, China

## **TEACHING EXPERIENCE**

### University of Louisville, USA

Introduction to Social Statistics 2017 Spring

• Teaching Assistant, supervised by Dr. Sunshine Rote

#### Lingnan Normal University, China

Social Group Work Spring	2011 Fall, 2012 Fall, 2014 Spring, 2015
Social Work Seminar Spring	2011 Fall, 2012 Fall, 2014 Fall, 2015
Counseling	2012/2013 Spring, 2013 Fall, 2014 Spring
Social Work with Youth Fall	2012 Spring, 2013 Spring, 2013 Fall, 2014
Social Work with Elders	2012 Fall
Social Work Writing	2013 Fall
Social Work Practice	2013 Spring
Introduction to Social Work	2014 Fall
Gender and Social Work	2014 Fall
Professional English	2014 Fall
Social Work Agency Management	2015 Spring
Couple and Family Counseling	2015 Spring
Mentored undergraduates' theses	2012 to 2015

## PROFESSIONAL PRACTICE EMPLOYMENT

**Program Executive Director (Part-time)**: Yangcheng Social Work Service Center [广州市洋城社会工作服务中心], Guangzhou, China (Sep. 2020 - Current)

- Administer social service projects and offer support and supervision to senior social workers/staff.
- Build social work training programs and design training curriculums.
- Develop intervention-based research projects.

**Program Director (Part-time)**: Yangcheng Social Work Service Center [广州市洋 城社会工作服务中心], Guangzhou, China (Feb 2013- Aug. 2014)

- Administered Wenchong Sub-District Family-integrated Service Centre. Supported team leaders in project designing, implementation, monitoring and evaluation, and partnership building. Developed and maintained a good working relationship with partners and other relevant institutions or individuals. Supported social workers to provide social services with high standards and ensure the efficiency of using social resources through training programs and communications.
- Co-director (Part-time): Shangyi Social Work Service Center, Zhangjiang [湛江市 尚义社会工作服务中心], China (Dec. 2012- Aug. 2014)
  - Supported to establish Shangyi social work organization and applied for social work service projects for Children and Women. Administered institution's social work projects for rural area remaining women and children, immigrant youth, and supported social workers to implement and monitor projects effectively. Built and sustained a good working relationship with partners.
- Social Worker (Full-time): Puhui Social Service Center [东莞市普惠社会工作服务 中心], Dongguan, China (May 2010-May 2011)
  - Offered services for fragile families through casework and community work. Lead a team of 15 social workers to assist risky families in the rural community, Obtained resources to ensure project efficiency and quality, and enhance team knowledge.

## **INTERNSHIP ACTIVITIES**

**Co-Facilitator,** The Center for Family and Community Wellbeing, University of Louisville, KY, USA (Jan 2020 -current)

• Co-facilitate a psycho-education group: Mind matters – overcoming adversity and building resilience

**Counselor**, Americana Community Center, Louisville, KY, USA (Sep 2019 – current)

• Providing psychotherapy and relationship counseling services to immigrant children, adults, couples, and families

Social Worker, Centerstone of Kentucky, USA (May 2019 – Jul. 2019)

- Providing therapy services to traumatized children and parents who abused or neglected their children.
- Intern Family Therapist, Child Place Inc., Indiana, USA (Aug. 2018 Apr. 2019)
  - Providing therapy services to residents at the cottages and outpatients under the supervision of a licensed family therapist.
- **Social Worker Intern**, Eight Village Sub-District Judicial Office, Beijing, China (3/2009-4/2009).
  - Engaged in mediating interpersonal disputes and studied the knowledge of community-based correction in prisoners.
- School Social Worker Intern, Hua'ao Middle School, Beijing, China (11/2006-6/2008)
  - Offered programs for children to meet their development needs.
  - Delivered counseling services for children with adjustment issues.
  - Provided life education courses and problem-solving workshops.

### **PUBLICATIONS**

#### **Journal Articles:**

- Sterrett-Hong, E. M., Birkett, M., Kuhns, L., Zhang, D., & Mustanski, B. (2020). The Impact of Closeness to Non-Parental Adults in Social Networks on Substance Use among Young Men Who Have Sex with Men. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 1-18.
- Zhang, D. (2012). The Novice Teacher's Teaching Reflection Based on Empowerment Theory [新手老师的教学札记:"赋权增能"取向的教学反思]. China: Zhanjiang Normal University Teaching Supervision, pp35-37.
- Zhang, D. (2008). Social Work the Answer to My Life [生命的回报]. China: Social Work, 8, p49.

#### **Book Chapters and Research Reports**

- Zhang, D., Ai, Z., & Fu, J. (2019). Assessment Report of Community Problems and Needs in Qiaonan Sub-District [广州市番禺区桥南街社区/居民需求调研技术 报告], Panyu District, Guangzhou, *China*.
- Zhang, D. & Ai, Z. (2018). Research Report of Community Needs: A Survey of Residents and Third Sector [番禺区社区需求调查分析报告]. Civil Affairs Bureau, Panyu District Government, Guangdong, China.
- Zhang, D. & Ai, Z. (2015). Chapter 6 The Operation of Social Work Agency [第六章 社会工作机构的运作]. In Guo (Eds), *The Operation and Management of Social Work Agency* <社会工作机构运作与管理>. China: Peking University Press.
- Zhang, D. & Ai, Z. (2015). Chapter 7 Human Resource Management of Social Work Agency [第七章 社会工作机构人才队伍建设]. In Guo (Eds), *The Operation and Management of Social Work Agency* <社会工作机构运作与管理>. China: Peking University Press.
- Zheng, K. & Zhang, D. (2014). A Research Report on Chinese Parents' Involvement with their Child's Using Social Media [青少年使用社交媒体 与亲职教育研究],

Guangdong Committee of the Communist Youth League of China and Guangdong Federation of Social Sciences, *China*.

#### **Peer-Review Manuscripts under review**

- Wang, X., **Zhang, D.\***, Ding, H., Luo, T., Li, Q. (under review). Effectiveness of Training on Social and Career Skills Among Adults with Intellectual Disabilities –A Pilot Study of Career Development and Transition Service Program in Guangzhou [承认智力障碍者职业转衔服务初探]. *Disability Research*. (In Chinese)
- Zhang, D., Ai, Z., Fu, J., & Sterrett-Hong, E. (under review). Predictors of Parental Involvement in Child Education Among Chinese Families - the Role of Parental Factors and Mediator role of Perceptions of Positive Parenting [中国家庭影响父母 教育参与的父母因素及积极教养观念因素的中介作用]. *Psychological Development and Education*. (In Chinese)

#### **Completed Manuscripts to be Submitted**

- Sterrett-Hong, E., **Zhang, D., et al.** Community-Based Mentoring in High-Risk Neighborhoods: Considerations for Integrating a Community Based Participatory Research Framework [高风险社区社区为本的辅导-整合性的社区参与研究框 架].
- **Zhang, D**. Parent and child depression in inner-city children: exploring the mediation effects of family relationship.
- **Zhang, D**., Sar, B., Sterrett-Hong, E. & Ballard-Kang, J. Associations between mother and father involvement in the lives of their older adolescents: the mediating effect of child-parent and couple relationships. *Family Process*.
- **Zhang, D**., Sar, B., Sterrett-Hong, E. The Ethical Challenges of Implementing the Government Purchase of Service: The Case of the Community Family-Integrated Service Center in China [政府购买服务的伦理挑战-以广州社区家庭综合服务

中心为例]. Ethics and Social Welfare.

Zhang, D. & Sterrett-Hong, E. A Literature Review of Parent Involvement in Child Education Among Chinese Immigrant Families: Bicultural Considerations and Research Implications [华裔移民家庭父母参与子女教育的文献综述:双文化 因素及研究意义]. Review of Educational Research.

#### **Manuscripts in Preparation**

Zhang, D. & Sar, B. (To be submitted). Prevalence of Stress Symptoms and Relevant Predictor Factors – A Study of Traumatized Children and Youth [应激障碍的发

生率及相关的预测因素-一项创伤儿童青少年的研究]. Journal of Traumatic Stress.

- Zhang, D. & Sterrett-Hong, E. (In preparation). Identification of Appropriate Screening Items for Depressive Symptoms in Chinese Children [儿童抑郁症量表 发展-项目反应理论的应用]. European Journal of Psychological Assessment.
- Zhang, D. & Sterrett-Hong, E. (In preparation). An Exploratory Study of Positive Parenting and Parent Involvement in Primary School Children's Education in China [关于小学生父母积极教养和教育参与的探索性研究]. Journal of Child and Family Studies.
- Zhang, D. & Sterrett-Hong, E. (In preparation). Mediating the Relationship Between Child-Father Relationship and Father Involvement: Effects of Mother Involvement and Family Relations [亲子关系与父亲参与的中介作用-母亲参与 与家庭关系的影响]. Family Process.
- Zhang, D. Sterrett-Hong, & Wu, Q. (To be submitted). Social Worker Perspective: Exploring the Indigenous Social Work Practice in the Chinese Context [社会工作 者视角-探索中国情境下本土化社会工作实践]. Asia Pacific Journal of Social Work and Development.

## **GRANTS**

- **Co-Investigator**: A Study of Promoting Recovery and Resilience in Traumatized Children and Social Work Interventions [遭受创伤困境儿童复原力的社会工作 干预研究], funded (200,000RMB) by The National Social Science Fund of China, with Dr. Zhangshen Ai (professor).
- Co-Principal Investigator: Children with Incarcerated Parents: Challenges and Resilience [佛山市南海区服刑/刑事人员子女:挑战与抗逆力], funded (30,000RMB) by Foshan Committee of the Communist Youth League of China, Guangdong, China, with Dr. Zhangshen Ai (professor) (Nov. 2019 – Apr. 2020).
- Co-Principal Investigator: Assessment of Community Problems and Needs: A Mixed Methods [广州市番禺区桥南街社区/居民需求调研], funded (30,000RMB) by Qiaonan Sub-District Administrative Office, Panyu District, Guangdong, China, with Dr. Zhangshen Ai (professor) (Apr. 2019 Sep. 2019).
- **Co-Principal Investigator**: A Study of Community Needs To be Perceived from Residents and Third Sector [创建社区共建共治共享格局番禺区社区需求调 查], funded (15,000RMB) by Civil Affairs Bureau, Panyu District Government, Guangdong, China, with Dr. Zhangshen Ai (professor) (Oct. 2018 – Dec. 2018).
- **Co-Investigator**: A Study on Chinese Parents' Involvement with their Child's Using Social Media [青少年使用社交媒体 与亲职教育研究], Funded (8,000RMB) by Guangdong Committee of the Communist Youth League of China and

Guangdong Federation of Social Sciences, China (Aug. 2013 – Aug. 2014).

- **Co-investigator** (April 2008 April 2009): Intervention Research on Social Group Work Approach Applied to University Freshmen [团体工作介入大学新生班级 凝聚力的研究], funded (500RMB) by Capital Normal University, China.
- **Principal Investigator** (April 2007 April 2008): A study on Immigrant Children Lacking Parental Involvement in Beijing [北京市打工子弟学校学生失管问题研 究与社会工作的介入], funded (500RMB) by Capital Normal University, China.

## **ACADEMIC CONFERENCE PRESENTATIONS**

- Zhang, D., Tian B., & Sun, F. (accepted). The Psychological Impact of Social Connectedness and Difficulties that Global Populations Encounter in the COVID-19 Pandemic – Testing a Moderated Mediation Model. *The 25th Annual Conference Society for the Social Work and Research* (proposal #4492).
- Zhang, D., & Sterrett-Hong, E. (Oral talk). An Exploratory Study of Positive Parenting and Parent Involvement in Children's Education in China. *The 24th Annual Conference Society for the Social Work and Research*, Washington, DC, January 17, 2020 (proposal #38817).
- Sterrett-Hong, E., & Zhang, D. (E-poster). Fathers' Reasons for Having Children, Developmentally Attuned Cognitive Stimulation, and Young Children's Psychosocial Functioning in Mainland China. *The 24th Annual Conference Society for the Social Work and Research*, Washington, DC, January 18, 2020 (proposal #38766).
- Zhang, D., Sterrett-Hong, E., & Qiuping Wu (Oral talk). Exploring the Indigenous Social Work Practice in the Chinese Context. *Council on Social Work Education* 2019 Annual Program Meeting, Denver, CO, October 27, 2019 (proposal # 40990).
- Zhang, D. (Oral talk). Measuring the Positive Parenting Scale Using Item Response Theory. Graduate Student Regional Research Conference at the University of Louisville, KY, U.S., February 28, 2019.
- Zhang, D. & Hao, Q (Oral Talk). Child Education and Family Social Services in China [中国子女教育与家庭服务]. *Ministry of Education Chunhui Cup Innovation and Entrepreneurship Conference, Guangzhou*, Guangdong, China, December 28, 2017.

### **ACADEMIC EXPERIENCE**

- **Research Assistant** (Sep 2018 Aug. 2020): Positive Non-Parental Adults and Mentors and Their Role in Reducing Youth Health Disparities Program, University of Louisville, supervised by Dr. Emma Sterrett-Hong, Associate Professor.
- **Research** Assistant (Oct 2015 Aug. 2020): Research on Promoting Recovery and Resilience of Traumatized Children and Youth (IRB no: 13.0326), University of Louisville, supervised by Dr. Bibhuti Sar, Professor.

Principal Investigator (Aug. 2016 – 2019): A Quantitative Study of Chinese

Immigrant Parents' Involvement in Their Child's Education: Predictors of Parental Stress, Acculturation, Self-Efficacy, and Social Support (IRB no: 16.0744), University of Louisville, supervised by Dr. Adrian Archuleta, Assistant Professor.

**Co-investigator** (June. 2015 – May 2017): A Mixed Study on Chinese Fathers' Involvement with Their Children, collaborating with Dr. Qiuli Hao, Assistant Professor, University of Cincinnati, U.S.

### **INVITED LECTURES/TRAINING**

- **Zhang, D.** (April 25, 2020). Trainer: "Complex Case Analysis and Case Management." Capital Normal University and Chaoyue Social Work Research and Services Center, Beijing.
- Zhang, D. (Sep 2019 Current). Trainer: "Family Therapy: Concepts and Interventions [家庭治疗: 概念与干预]." Yangcheng Social Work Service Center, Guangzhou, Guangdong, China.
- Zhang, D. (Aug 2019). "Managed Care and Case Management [照顾服务与个案管理]." Qiannan Sub-District Family-Integrated Service Center; Wenchong Sub-District Family-Integrated Service Center, Guangzhou, Guangdong, China.
- Zhang, D. (Mar. 2015). "Teamwork Skills for Female Village Officers [女村官的团 队管理]." Women Forum at Zhanjiang Women's Union, Zhanjiang, Guangdong, China.
- Zhang, D. (2014, Oct.- 2015, Jan.) "Parenting Support and Education Group [父母教 养支持与教育小组]." Presented at Wenchong Street Integrated-family Service Center, Guangzhou, Guangdong, China.

### **CERTIFICATES & PROFESSIONAL TRAINING**

- **2020 New Writer Training.** Family Process Institute, U.S. (Sep. 24 20 Sep. 25, 2020)
- 2020 Summer Class <u>Social Governance and Social Work</u>, Fudan University, China & Washington University in St. Louis, U.S. (July 20 July 31, 2020)
- Approved Certification in <u>Technology Assisted Services with Six Hours of Ethics</u> (Mar. 27 - 28, 2020)
- **CFT Program <u>Cultural Competence Trainings</u>** (once per semester from 2018 Fall to 2020 Spring)
  - Topic 1: Peer Consultation Group: Working with Transgender Clients
  - Topic 2: Working with Families in Low-Income, Urban Communities
  - Topic 3: Working with Chinese Families
  - Topic 4: Working with Latinx Families
  - Topic 5: Working with Rural and Military Families
- 11 Hours NBCC Approved Certification in <u>Trauma-Focused Cognitive</u> <u>Behavioral Therapy</u> (May 2, 2019)

- Dr. Becky Antle: The <u>Prevention and Relationship Enhancement Program</u> (PREP) Training, University of Louisville, KY (Mar. 23, 2019, six hours)
- Dr. Lesley Harris: The Job Talk Preparing, applying, and interviewing for Faculty Position, University of Louisville, KY (Nov. 16, 2018; Jan 10, 2020)
- **PLAN Workshop: Power Literature Search**, University of Louisville, KY (Oct. 29, 2018)
- Dr. Karen Kayser: Reviewing Manuscripts for Journals A Workshop for PhD Students in Social Work, University of Louisville, KY (Sep. 7, 2017)
- Dr. Tracy A. Revenson: **Reviewing Manuscripts for Journals A Workshop for Graduate Students and Early Career Professionals**, University of Louisville, KY (March 11, 2016)
- Doctorate Foundation Course, University of Louisville, KY (June July 2015).
- HIPAA Training Course for Researchers, Louisville, KY (Sep. Oct. 2015).
- Guangzhou Association of Social Work: Social Work Agency Management Leadership Course in Guangzhou, China (May-June 2013).
- Lingnan Normal University: **Teaching Training**, in Zhanjiang, China (July Aug. 2011).
- Capital Normal University: International Symposium on Community-based Correction Work and Forensic Social Work, in Beijing, China (Oct. 15-17, 2010).
- Dongguang Association of Social Work: Service Skills Course for Novice Social Workers in Dongguan, China (May 2010).
- **Social Work Students Seminar on Net-Addiction,** in Hong Kong, China (July 2008).
- Using Music Therapy in Social Work Practice, Beijing, China (Oct.-Nov. 2007).
- **The 2nd Forum on Life Education of Chinese Teenagers**, Beijing, China (Dec. 2006).
- **2006 International Forum on Community-based Correction Social Work Research**, in Beijing, China (Oct. 29-31, 2006).

### PROFESSIONAL CREDENTIALS

Licensed National Social Worker [中级社工师], China (Sep. 2012)

Licensed Lecturer in Higher Education Institution [高校教师资格证], China (July 2012)

### **MEMBERSHIPS and AFFILIATIONS**

- 2019-present (AAMFT) Member, American Association for Marriage and Family Therapy
- 2019-present Member, Council on Social Work Education (CSWE)

### **SKILLS**

**Applied Statistical Models**: Non-parameter analysis, AN(C)OVO, Regression analysis, Generalized linear regression, Linear mixed models (Multilevel Analysis), Structural equation modeling, Cluster analysis, Exploratory and confirmatory factor analysis, item response theory and Item differential functioning, Power analysis and effect Size.

Qualitative Approaches: Grounded theory and Case study.

Data Analysis Tools: SPSS, AMOS, SAS, and R language, RQDA, and DeDoose.

#### HONORS & AWARDS

- **Banner Bearer for December Commencement,** University of Louisville, KY, USA (2020)
- Graduate Dean's Citation Award, University of Louisville, KY, USA (2020)

New Writers Fellowship, The Family Process Institute, USA (2020.2)

- **Graduate Research Assistantship**, University of Louisville, KY, USA (2015 July-2020 June)
- **2020 SSWR Doctoral Student Travel Award (\$500)**, Society for Social Work and Research
- **2019 Graduate Travel Award (\$350)**, University of Louisville Graduate Student Council
- **2019 Graduate Travel Award (\$450)**, Kent School of Social Work, University of Louisville
- Kent MSSW Scholarship (\$4,187.12), Kent School of Social Work, University of Louisville (2019 Fall 2020 Spring)
- **Couple Family Therapy Program Summer Semester Scholarship (\$1,000)**, Kent School of Social Work, University of Louisville (2019 Summer)
- Maude Ainslie Scholarship (\$4,020.48), Kent School of Social Work, University of Louisville (2018 Fall 2019 Spring)
- **Couple Family Therapy Program Summer Semester Scholarship (\$1,000)**, Kent School of Social Work, University of Louisville (2018 Summer)
- 2016 Graduate Travel Award (\$200), University of Louisville Graduate Student Council
- 2016 Graduate Travel Award (\$500), Kent School of Social Work, University of Louisville
- **The 3<sup>rd</sup>-class teaching award**, Zhanjiang Normal University, Zhanjiang, China (2010)
- **Outstanding social worker**, Dongguan Association of Social Workers, Dongguan, China (2010)

- **Outstanding undergraduate student**, Capital Normal University, Beijing, China (2009)
- First-class University Scholarship, Capital Normal University, Beijing, China (2009)
- National Scholarship, Ministry of Education, Beijing, China (2008)
- Second-class University Scholarship, Capital Normal University, Beijing, China (2007)
- Second-class University Scholarship, Capital Normal University, Beijing, China (2006)

### **VOLUNTEER ACTIVITIES**

**Counselor volunteer** at Ministry of Education Central China Normal University Psychological Assistance Hotline Services (4/2020 – 8/2020)

Volunteer at CSWE 65th APM Conference in Denver, U.S., (10/25/2019)

Volunteer at 2019 KY MFT All in One Conference in Louisville, U.S., (10/17/2019 – 10/18/2019)

**Volunteer,** Walnut Street Church Chinese Fellowship, Louisville, U.S. (Sep. 2016present)

• Teaching the Chinese language to kids and youth.

Volunteer at SSWR 20th Annual Conference in Washing D.C., U.S. (1/2016)

- **Volunteer** in "Gender Day" Event at The Chinese University of Hong Kong, China (1/2010-3/2010)
  - Performed interviews with gender activists to learn their stories.

#### PROFESSIONAL REFERENCES

#### Dr. Bibhuti Sar, PhD, MSW

Professor and Director of PhD Program of Social Work, Kent School of Social work, University of Louisville Relationship: Mentor Tel.: (502) 852-3932 Email: b.k.sar@louisville.edu Address: Patterson Hall 110, S 3rd st. Louisville, KY 40208

#### Dr. Emma Sterrett-Hong, PhD, LMFT

Associate Professor and Director of Couple and Family Therapy Program, Kent School of Social Work, University of Louisville Relationship: Mentor and Supervisor Tel.: (502) 852-0388 Email: emma.sterrett@louisville.edu Address: Burhans Hall 134, 310 Whittington Pkwy, Louisville, KY 40222

## Dr. Sunshine Rote, PhD

Associate Professor Kent School of Social Work, University of Louisville Relationship: Teaching Mentor Tel.: (502) 852-2309 Email: smrote01@louisville.edu Address: Oppenheimer Hall 208, 2217 S 3rd street, Louisville, KY 40208